

Microalgae and Bacteria Interaction

Dissertation

Universität Hamburg

Yekaterina Astafyeva

Hamburg 2023

Microalgae and Bacteria Interaction

Dissertation

To achieve the degree of Doctor rerum naturalium (Dr. rer. nat.)

at the Department of Microbiology and Biotechnology Subdivision at the Faculty of Mathematics, Informatics and Natural Science of the Universität Hamburg

> Submitted to the Universität Hamburg by Yekaterina Astafyeva

> > Hamburg 2023

The following evaluators recommend the admission of the dissertation:

Prof. Dr. Wolfgang R. Streit Prof. Dr. Dieter Hanelt

Day of oral defence:

Eidesstattliche Versicherung - Declaration on oath

Hiermit erkläre ich an Eides statt, dass ich die vorliegende Dissertationsschrift selbst verfasst und keine anderen als die angegebenen Quellen und Hilfsmittel benutzt habe.

Declaration on oath

On oath, I declare that I have written the present dissertation on my own and have not used any other than the acknowledged sources and aids.

Hamburg, 13.07.2023

Yekaterina Astafyeva

"Je n'ai fait celle-ci plus longue que parce que je n'ai pas eu le loisir de la faire plus courte." Les provinciales (1656), XVI de Blaise Pascal

"I have only made this letter longer because I have not had the time to make it shorter." The Provincial Letters (1657), Letter 16, Blaise Pascal

Contribution to the quoted articles

Astafyeva, Y., Alawi, M., Indenbirken, D., Danso, D., Grundhoff, A., Hanelt, D., Streit, W. R., and Krohn I. (2020). Draft genome sequence of the green alga *Scenedesmus acuminatus* SAG 38.81. Microbiology Resource Announcements, <u>https://doi.org/10.1128/MRA.01278-19</u>

- planning and performance of the microalga cultivation

- cultivation of the Scenedesmus acuminatus SAG 38.81 and extraction of the total genomic DNA
- reporting the draft whole-genome sequence of Scenedesmus acuminatus SAG 38.81
- contribution to the writing of the research article

Astafyeva, Y., Gurschke, M., Qi, M., Bergmann, L., Indenbirken, D., de Grahl, I., Katzowitsch, E., Reumann, S., Hanelt, D., Alawi, M., Streit, W. R., and Krohn, I. (2022). Microalgae and Bacteria Interaction—Evidence for Division of Diligence in the Alga Microbiota. Microbiology Spectrum, <u>https://doi.org/10.1128/spectrum.00633-22</u>

- planning, performance, and evaluation of the microalga-bacteria co-culturing

- investigation of the microbiota of *Scenedesmus quadricauda* MZCH 10104 and providing evidence of dominant species affiliated with the genera of *Variovorax*, *Porphyrobacter*, and *Dyadobacter*

– establishment of an artificial plant-bacteria system of the microalga *S. quadricauda* MZCH
10104 and the bacterial isolate *Dyadobacter* sp. HH091

- bacterial DNA and RNA extraction

- Dyadobacter sp. HH091 transformation with modified plasmid pBBR1MCS-5-eGFP

 physiological analyses, including microscopy investigations, pulse-amplitude-modulation (PAM) fluorometry, and fluorescence-activated cell sorting (FACS)

- contribution to bioinformatic evaluation and illustration of the transcriptome data

- contribution to experimental design and lab work of phylogenetic, metatranscriptomic, genomic,

bioinformatic, and physiological analytical approaches

- contribution to the writing of the research article

Hamburg, 11.7.2023

N. Shin 2

Duto Sanet

Prof. Dr. Wolfgang R. Streit (Supervisor)

Prof. Dr. Dieter Hanelt (Supervisor)

Astafyeva, Y., Gurschke, M., Streit, W. R., and Krohn, I. Interplay between the microalgae *Micrasterias radians* and its symbiont *Dyadobacter* sp. HH091. Frontiers in Microbiology, <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2022.1006609</u>

- planning, performance, and evaluation of experimental work

examination of the bacterial colonisation and penetration into the cell wall of the algal host *M.* radians MZCH 672

establishment of an artificial plant-bacteria system of the microalga *Micrasterias radians* MZCH
672 and the bacterial isolate *Dyadobacter* sp. HH091

 characterisation of the type IX secretion system (T9SS) mechanism implementing the attachment and invasion of microalga by the isolate HH091 and proposing the first model of the T9SS apparatus of *Dyadobacter* sp. HH091

- studying the isolate HH091 and its interaction with the microalga *M. radians* using transcriptome and extensive genome analyses

 prediction of polysaccharide utilising gene clusters of *Dyadobacter* sp. HH091 co-working with the T9SS conceivably involved in the algae-bacteria liaison

- contribution to bioinformatic evaluation and illustration of the transcriptome data

- contribution to experimental design and lab work of phylogenetic, metatranscriptome, genomic,

bioinformatic, and physiological analytical approaches

- contribution to the writing of the research article

Krohn, I., Menanteau-Ledouble, S., Hageskal, G., **Astafyeva, Y.**, Jouannais, P., Nielsen, J. L., Pizzol, M., Wentzel, A., and Streit, W. R. (2022). Health benefits of microalgae and their microbiomes. Microbial Biotechnology, <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/1751-7915.14082</u>

- contribution to the evaluation and illustration of the bioinformatic data

- co-writing and proof-reading of the manuscript

Hamburg, 11.7.2023

D. Shin 2

Prof. Dr. Wolfgang R. Streit (Supervisor)

Duto Sanet

Prof. Dr. Dieter Hanelt (Supervisor)

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Table of contents	1
Abstract	2
Zusammenfassung	5
1 Introduction	8
1.1 Microalgae-bacteria interactions: multifaceted synergistic relations	8
1.2 Mutualism and commensalism as a primary survival concepts in	9
phycosphere	
1.3 Exploring the potential of microalgae and the associated microbiota	10
1.4 Aim of this study	12
2 Microalgae and bacteria interaction – evidence for the division of diligence in	13
the alga microbiota	
3 Interplay between the microalga Micrasterias radians and its symbiont	29
<i>Dyadobacter</i> sp. HH091	
4 Health benefits of microalgae and their microbiomes	42
5 Discussion	61
5.1 Deep RNA sequencing identified novel clues of microalgae and bacteria	61
interactions	
5.2 Extensive investigation of the interplay between the microalga Micrasterias	63
radians and its symbiont Dyadobacter sp. HH091	
5.2.1 Flexirubin biosynthesis conceivably involved in microalgae-bacteria liaison	63
5.2.2 T9SS tangled in the symbiotic interactions of <i>Dyadobacter</i> with microalgae	64
5.2.3 Polysaccharide utilisation is a crucial aspect of microalgae-bacteria	65
interaction	
5.3 Potential benefits of microalgae and affiliated microbiomes	66
6 Conclusion	68
7 Other publications	70
8 References	71
9 Appendix	80
9.1 Microalgae and bacteria interaction – evidence for the division of diligence in	80
the alga microbiota	
9.2 Interplay between the microalga Micrasterias radians and its symbiont	108
<i>Dyadobacter</i> sp. HH091	
10 Acknowledgements	115

ABSTRACT

Microalgae are among Earth's most prevalent life forms and are tightly associated with distinct and specialised microbiota. It is widely acknowledged that bacteria-algal interactions can enhance algal biomass production and enrich it with valuable compounds like lipids, carbohydrates, and pigments. However, a complete understanding of the complex interrelationships among various kingdoms and the distinct function of each organism remains elusive.

The following research topics were covered during this study:

My study started with investigating the mutualistic collaboration of microalgae and (i) bacteria, where my goal was to reveal the individual role of the members of the multispecies consortia. It was found that the algal microbiota, harbouring less than ten distinct microbial species, includes dominant species affiliated with Variovorax, Porphyrobacter, and Dyadobacter genera. The study provided strong evidence that Dyadobacter produces and releases polysaccharides degradation enzymes and leucine-rich repeat proteins; Variovorax supplies the consortium with auxins and vitamin B₁₂, while *Porphyrobacter* produces a broad spectrum of B vitamins. Studies have conclusively shown that microalgae and bacteria function synergistically, with bacteria employing quorum sensing and secretion system mechanisms for communication between themselves. The shared currency between partners appeared to be vitamins, microalgae growth-promoting substances, and dissolved carbon. Experimental and transcriptome-based evidence implied that Dyadobacter is a key to alga growth and fitness within this multispecies interaction and is highly adapted to the phycosphere. Through studying the synthetic plant-bacteria system, it was unveiled that the growth of the microalga Scenedesmus guadricauda was greatly stimulated by one of the bacterial isolates. This isolate was originally taken from the non-axenic algal culture of S. quadricauda and was identified as Dyadobacter sp. HH091. Further investigations were conducted using physiological methods after adding Dyadobacter sp. to axenic algal cultures. To perform the required investigations, I examined the samples using a microscope, measured the photosynthetic activity, and employed flow cytometry. The photosynthetic activity measurements by pulse-amplitude-modulation fluorometry demonstrated that the coculturing of S. quadricauda with HH091 resulted in a 1.5-fold increase of the optimal quantum yield of photosystem II compared to control antibiotic-treated microalgae. Additional microscopic and fluorescence-activated cell sorting analyses verified that the number of viable and photosynthetic active cells in the presence of HH091 was much higher than in antibiotic-treated cultures.

2

- (ii) Based on former observations, I established an artificial plant-bacteria system of the microalga Micrasterias radians MZCH 672 and the bacterial isolate Dyadobacter sp. HH091. I aimed to investigate microalgae cultivation and its symbiont utilising diverse physiological and omics-based techniques. The simultaneous identification and localisation of the isolate HH091 associated with the host microalga, either attached or intracellular, was performed using the combination of fluorescence labelling with confocal microscopy. The bacterial isolate has been found to colonise and penetrate the cell wall of *M. radians* MZCH 672. The isolate HH091, from the Bacteroidota phylum, significantly boosted microalgae growth in axenic algal cultures. For further advances, I studied the isolate and its interaction with the microalga *M. radians* using transcriptome and extensive genome analyses. Through the genome analysis of HH091, I identified gene clusters predicted to utilise polysaccharides and work alongside the type IX secretion system (T9SS) influencing investigated algae-bacteria liaison. These studies have gained a better understanding of how Dyadobacter sp. HH091 utilises the T9SS mechanism to attach to and invade microalgae. Omics analysis exposed T9SS genes: gldK, gldL, gldM, gldN, sprA, sprE, sprF, sprT, porU and porV. In addition, I identified genes that are crucial for gliding motility and protein secretion (gldA, gldB, gldD, gldF, gldG, gldH, gldI, gldJ), despite not being conventionally categorised as T9SS components. Based on this extensive research, I proposed the first model for the T9SS apparatus in Dyadobacter.
- (iii) To summarise, I provided a brief overview of microalgae microbiota and its use. I aimed to share the current knowledge of the health benefits of microalgae and the associated microbiota. In this chapter, I will discuss the current limitations hindering the full exploitation and development of technologies. To fully unlock the potential of microalgae and its microbiota, a more systematic approach can be created by addressing current limitations. While microalgae are well explored for the generation of biofuels, their potential as a source of antimicrobial and prebiotic substances has recently received increasing interest. Within this framework, microalgae may offer solutions to the societal challenge concerning the lack of antibiotics treating the growing level of antimicrobial-resistant bacteria and fungi in clinical settings. Furthermore, considering that most microalgae and associated microbiota remain unstudied, they may be a fascinating and rewarding source for novel, more sustainable antimicrobials, alternative molecules, and compounds. Finally, I contributed to describing the remaining issues and limitations and several promising research potentials to understand perspectives and future tasks for microalgae-bacteria research.

In summary, this data provided a valuable contribution to our understanding of how algae and bacteria interact. I thoroughly examined the mutually beneficial relationship between bacteria and algae, which also involves competition within the algal microbiome. This doctoral research used experimental and transcriptome-based evidence to examine how symbiotic bacteria interact with microalgae and enable their dominance.

ZUSAMMENFASSUNG

Mikroalgen gehören zu den am weitesten verbreiteten Lebensformen auf der Erde und sind eng mit unterschiedlichen und spezialisierten Mikrobiota verbunden. Es ist allgemein anerkannt, dass Wechselwirkungen zwischen Bakterien und Algen die Produktion von Algenbiomasse steigern und diese mit wertvollen Verbindungen wie Lipiden, Kohlenhydraten und Pigmenten anreichern können. Ein vollständiges Verständnis der komplexen Wechselbeziehungen zwischen verschiedenen Königreichen und der unterschiedlichen Funktion jedes einzelnen Organismus bleibt jedoch schwer zu erreichen.

Die folgenden Forschungsthemen wurden im Rahmen dieser Studie behandelt:

(i) Meine Studie begann mit der Untersuchung der gegenseitigen Zusammenarbeit von Mikroalgen und Bakterien, wobei mein Ziel darin bestand, die individuelle Rolle der Mitglieder der Multispezies-Konsortien aufzudecken. Es wurde festgestellt, dass die Algenmikrobiota, die weniger als zehn verschiedene Mikroorganismenarten beherbergt, dominante Arten umfasst, die mit den Gattungen Variovorax, Porphyrobacter und Dyadobacter verbunden sind. Die Studie lieferte starke Beweise dafür, dass Dyadobacter Enzyme zum Abbau von Polysacchariden und Leucin-reiche Wiederholungsproteine produziert und freisetzt; Variovorax versorgt das Konsortium mit Auxinen und Vitamin B₁₂, während Porphyrobacter ein breites Spektrum an B-Vitaminen produziert. Studien haben schlüssig gezeigt, dass Mikroalgen und Bakterien synergistisch funktionieren, wobei Bakterien Quorum-Sensing- und Sekretionssystemmechanismen für die Kommunikation untereinander nutzen. Die gemeinsame Währung zwischen den Partnern schien Vitamine, das Wachstum von Mikroalgen fördernde Substanzen und gelöster Kohlenstoff zu sein. Experimentelle und transkriptombasierte Daten deuten darauf hin, dass Dyadobacter ein Schlüssel zum Algenwachstum und zur Algenfitness innerhalb dieser Multispezies-Interaktion ist und sich in hohem Maße an die Phykosphäre angepasst hat. Durch die Untersuchung des synthetischen Pflanzen-Bakterien-Systems wurde festgestellt, dass das Wachstum der Mikroalge Scenedesmus quadricauda durch eines der Bakterienisolate stark stimuliert wurde. Dieses Isolat stammte ursprünglich aus der nicht-axenischen Algenkultur von S. quadricauda und wurde als Dyadobacter sp. HH091 identifiziert. Weitere Untersuchungen wurden mit physiologischen Methoden nach Zugabe von Dyadobacter sp. HH091 zu axenischen Algenkulturen durchgeführt. Um die erforderlichen Untersuchungen durchzuführen, habe ich die Proben mit einem Mikroskop untersucht. die photosynthetische Aktivität gemessen und Durchflusszytometrie eingesetzt. Die Messungen der photosynthetischen Aktivität mittels Pulsamplitudenmodulations-Fluorometrie zeigten, dass die Co-Kultivierung von *S. quadricauda* mit HH091 zu einer 1,5-fachen Steigerung der optimalen Quantenausbeute von Photosystem II im Vergleich zu mit Antibiotika behandelten Kontroll-Mikroalgen führte. Zusätzliche mikroskopische und fluoreszenzaktivierte Zellsortierungsanalysen bestätigten, dass die Anzahl lebensfähiger und photosynthetisch aktiver Zellen in Gegenwart von HH091 viel höher war als in mit Antibiotika behandelten Kulturen.

- (ii) Basierend auf früheren Beobachtungen habe ich ein künstliches Pflanzen-Bakterien-System aus der Mikroalge Micrasterias radians MZCH 672 und dem Bakterienisolat Dyadobacter sp. HH091 etabliert. Mein Ziel war es, die Mikroalgenkultivierung und ihre Symbionten mithilfe verschiedener physiologischer und Omics-basierter Techniken zu untersuchen. Die gleichzeitige Identifizierung und Lokalisierung des mit der Wirtsmikroalge assoziierten Isolats HH091, entweder angehängt oder intrazellulär, wurde mithilfe der Kombination von Fluoreszenzmarkierung und konfokaler Mikroskopie durchgeführt. Es wurde festgestellt, dass das Bakterienisolat die Zellwand von *M. radians* MZCH 672 besiedelt und durchdringt. Das Isolat HH091 aus dem Bacteroidota-Stamm steigerte das Mikroalgenwachstum in axenischen Algenkulturen erheblich. Für weitere Fortschritte habe ich das Isolat und seine Wechselwirkung mit der Mikroalge M. radians mithilfe von Transkriptom- und umfangreichen Genomanalysen untersucht. Durch die Genomanalyse von HH091 habe ich Gencluster identifiziert, von denen vorhergesagt wird, dass sie Polysaccharide neben dem Typ-IX-Sekretionssystem (T9SS) nutzen und zusammenarbeiten, um die untersuchte Algen-Bakterien-Verbindung zu beeinflussen. Diese Studien haben zu einem besseren Verständnis darüber geführt, wie Dyadobacter sp. HH091 den T9SS-Mechanismus nutzt, um sich an Mikroalgen anzuheften und in diese einzudringen. Durch die Omics-Analyse wurden T9SS-Gene freigelegt: gldK, gldL, gldM, gldN, sprA, sprE, sprF, sprT, porU und porV. Darüber hinaus habe ich Gene identifiziert, die für die Gleitmotilität und Proteinsekretion entscheidend sind (gldA, gldB, gldD, gldF, gldG, gldH, gldI, gldJ), obwohl sie herkömmlicherweise nicht als T9SS-Komponenten kategorisiert werden. Basierend auf dieser umfangreichen Forschung habe ich das erste Modell für den T9SS-Apparat in Dyadobacter vorgeschlagen.
- (iii) Zusammenfassend habe ich einen kurzen Überblick über die Mikroalgen-Mikrobiota und ihre Verwendung gegeben. Mein Ziel war es, das aktuelle Wissen über die gesundheitlichen Vorteile von Mikroalgen und der damit verbundenen Mikrobiota zu

teilen. In diesem Kapitel werde ich die aktuellen Einschränkungen diskutieren, die die vollständige Nutzung und Entwicklung von Technologien behindern. Um das Potenzial von Mikroalgen und ihrer Mikrobiota voll auszuschöpfen, kann ein systematischerer Ansatz geschaffen werden, indem aktuelle Einschränkungen angegangen werden. Während Mikroalgen für die Herstellung von Biokraftstoffen gut erforscht sind, stößt ihr Potenzial als Quelle antimikrobieller und präbiotischer Substanzen in letzter Zeit zunehmend auf Interesse. In diesem Rahmen können Mikroalgen Lösungen für die gesellschaftliche Herausforderung bieten, die sich aus dem Mangel an Antibiotika zur Behandlung der wachsenden Zahl antimikrobiell resistenter Bakterien und Pilze im klinischen Umfeld ergibt. Wenn man außerdem bedenkt, dass die meisten Mikroalgen und die damit verbundene Mikrobiota noch unerforscht sind, könnten sie eine faszinierende und lohnende Quelle für neuartige, nachhaltigere antimikrobielle Mittel, alternative Moleküle und Verbindungen sein. Abschließend habe ich dazu beigetragen, die verbleibenden Probleme und Einschränkungen sowie mehrere vielversprechende Forschungspotenziale zu beschreiben, um Perspektiven und zukünftige Aufgaben für die Mikroalgen-Bakterien-Forschung zu verstehen.

Zusammenfassend stellten diese Daten einen wertvollen Beitrag zu unserem Verständnis der Interaktion von Algen und Bakterien dar. Ich habe die für beide Seiten vorteilhafte Beziehung zwischen Bakterien und Algen eingehend untersucht, was auch die Konkurrenz innerhalb des Algenmikrobioms mit sich bringt. Diese Doktorarbeit nutzte experimentelle und transkriptombasierte Erkenntnisse, um zu untersuchen, wie symbiotische Bakterien mit Mikroalgen interagieren und deren Dominanz ermöglichen.

1 INTRODUCTION

1.1 Microalgae-bacteria interactions: multifaceted synergistic relations

Close associations of microalgae and bacteria have resulted in a complex network of these crosskingdom interactions and a potential specialisation of various organisms. Phylogenetically microalgae belong to a highly heterogeneous group of eukaryotic and prokaryotic microorganisms that are unicellular photosynthetic organisms growing in marine and aquatic environments (1, 2). Microalgal cells are surrounded by a phycosphere, a region rich in organic material released by the algae creating the critical interface in which algae and other organisms tightly interact (3). Thus, algae and bacteria synergistically affect each other's physiology and metabolism, impacting the ecosystems and representing all modes of interactions between various organisms, ranging from mutualism to parasitism (4, 5).

Orchestrated nutrient exchange, mutual support of growth factors, and quorum sensing mediation define a broad spectrum of associations at highly complex assemblages of unicellular microalgae and associated bacteria (3). The positive effects of algae-bacteria interaction on algal growth and flocculation processes have changed the scenario of considering bacteria as mere contamination of algae cultures (6). Several studies have verified that the microbiome of microalgae consists mainly of species of the phyla Bacteroidota, Flavobacteria, α -Proteobacteriota, β -Proteobacteriota, and λ -Proteobacteriota (2, 7). Many non-culturable organisms can also be detected, but the overall abundance of microorganisms is often limited to approximately 30 species (2, 8). It is still unclear whether all these bacteria are essential for the algal health and survival of the community. During the screening, it was found that there are some invasive or pathogenic species with limited potential, but they seem to coexist harmoniously within the community. This can be explained by a selection pressure favouring the microalgae-bacteria consortia (9, 10).

However, for applications in aquaculture, the potential of the interactions between microalgae and microorganisms may improve algal biomass production and enrich the biomass with compounds of biotechnological interest, such as lipids, carbohydrates, and pigments. Consequently, the growth and photosynthetic activity of bacteria profit from the interaction with microalgae, especially by adhesion, clumping factor, motility, chemotaxis, secretion systems, quorum sensing, and quorum quenching systems and synthesis of growth promoters (5, 11–13). Intra- and interspecies communication among microbes occurs via a complex set of signal molecules secreted during beneficial and harmful interactions that coordinate and control the behaviour of microorganisms in mixed communities. Other microbial communication causing up- or down-regulation of gene expression, and alter the activity and physiology of the recipient (8, 14, 15). Bacterial communication regulates virulence-associated factors, propagation, population density,

8

change in metabolic rate, and various bacterial functions, including biofilm formation, motility, adhesion, and coordination between microbial communities (16).

1.2 Mutualism and commensalism as a primary survival concept in phycosphere

One of the goals of this study was a detailed insight into the mutualistic collaboration of microalgae and bacteria, including the involvement of competitive interplay between bacteria. Since there is currently limited knowledge about the individual members of the multispecies consortia, I set out to determine the role of one of the bacterial isolates from the non-axenic algal culture, *Dyadobacter* sp. HH091, in the interplay with the other dominant bacterial species and the alga. To achieve this goal, I made the previously isolated bacterium genetically accessible and investigated its effects using physiological and omics-based techniques. After conducting this study, I investigated the interplay between the isolated symbiont *Dyadobacter* sp. HH091 and the microalgae *Micrasterias radians*.

It is widely recognised that the interaction between algae and bacteria is highly beneficial, as they work together to influence ecosystems and exhibit a variety of modes of collaboration (4). The positive effect of bacteria on algal growth in biotechnology has changed the central concept of mere contamination of algal cultures, considering bacteria as an essential driver in this interaction (11, 17). Strong associations between microalgae and bacteria have evolved a complex network of these cross-kingdom interactions and narrow specialisation of different organisms (2, 3, 18, 19).

The potential of the microalgae-bacteria liaison is determined by its applicability in aquaculture, which aims to improve algal biomass production and enrich this biomass with compounds of biotechnological interest, such as lipids, carbohydrates, and pigments. In addition, bacteria may alter the algal microenvironment in ways that stimulate algal functions. The general bacterial attributes that may profit the interaction with microalgae and which might affect their growth and photosynthetic activity include adhesion, clumping factor, motility, chemotaxis, different secretion systems, quorum sensing and quorum quenching systems, and synthesis of growth promoters (11, 13, 19, 20).

Previous research on microalgae- and photobioreactors biofilm-associated bacteria indicated that most observed microorganisms were affiliated with α -Proteobacteriota, β -Proteobacteriota, and Bacteroidota (2, 7, 8, 21). Further investigations have characterised the biotic interaction of microalgae and bacteria using metagenomic, transcriptomic, and proteomic approaches. In this study, the microbiomes of microalgae have been sequenced, and various bacterial strains affiliated with the algae have been isolated to answer if the associated microbiota is specific for the microalgae and which role individual bacterial taxa play (18). It was observed that effector

molecules known from plant-microbe interactions as inducers for innate immunity are already relevant at this evolutionary early plant-microbiome level. Essential genes involved in plant-microbe interactions were mainly affiliated with different mechanisms, including vitamin biosynthesis, transport and secretion systems, signal transduction, carbohydrate, and lipid modification. The metatranscriptome analysis indicated that the transcriptionally most active bacteria, concerning crucial genes commonly involved in plant-microbe interactions, in the microbiome of the *Chlorella* (Trebouxiophyceae), *Scenedesmus* (Chlorophyceae) and *Micrasterias* (Zygnematophyceae) belong to the phylum of the α -Proteobacteriota and Bacteroidota (18).

The crucial vital features of overall plant-bacteria interaction covered different mechanisms with the involvement of transport and secretion systems (e.g., T6SS, T9SS), quorum quenching proteins, leucine-rich repeat proteins (LRR) and enzymes related to bacterial reactive oxygen species (ROS) tolerance, and the biosynthesis of vitamins (B₁, B₂, B₅, B₆, B₇, B₉ and B₁₂). Furthermore, the metatranscriptome analysis demonstrated that within the microbiota of *S. quadricauda,* the dominant species were affiliated with the *Variovorax, Porphyrobacter,* and *Dyadobacter* genera. Furthermore, experimental and transcriptome-based evidence implied that *Dyadobacter* was a key to alga growth and fitness within this multispecies interaction and is highly adapted to the phycosphere (19).

1.3 Exploring the potential of microalgae and the associated microbiota

Since microalgae are active photosynthetic organisms, which can be grown under various conditions, they are highly attractive for the biotechnological production of different chemical compounds. They are mainly well known for their use in producing advanced biofuels (e.g., dropin biofuels and fourth-generation biofuels) and, to some extent, for producing bioplastics (22–28). Recently, it has become clear that algae and their microbiota harbour a large and diverse set of genes to synthesise molecules that suppress bacterial pathogens (2, 18). For instance, sterols with anti-inflammatory capacity, like diacylglycerols, triacylglycerols, and phytosterols (29–31). In this respect, they have great potential to significantly contribute to critical societal needs linked to treating infections due to human, animal, and plant pathogenic microorganisms. Furthermore, the appearance of untreatable antibiotic-resistant microorganisms in clinical settings is a significant concern to human health (32, 33). Thus, there is a need to develop novel antimicrobials distinct in their mode of action from those already known and on the market.

Quorum sensing and quorum quenching play an essential role in the expression of virulence (34, 35). Quorum quenching and various quorum sensing interference mechanisms have been

outlined and discussed as possible strategies to prevent and treat microbial biofilm formation (34– 37).

Microalgae and their associated bacterial microbiota may be valuable tools to verify this concept further. Microalgae microbiomes offer both quorum quenching enzymes and a wide variety of quorum sensing molecules that have been shown to interfere with pathogens (38, 39). In this framework, the screening of 19 strains of microalgae reported that one microbial community of *Chlorella saccharophila* and one of *Chlorella vulgaris* both degraded N-acyl homoserine lactones (AHLs), resulting in the inhibition of violacein production in the reporter strain (40). When using *E. coli* (JB523)-strain sensitive to N-(3-oxohexanoyl)-L-homoserine lactone, the microbiome associated with *C. saccharophila* was found to significantly suppress bacterial quorum sensing and further inhibit AHL-regulated bioluminescence in the pathogen *Vibrio harveyi* (40). AHL degradation can occur indirectly, such as in cultures of *Tetraselmis suecica* and *Chaetoceros muelleri, associated* with AHL-degrading bacteria belonging to the genera *Bacillus* and *Pseudomonas* (41). These bacterial isolates were found to degrade AHL molecules, and *Bacillus* sp. was reported to suppress the quorum sensing system of *Vibrio campbelli* and thus protected the larvae of the giant river prawn (*Macrobrachium rosenbergii*) from infection, improving survival from 42 to 67% during an infection challenge.

Using the analysis of algae and microalga microbiomes available at IMG/MER <u>https://img.igi.doe.gov</u>, I identified numerous quorum quenching genes. The study of metagenomes of *Scenedesmus quadricauda*, *Chlorella saccharophila*, *Chlorella sorokiniana* and *Micrasterias crux-melitensis* revealed dienelactone hydrolases, imidazolonepropionases, 6-phosphogluconolactonases and metal-dependent hydrolases, associated with quorum quenching, known as potential candidates for overexpression experiments and biotechnological studies.

A further interesting fact is that many microalgae communities can produce polysaccharides, which are well known to exert a broad spectrum of biological activities, especially antiviral properties (42). In the framework of this research, these polysaccharides were found among numerous algal microbiomes, including *S. quadricauda* (IMG ID 3300005759), *C. saccharophila* (IMG ID 3300008885), *C. sorokiniana* (IMG ID 3300042370) and *M. crux-melitensis* (IMG ID 3300008886) (43).

It is widely known that microalgae contain several compounds with antioxidant properties. Based on that, I analysed data sets from IMG/MER and discovered genes that code for antioxidative superoxide dismutase, catalases, and rhodanese-related sulfurtransferases. Furthermore, studying algal genomes (*C. variabilis* NC64A and *C. subellipsoidea* C-169) demonstrated the presence of genes coding for the biosynthesis of known antioxidants, such as chlorophyll, carotenoid, lutein and astaxanthin. These genomes are available under the accession number IMG ID 2507525016. The awareness in the scientific community about the largely unexplored potential of microalgae has led to increased interest during the last decade, as evidenced by an exponential increase in the number of publications and patents about microalgae and health. However, compared to many microalgal species, our knowledge remains sparse. Therefore, further research requires a focused and more systematic approach to explore this promising resource better, emphasising human, animal, and plant health and well-being.

1.4 Aim of this study

Within this framework, I addressed the following questions in the current study. First, which role do secretion systems play in these remarkable interactions? Is direct cell-to-cell contact between the interaction partners required, and what influence does bacterial quorum sensing have? To answer these questions, I used fluorescence labelling of bacteria and 4'-6-diamidino-2-phenylindole (DAPI) staining with confocal microscopy to determine the physical association of microalga cells with the *Dyadobacter* isolate HH091.

Further, to get a deeper insight into this synthetic bacteria-microalgae model system, I characterised the interactions of the isolate *Dyadobacter* sp. HH091 with the microalga *M. radians* MZCH 672 using transcriptome and genome analyses (44). These data expand our understanding of species-species interactions and identify several genes involved in the molecular basis of bacteria-alga interactions that can serve as an established synthetic plant-bacteria system (19). Therefore, the genome and metabolic potential of the bacterium *Dyadobacter* sp. HH091 is of particular interest in understanding bacteria-algae interactions.

To summarise, I provided a comprehensive review of the current information regarding the health advantages of microalgae and their microbiota. My goal was to provide an understanding of the current knowledge on this topic. I also discussed the challenges that hinder the complete utilisation and advancement of related technologies (43).

In conclusion, the results of this research will serve as an efficient tool in further investigations of symbiotic microalgae-bacteria interactions. While microalgae are well explored for the generation of biofuels, their potential as a source of antimicrobial and prebiotic substances has also received increasing interest. In this context, microalgae may offer solutions to the societal challenge of the lack of antibiotics for treating bacteria and fungi resistant to antimicrobial drugs in clinical settings. The remarkable benefit of co-cultivation of microalgae and bacteria will have commercial and environmental positive impacts on microalgal cultivation.

2 MICROALGAE AND BACTERIA INTERACTION – EVIDENCE FOR THE DIVISION OF DILIGENCE IN THE ALGA MICROBIOTA

Yekaterina Astafyeva¹, Marno Gurschke¹, Minyue Qi², Lutgardis Bergmann¹, Daniela Indenbirken³, Imke de Grahl⁴, Elena Katzowitsch⁵, Sigrun Reumann⁴, Dieter Hanelt⁶, Malik Alawi², Wolfgang R. Streit¹ and Ines Krohn^{1*}

¹ University of Hamburg, Institute of Plant Science and Microbiology, Department of Microbiology and Biotechnology, Hamburg, Germany

² University Medical Center Hamburg-Eppendorf, Bioinformatics Core, Hamburg, Germany

³ Heinrich-Pette-Institute, Leibniz Institute for Experimental Virology, Virus Genomics, Hamburg, Germany

⁴ University of Hamburg, Institute of Plant Science and Microbiology, Department of Plant Biochemistry and Infection Biology, Hamburg, Germany

⁵ University of Würzburg, Core Unit Systems Medicine, Würzburg, Germany

⁶ University of Hamburg, Institute of Plant Science and Microbiology, Department of Aquatic Ecophysiology and Phycology, Hamburg, Germany

Published in:

Microbiology Spectrum, https://doi.org/10.1128/spectrum.00633-22

15 pages



Microalgae and Bacteria Interaction—Evidence for Division of Diligence in the Alga Microbiota

Yekaterina Astafyeva, ^a Marno Gurschke, ^a Minyue Qi, ^b Lutgardis Bergmann, ^a Daniela Indenbirken, ^c Imke de Grahl, ^d Elena Katzowitsch, ^e Sigrun Reumann, ^d Dieter Hanelt, ^f Malik Alawi, ^b [®] Wolfgang R. Streit, ^a [®] Ines Krohn^a

^aUniversity of Hamburg, Institute of Plant Science and Microbiology, Department of Microbiology and Biotechnology, Hamburg, Germany

^bUniversity Medical Center Hamburg-Eppendorf, Bioinformatics Core, Hamburg, Germany

^cHeinrich-Pette-Institute, Leibniz Institute for Experimental Virology, Virus Genomics, Hamburg, Germany

Microbiology Spectrum

AMERICAN SOCIETY FOR MICROBIOLOGY

^dUniversity of Hamburg, Institute of Plant Science and Microbiology, Department of Plant Biochemistry and Infection Biology, Hamburg, Germany ^eUniversity of Würzburg, Core Unit Systems Medicine, Würzburg, Germany

^fUniversity of Hamburg, Institute of Plant Science and Microbiology, Department of Aquatic Ecophysiology and Phycology, Hamburg, Germany

ABSTRACT Microalgae are one of the most dominant forms of life on earth that is tightly associated with a distinct and specialized microbiota. We have previously shown that the microbiota of Scenedesmus quadricauda harbors less than 10 distinct microbial species. Here, we provide evidence that dominant species are affiliated with the genera of Variovorax, Porphyrobacter, and Dyadobacter. Experimental and transcriptome-based evidence implies that within this multispecies interaction, Dyadobacter is a key to alga growth and fitness and is highly adapted to live in the phycosphere. While presumably under light conditions the alga provides the energy source to the bacteria, Dyadobacter produces and releases mainly a large variety of polysaccharides modifying enzymes. This is coherent with high-level expression of the T9SS in alga cocultures. The transcriptome data further imply that quorum-quenching proteins (QQ) and biosynthesis of vitamins B_1 , B_2 , B_5 , B_6 , and B_9 are expressed by *Dyadobacter* at high levels in comparison to Variovorax and Porphyrobacter. Notably, Dyadobacter produces a significant number of leucine-rich repeat (LRR) proteins and enzymes involved in bacterial reactive oxygen species (ROS) tolerance. Complementary to this, Variovorax expresses the genes of the biosynthesis of vitamins B₂, B₅, B₆, B₇, B₉, and B₁₂, and Porphyrobacter is specialized in the production of vitamins B₂ and B₆. Thus, the shared currency between partners are vitamins, microalgae growth-promoting substances, and dissolved carbon. This work significantly enlarges our knowledge on alga-bacteria interaction and demonstrates physiological investigations of microalgae and associated bacteria, using microscopy observations, photosynthetic activity measurements, and flow cytometry.

IMPORTANCE The current study gives a detailed insight into mutualistic collaboration of microalgae and bacteria, including the involvement of competitive interplay between bacteria. We provide experimental evidence that Gram-negative bacteria belonging to the *Dyadobacter*, *Porphyrobacter*, and *Variovorax* are the key players in a *Scenedesmus quadricauda* alga-bacteria interaction. We impart strong evidence that *Dyadobacter* produces and releases polysaccharides degradation enzymes and leucine-rich repeat proteins; *Variovorax* supplies the consortium with auxins and vitamin B₁₂, while *Porphyrobacter* produces a broad spectrum of B vitamins. We show not only that the microalgae collaborate with the bacteria and vice versa but also that the bacteria interact with each other via quorum-sensing and secretion system mechanisms. The shared currency between partners appears to be vitamins, microalgae growth-promoting substances, and dissolved carbon.

KEYWORDS microalgae and microbiota interaction, synthetic plant-bacteria system, phycosphere biofilm, *Scenedesmus quadricauda*, *Dyadobacter* sp.

Editor Eva C. Sonnenschein, Technical University of Denmark

Copyright © 2022 Astafyeva et al. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International license.

Address correspondence to Ines Krohn, ines.krohn@uni-hamburg.de.

The authors declare no conflict of interest. **Received** 18 February 2022

Accepted 7 July 2022

The term microalgae is a collective phylogenetical expression for a highly heterogeneous group of eukaryotic and prokaryotic microorganisms that are unicellular photosynthetic organisms growing in marine and aquatic environments, respectively (1, 2). In general, microalgal cells are surrounded by a phycosphere, which is a region rich in organic material released by the algae creating the key interface in which algae and other organisms tightly interact (3). Thus, algae and bacteria synergistically affecting each other's physiology and metabolism together have an impact on the ecosystems and represent all modes of interactions between various organisms, ranging from mutualism to parasitism (4, 5).

Tight associations of microalgae and bacteria have resulted in the evolution of a complex network of these cross-kingdom interactions and a potential specialization of various organisms. Orchestrated nutrient exchange, mutual support of growth factors, and guorum-sensing mediation define a wide spectrum of associations at highly complex assemblages of unicellular microalgae and associated bacteria (3). The positive effects of algae-bacteria interaction on algal growth and flocculation processes has changed the scenario of considering bacteria as mere contamination of algae cultures (6). Several studies have verified that the microbiome of microalgae consists mainly of species of the phyla Bacteroidota, Flavobacteria, Alphaproteobacteriota, Betaproteobacteriota, and Gammaproteobacteriota (2, 7). Many noncultivatable organisms can be detected as well, but the overall abundance of microorganisms is often limited to approximately 30 species (2, 8). It is still unclear whether all of these bacteria are important for algal health and survival of the community. Interestingly, limited potential invasive or pathogenic species have been also detected during the screening but somehow appear to live in a balanced manner in the community, which can be explained by a selection pressure that favors the microalgae-bacteria consortia (9-12).

However, for applications in aquaculture, the potential of the interactions between microalgae and microorganisms may improve algal biomass production and may enrich the biomass with compounds of biotechnological interest such as lipids, carbohydrates, and pigments. Consequently, growth and photosynthetic activity of bacteria profit from the interaction with microalgae, especially by adhesion, clumping factor, motility, chemotaxis, secretion systems, quorum-sensing (QS), and quorum-quenching (QQ) systems and synthesis of growth promoters (5, 13–15). Intra- and interspecies communication among microbes occurs via a complex set of signal molecules secreted during both beneficial and harmful interactions that coordinate and control the behavior of microorganisms in mixed communities. Production and release of signal molecules will be recognized by other members of the microbial community, will initiate the communication causing up- or downregulation of gene expression, and will alter the activity and physiology of the recipient (8, 16, 17). Bacterial communication provides the regulation of virulence-associated factors, propagation, population density, and change in metabolic rate, various bacterial functions, including biofilm formation, motility, adhesion, and coordination between microbial communities (18).

The goal of the study was detailed insight into mutualistic collaboration of microalgae and bacteria, including the involvement of competitive interplay between bacteria. Since not much is known about the individual role of the individual members of the multispecies consortia, we set out to determine the role of one of the bacterial isolates from nonaxenic algal culture, *Dyadobacter* sp. HH091, in the interplay with the other dominant bacterial species and the alga. For this purpose, we isolated the bacterium from the microbiome, made it genetically accessible, and studied its impact using physiological and omics-based methods.

RESULTS

Previous studies have shown that microalgae obtained from strain collections are associated with various bacterial communities with a rather low diversity (2, 8). In this research, we concentrated on the microalga *Scenedesmus quadricauda* and its bacterial community. In this community, we observed bacteria affiliated with the genera *Dyadobacter* (phylum Bacteroidota) and *Variovorax* and *Porphyrobacter* (phylum Proteobacteriota) as the dominant species (2, 9, 19). To gain insight into the physiological role of the microbiota, we set out to isolate individual strains and used them in cocultivation studies. Using classical enrichment strategies, we were able to cultivate a single *Dyadobacter* affiliated with a *S. quadricauda* laboratory nonaxenic culture on tryptone yeast extract salts (TYES) medium as described in the Materials and Methods section. The isolation of *Porphyrobacter* and *Variovorax* from the same *S. quadricauda* laboratory nonaxenic culture was unsuccessful.

The obtained *Dyadobacter* isolate was designated *Dyadobacter* sp. HH091 (from here on called "HH091"). Its phylogenetic affiliation with the genus *Dyadobacter* (phylum Bacteriodota) was initially verified by using 16S rRNA gene amplification and DNA sequencing. Following this, the organism's chromosomal DNA was extracted and sent out to establish its genome sequence. The HH091 genome draft consisted of 30 contigs and has a size of 7,837,776 bp with a G+C content of 43.87% (Table S1; Fig. S1). Annotation identified 6,628 genes, 6,565 of which are protein coding (Table S1). The HH091 genome was deposited at Integrated Microbial Genomes & Microbiomes (IMG/ M) (https://img.jgi.doe.gov) under accession IMG ID 2842103827.

Dyadobacter is well adapted for life in multispecies communities and in the vicinity of microalga, which is confirmed by the metatranscriptomic activity of genes affiliated with competitive and plant-bacteria interaction. Its genome codes for several fascinating genetic features, such as multiple QS and QQ loci, which play important roles in cell signaling, and surviving in competitive conditions. Notably, we observed 23 possible QQ genes and 41 *luxR* solos. Further, it codes for complete secretion systems of type 4 (T4SS), 5 (T5SS), 6 (T6SS), and 9 (T9SS). In addition, a remarkable wealth of glycosyl hydrolases (GHs) was observed. A total of 69 GHs, 47 polysaccharide lyases (PLs) and 50 carbohydrate esterases (CEs) were predicted. Table 1 and Tables S1 to S5 give an overview of the genomic features of HH091.

Dynamics of the bacterial colonization of the microalgae studied by confocal microscopy. Based on the above-made observations, we were interested to analyze the effects of HH091 on the microalga in cocultures (Fig. 1). We were able to electroporate and stably maintain the plasmid pBBR1MCS-5-eGFP in HH091. This plasmid carries an enhanced green fluorescent protein (eGFP) under the control of the lac promoter and allowed the detection of HH091 on the surface and inside the algal cells using confocal laser scanning microscope (CLSM). In our experiments, we could not observe any growth inhibition of Dyadobacter sp. HH091 (wild type [WT]) and the plasmid-expressing bacteria. Additional high-resolution CLSM images of S. quadricauda incubated with HH091 implied that the bacterium was often tightly associated with the algal cells (Fig. 1). Fig. 1C presents the middle layer of a Z-Steck image of S. guadricauda with HH091, in which the bacteria is found inside the algal cells. We examined cocultures of HH091 grown together with S. quadricauda and compared its photosynthetic activity and relative fitness with the antibiotic-treated algal control cultures over a time period of 13 days (Fig. 2A). To identify the difference in the growth of algal cultures (with and without HH091), we used the optical density measurement (Fig. 2A). In these tests, the first hints of visible difference were observed after 2 to 3 days. The photosynthetic activity measurements by pulse-amplitude-modulation (PAM) fluorometry demonstrated that the coculturing of S. quadricauda with HH091 resulted in 1.5-fold increase of the optimal quantum yield of Photosystem II (PS II) in comparison to control antibiotictreated microalgae (Fig. 2A). Additional microscopic and fluorescence-activated cell sorting (FACS) analyses verified that the number of viable and photosynthetic active cells in the presence of HH091 was much higher in comparison to antibiotic-treated cultures (Fig. 2B and C). In these tests, the algae culture (with and without HH091) were analyzed for 13 days after inoculation and by monitoring the chlorophyll autofluorescence of the algal population or the low-level autofluorescence of the bacteria in the FL2 channel (Fig. 2B). In a FSC X FL2 density blot diagram, three specific populations were detectable. These populations could be assigned as follows: population I, bacteria; population II, dead and lysed algal cells; and; population III, healthy microalgae (Fig. 2B; Fig. S2). In the beginning of the experiment, the content of living algal

Table 1 Possible interacti	on pathways of <i>D</i>	yadobacter sp.	. HH091 genome ^a
----------------------------	-------------------------	----------------	-----------------------------

Selected key features	Dyadobacter sp. HH091
Transporter, efflux pumps, and secretion systems	
Transport proteins and efflux pumps	138
MFS, ABC, and biopolymer transporters	189
T4SS	3
T5SS	9
T6SS	9
T9SS	41
Sec-independent protein secretion pathway	2
Sec-SRP	5
Signal transduction and regulation mechanisms	
Response regulators (NarL/FixJ, LytR, OmpR)	116
ECF sigma factors	54
Polysaccharides degradation	
Auxiliary activities	16
Carbohydrate esterases	50
Glycoside hydrolases	69
Glycosyl transferases	69
Polysaccharide lyases	47
Carbohydrate-binding modules	21
Peptidases	139
Competitive interactions	
Potential antibiotic substances	16
Endonucleases and exonucleases	60
Permeases	157
Proteases	69
Heme synthesis	9
Quorum quenching	23
Bacteria-plant interaction pathways	
Vitamins biosynthesis	224
Invasion-associated proteins	2
LRR proteins	2
ROS tolerance	13

^aThe table shows the key features of possible competitive and plant-bacteria interaction pathways of the *Dyadobacter* sp. HH091 genome, using Integrated Microbial Genomes (IMG) function search. The data are shown as the total number of hits. Major facilitator superfamily (MFS), ATP-binding cassette (ABC)-transporters, type 4 secretion system (T4SS), type 5 secretion system (T5SS), type 6 secretion system (T6SS), type 9 secretion system (T9SS), secretion (Sec), secretion-signal recognition particle (Sec-SRP), extracytoplasmic function (ECF), leucine-rich repeat (LRR), reactive oxygen species (ROS).

cells in an antibiotic-treated culture was 59.4% (\pm 0.5), whereas 5.56% (\pm 0.6) of the population included bacteria with 13.2% (\pm 0.8) of lysed algal cells. In the end of the experiment, we identified 70.8% (\pm 1.6) of healthy microalgae, 18.8% (\pm 0.5) of lysed algal cells, and 3.49% (\pm 0.5) of bacteria in a coculture with *Dyadobacter*. In general, we



FIG 1 Confocal microscope images of the strain *Dyadobacter* sp. HH091 expressing enhanced green fluorescent protein (eGFP) (yellow arrows) in coculture with *S. quadricauda* MZCH 10104. A confocal laser scanning microscope (CLSM) Axio Observer.Z1/7 LSM 800 (Carl Zeiss Microscopy GmbH, Jena, Germany) with ZEN software (version 2.3; Carl Zeiss Microscopy GmbH) was used. (A) Three-day culture. (B) seven-day culture; (C) seven-day culture, Z-Steck image. An autofluorescence quenching kit was used to lower the autofluorescence of chlorophyll of the microalga. c = chloroplast; p = pyrenoid. Bar = 5 μ m.

17



FIG 2 (A, B) Photosynthetic activity and growth measurement (A) and fluorescence-activated cell sorting (FACS) analyses (B) of *S. quadricauda* MZCH 10104 in coculture with the strain *Dyadobacter* sp. HH091. (A) Increased photosynthetic activity and growth rate (optical density at 750 nm [OD 750 nm]) can be observed in the coculture with HH091. (B) Comparison of populations, based on chlorophyll intensity. Orange shading indicates a stable distribution of bacteria (population I), dead and lysed algae (population II), and healthy microalgae (population III) in the coculture at the end of the experiment (13 days). Blue shading shows how the proportion of dead and lysed algae is increased in the culture without HH091. The raw data are available in Fig. S2. (C) Images of cell sorting acquired with CLSM Axio Observer.Z1/7 LSM 800 (Carl Zeiss Microscopy GmbH, Jena, Germany) and ZEN software (version 2.3; *Carl Zeiss Microscopy GmbH)*. Bar = 5 μ m. Pulse-amplitude-modulation (PAM) fluorometry and FACS analyses demonstrated the improved fitness of *S. quadricauda* cocultured with HH091.

count approximately 10 to 15 bacterial cells for 1 microalgal cell. Comparison of populations, based on chlorophyll intensity, indicates a stable distribution of bacteria (population I), dead and lysed algae (population II), and healthy microalgae (population III) in the coculture at the end of the experiment (13 days), whereas in the culture without HH091, the proportion of dead and lysed algae is increased (3.24% of bacteria [population II], 27.4% of lysed algal cells [population II], and 57.7% of algae cells [population II]) (Fig. 2B; Fig. S2).

Transcriptome sequencing (RNA-Seq) global analysis of multispecies bacterial consortia and microalga transcriptomes. We hypothesize that more than one compound is essential for a healthy algae growth, which is not known yet. To further analyze the role of HH091 in this specific cross-kingdom interaction, we set out to analyze the transcriptomes of this bacterium in the background of the native multispecies microbiota. We chose to use the original *S. quadricauda* lab culture, from which HH091 was isolated, as this would most likely resemble the native situation in a multispecies community. Thus, we analyzed the multispecies transcriptome of the microbiota at exponential and stationary growth phases of *S. quadricauda* cultures (Table S6; Fig. 3). Sequences obtained for this study were submitted to the European Nucleotide Archive (ENA; PRJEB23338).

In total, we obtained 42 million (mio) reads of bacteria data after trimming. The data are the results of three replicates with each replicate producing between 19 and 25 mio reads. The trimmed reads were assembled into contigs for the exponential and stationary phase experiments (Table S6). In total, the RNA-Seq data covered a significant portion of overall bacterial genomes and the affiliated pathways.

Fig. 3 summarizes the transcriptomics for the exponential (A) and the stationary (B) growth phases. In all treatments, the largest fraction of transcribed genes had no function assigned (20 to 25%). In the bacteria, the second largest fraction was associated



FIG 3 Expressed genes of bacteria in coculture with the microalga *S. quadricauda* during the exponential (A) and stationary (B) growth phases. The generated sequence data (approximal 42 mio reads) were mapped to the available genomes and metagenomes (8). The most dominant species of the microbiome are affiliated with the phyla of the Proteobacteriota (*Variovorax* and *Porphyrobacter*) and Bacteroidota (*Dyadobacter*).

with transport mechanisms and secretion systems during the exponential phase (15% Alphaproteobacteriota, 11.5% Betaproteobacteriota, 17.5% Gammaproteobacteriota, 8.5% Cytophagia, 0.73% Flavobacteriia, and 1.64% others). Further, a large fraction was connected to translation and posttranslational modification (9.5% Alphaproteobacteriota, 17% Betaproteobacteriota, 1% Gammaproteobacteriota, 14% Cytophagia, 32.5% Flavobacteriia, and 7.5% others). Notably, the bacteria showed relatively high levels of transcription of genes linked to the biosynthesis of cofactors, vitamins, and secondary metabolites (6% Alphaproteobacteriota, 2% Betaproteobacteriota, 6% Cytophagia, 3% Flavobacteriia, and 2.5% others).

The transcriptionally most active bacteria were *Dyadobacter* (3 mio reads mapped), *Porphyrobacter* (2.4 mio reads mapped), and *Variovorax* (1 mio reads mapped) at the exponential growth phase. This was similar at the stationary growth phase with *Dyadobacter* (6.9 mio reads), *Porphyrobacter* (5.5 mio reads), and *Variovorax* (1.3 mio reads). The data sets were normalized for the further analyses as outlined in the Materials and Methods section.

RNA-Seq identifies highest bacterial transcribed genes related to carbohydrate degradation, competitive, and plant-bacteria interaction. In the following, we highlight some of the most relevant findings of the whole data sets. Notably, we included those genes that had more than 500 counts/gene. The detailed analyses of the most strongly expressed genes are summarized in Fig. 4. The most strongly expressed genes affiliated with *Dyadobacter* were related to carbohydrate degradation, competitive, and plant-bacteria interaction. Genes, most strongly expressed in *Porphyrobacter* and *Variovorax*, included competitive interaction mechanisms, vitamins biosynthesis, secretion systems, and fatty acids biosynthesis (Fig. 4).

Nevertheless, the transcriptome data set hinted toward a metabolic symbiosis between microalgae/bacteria and bacteria/bacteria. Fig. 4 reflects the expression of genes affiliated with transporter and secretion systems, signal transduction and regulation mechanisms, polysaccharide degradation, competitive interactions, and interaction pathways of the microbiome of *S. quadricauda* during the exponential (A) and the stationary (B) growth phases.

Correlation between transcriptome and genome analyses exposes multifaceted synergistic cooperation. To examine the distribution of specific protein families across the transcriptionally most active bacterial genomes, we performed a protein

10.1128/spectrum.00633-22 6

Microalgae and Bacteria Interaction

Microbiology Spectrum



FIG 4 Heat map reflecting the relative expression of genes affiliated with overall plant-bacteria interaction pathways of the bacterial metagenome of *S. quadricauda* during the exponential (A) and stationary (B) growth phases. Red shading indicates a high expression level, and white indicates a low expression level. The numbers indicate the total amount of hits during RNA-Seq. Genes have more than 500 counts/gene.

family comparison across the microbiome of *S. quadricauda* MZCH 10104 (Table S7). The protein families were filtered in affiliation with overall plant-bacteria interaction pathways.

Crucial key features of overall plant-bacteria interaction pathways highlighted in metatranscriptomic analysis were mapped to the reference genomes of Porphyrobacter sp. AAP82 (IMG 2551306481), Variovorax paradoxus S110 (IMG 644736413), and Dyadobacter sp. HH091 (IMG 222279) (Fig. 5). For Porphyrobacter and Variovorax, we used publicly available reference genome IMG 2551306481 (GenBank accession number ANFX00000000) and IMG 644736413 (GenBank accession numbers NC012791 and NC012792), respectively, and mapped the transcriptome data on these genomes. These two genomes were chosen as reference genomes because they have high-quality annotations and are originally isolated from aquatic/plant habitats (20, 21). The transcriptome data obtained for Dyadobacter were mapped onto the genome of HH091 (IMG 222279). The circular mapping was generated using the Circular Genome Viewer tool within PATRIC, the Pathosystems Resource Integration Center (www.patricbrc.org). Moving inward, the subsequent two rings show coding DNA sequences (CDSs) in forward (brown) and reverse (green) strands. Blue and yellow plots indicate GC content and a GC skew [(GC)/(G+C)]. Key features of possible competitive and plantbacteria interaction pathways are marked with the following colors: purple for transporter, efflux pumps, and secretion systems; orange for signal transduction and regulation mechanisms; turquoise for polysaccharide degradation; red for competitive interactions; and blue for bacteria-plant interaction pathways (Fig. 5).

B vitamins are key drivers in bacteria-alga and bacteria-bacteria interactions. Thiamin biosynthesis genes were mainly expressed in *Dyadobacter* involving the whole cluster of required biosynthesis genes. *Dyadobacter* and *Porphyrobacter* are most likely auxotrophic for B₁₂ biosynthesis (2). Biosynthesis of cobalamin requires approximately 30 enzymatic steps for its complete *de novo* construction. Among two existing distinct biosynthetic pathways, which are termed the aerobic and anaerobic routes (22), *Variovorax* codes in its genome for the anaerobic pathway of the vitamin B₁₂ biosynthesis. Thus, it is likely that vitamin B₁₂ was provided by *Variovorax* and not by any of the two other bacteria, as they lack these genes. A riboflavin (B₂) biosynthesis cluster is



FIG 5 Metatranscriptome mapping to the reference genomes of *Porphyrobacter* sp. AAP82 (IMG 2551306481) (A), *Variovorax paradoxus* S110 (IMG 644736413) (B), and *Dyadobacter* sp. HH091 (IMG 222279) (C). Moving inward, the subsequent two rings show coding DNA sequences (CDSs) in forward (brown) and reverse (green) strands. Blue and yellow plots indicate GC content and a GC skew ([GC]/[G+C]]. Key features of possible competitive and plant-bacteria interaction pathways are marked with the following colors: purple, transporter, efflux pumps and secretion systems; orange, signal transduction and regulation mechanisms; green, polysaccharide degradation; red, competitive interactions; blue, bacteria-plant interaction pathways.

presented in all three bacteria, while biotin (B_7) pathway can be referred just to *Variovorax* (Fig. 4; Table S7).

Cell-cell communication as a key component of microbe-alga interaction. In the *Dyadobacter* genome the *darA* and *darB* genes, coding for the autoinducer synthase, were highly transcribed during exponential and stationary growth phases (6,376 and 12,094 hits). These genes are involved in the dialkylresorcinol synthesis gene cluster of *Dyadobacter*. Dialkylresorcinols are known as novel and widespread bacterial signaling molecules (23). Further analysis of the cell-cell communication as a key component of microbe-alga interaction identified two autoinducer synthase genes (i.e., *luxl* homologues) coding for *N*-acyl-L-homoserine lactone synthases in *Variovorax*.

Additional searches for QQ genes identified 19 genes that were mostly transcribed at the stationary growth phase. A potential dienelactone hydrolase from *Dyadobacter* revealed 1,110 counts and a *Porphyrobacter* homologue had 1,212 counts of mRNA reads.

Overall, among other components of cell signaling, we identified four *luxR* solo coding genes being highly expressed in *Dyadobacter* and having 4,429 counts. Similarly, in *Variovorax*, three *luxR* genes were found with 2,761 mRNA read counts during the stationary growth phase. A similar pattern was observed in the exponentially growing cultures (Fig. 4; Table S7).

Secretion systems are most relevant for competitive interaction. The analysis revealed secretion systems, which are known to be beneficial for bacterial surface colonization and for the algal-bacterial interactions (24, 25). T4SS, T6SS, and T9SS were expressed by the different bacteria. A more detailed inspection of the genomes revealed that *Dyadobacter* coded for T5SS, T6SS, and T9SS, whereas the genomes of *Porphyrobacter* and *Variovorax* coded for T2SS, T4SS, T5SS, and T6SS. Genes affiliated with T1SS and T3SS were not found during this analysis.

The T9SS was strongly expressed by *Dyadobacter*, with 12,967 hits in the exponential and 58,578 hits in the stationary growth phases. Other components of transport and secretion systems were upregulated during the stationary growth phase, often with gene hits that were twice as high. In our data set, *Variovorax* was the only bacterium that expressed the T2SS. While counting 1,843 hits during the exponential growth phase, this number gets doubled during the stationary phase. Gene counts for the T4SS found in *Porphyrobacter* during the exponential growth phase increased by a factor of 7 in the stationary phase.

Dyadobacter expresses many polysaccharide-modifying enzymes. The Bacteroidetes phylum is known for its ability to degrade a wide range of polysaccharides, a trait that has enabled its dominance in many diverse environments, including plants and algal polysaccharides (26). As a member of this phylum, HH091, codes for a wealth of

polysaccharide-modifying enzymes, many of which were highly expressed (Table 1; Fig. 4). α -L-Fucosidases of GH29 and GH95 families were observed in the metatranscriptome. Highly transcribed genes also included a β -fructosidase, which belongs to the GH32 family. Additionally, genes predicted to be involved in chitin, xylan, xyloglucan, and galactoglucomannan utilization were highly expressed. Since HH091 was the most active organism to encode polysaccharide utilization loci (PULs), it revealed a remarkably high-level transcription of these genes. PULs of HH091 were expressed with 253,760 RNA-Seq reads at exponential and 486,271 at the stationary growth phase (Fig. 4).

Mutualism and commensalism as the main survival concepts in phycosphere. Fig. 4 reflects the expression of genes affiliated with competitive interaction of the microbiota. Genes that are responsible for competitive interaction pathways included potential antibiotic substance biosynthesis pathways, nucleases, permeases, proteases, and genes involved in heme biosynthesis. In addition, 128,759 hits were related to genes linked to reactive oxygen species (ROS) tolerance in the HH091 data set. During stationary growth phase, 89,165 hits versus 39,594 hits of exponential growth phase were observed (Fig. 4). The occurrence and expression of ROS tolerance genes in bacteria are essential for resistance to oxidative stress caused by the host (27).

The expression of invasion-associated proteins during the exponential growth phase is mostly negligible but gains importance during the stationary growth phase, as observed for *Variovorax* and *Dyadobacter* (Fig. 4). Further, we observed a relatively high number of hits for leucine-rich repeat (LRR) and invasion-associated proteins belonging to *Dyadobacter* and *Variovorax*. It is known that bacteria use LRR and invasion proteins as signaling and detecting components for the establishment of the interaction with the plant innate immune system (28).

Phytohormones biosynthesis systems essential for plant-bacteria liaison. Phytohormones play a vital role in plant growth and development as a regulator of numerous biological processes that can positively influence the growth and development of microalgae (8). To determine the involvement of the microalgae-growth-promoting substances, we have analyzed the enzymatic systems responsible for phytohormones biosynthesis. While Dyadobacter and Porphyrobacter appear to lack any genes affiliated with plant hormone production, the Variovorax genome codes for two enzymatic systems, nitrilase and nitrile hydratase/amidase, that are predicted to convert indole-3-acetonitrile to the plant hormone indole-3-acetic acid. Variovorax lacks tryptophan 2-monooxygenase, although it can produce indole-3-acetic acid using indole-3-acetonitrile as the precursor. In the transcriptome data, a total of 9,915 counts was linked to this pathway, implying that auxins are potentially produced and released. These data imply that Variovorax produces auxin-like molecules, possibly stimulating the growth of the microalga. Taken together, these data imply that each of the three bacteria transcribes a unique set of genes that are of relevance for synthesis of common goods and growth and survival of the whole community.

DISCUSSION

A comprehensive understanding of the composition of the microbial community, as well as competitive interaction, is required to create scientific and theoretical fundamentals of interaction mechanisms between microalgae and other microorganisms, including the development of effective processes for simultaneous algal cultivation with enhancing the efficiency of microalgae biomass growth and associated valuable compounds production.

Specialized distribution of assignments at algae-bacterial phycosphere. The evaluation of the top 250 gene hits resulted in the identification of genes related to the general metabolic activities, carbohydrate degradation, biofilm formation, transport mechanisms, and secretion systems, which support the distribution of assignments at the microbial consortium. Former reports on the relationships within the microalga-bacteria consortia have also provided a blueprint for the construction of mutually beneficial synthetic ecosystems, in which the general metabolic activities played a significant role (29–31).

Downloaded from https://journals.asm.org/journal/spectrum on 15 August 2022 by 134.100.35.1.

22

Many pathogenic bacteria are known to use secretion systems for the facilitation of their proliferation and survival inside eukaryotic hosts, typically by the secretion of protein effectors or protein-DNA complexes (32). The presence of T6SS suggests the distribution of tasks among members of studied consortia, providing the fitness and colonization advantages, which are not restricted to virulence. T9SS machinery components, established for Dyadobacter within the Bacteroidota phylum, represents the assembly of the gliding motility apparatus and possible external release of proteins with various functions, including cell surface exposition, attachment, and other virulence factors (33, 34). The widespread occurrence of gliding motility genes was previously revealed among the members of the same phylum, the gliding bacterium Flavobacterium johnsoniae, and the nonmotile oral pathogen Porphyromonas gingivalis. F. johnsoniae uses T9SS as the gliding motility apparatus and for the secretion of a chitinase that is required for chitin digestion, and the P. gingivalis secretes through this system gingipain protease virulence factors. The same route likely secretes other polysaccharide-digesting enzymes produced by other members of the phylum. The mechanisms underlying the processes of gliding motility and cell surface machinery to utilize polysaccharides remain unclear (35, 36). Nevertheless, it is known that T9SS machinery secretes most of CAZymes, such as GHs, PLs, CEs, and accessory proteins (37, 38).

Complex relationships through competition and synergy in algae-bacterial phycosphere biofilms. Studying the interactions between members of alga-bacterial phycosphere, we investigated the hypothesis that dominant bacterial members possess the role of superior competitors. Members of the microbiome of S. quadricauda participate in the consortium niche in a competitive way that is reflected in a heat map with the correspondence to genes, affiliated with potential antibiotic substances, endonucleases and exonucleases, permeases, proteases, heme synthesis, and QQ (Fig. 4), which are known as important factors required for biofilm formation, virulence, and competition (39-42). The analysis of the microbiome of S. Quadricauda revealed different proteins supposed to be beneficial during competition for space and nutrients on surfaces in biofilms. Bacterial dominance can be attributed to the ability of these organisms to rapidly form microcolonies and their ability to produce extracellular antibacterial compounds (43). The S. quadricauda microbiome is composed of single-species populations or mixed populations with various levels of interaction, depending on the exponential or stationary growth phase. Porphyrobacter, Dyadobacter, and Variovorax were found to be the dominant producers of numerous antibacterial proteins, which can possibly eliminate other microorganisms or exhibit strong inhibitory activity against them.

The signaling molecules related to QS and QQ activity were affiliated with the Alphaproteobacteriota and Bacteroidota. Among metatranscriptome data sets proteins predicted as QQ included dienelactone hydrolase, imidazolonepropionase, 6-phosphoglu-conolactonase, gluconolactonase, oxidoreductases, and metal-dependent hydrolases of the β -lactamase superfamily, related to QQ activity. Highly transcribed genes were observed, mostly at the stationary growth phase, that fulfill the competitive needs of bacteria to comprise one of the dominant heterotrophic bacterial groups in aquaculture, which are represented in Fig. 4. Dienelactone hydrolase, known as a QQ enzyme that degrades or modifies *N-Acyl* homoserine lactones (AHLs) (44, 45), was established for *Dyadobacter* and *Porphyrobacter*. Gluconolactonases, reported as quorum-quenching enzymes (46), were mapped to *Dyadobacter*. Another class of enzyme, oxidoreductase, established to catalyze the oxidation or reduction of acyl side chain (33, 34), originated in *Variovorax* and *Dyadobacter*. The analysis also revealed several phenotypes beneficial for bacterial surface colonization, including motility, exopolysaccharide production, biofilm formation, and toxin production (Fig. 4), which are often regulated by QS (8, 16, 17).

Simultaneously, several members of the *S. quadricauda* microbiome appeared to be the main suppliers of vitamins to microalga. Genes involved in thiamin, cobalamin, biotin, and riboflavin synthesis were established for Alphaproteobacteriota and Cytophagaceae, which confirms the strong evidence that alga-associated bacteria are responsible for the supply of the essential vitamins to alga (19). Thus, our study shows that this interaction involves the strong collaboration between members of the alga-bacterial phycosphere with the support of nutritive components and the synergetic exchange of biosynthetic compounds.

A significant number of genes of high importance for root colonization, biofilm formation, invasion (47, 48), virulence, and pathogenicity were identified (49–51). Fig. 4 describes genes affiliated with overall plant-bacteria interaction pathways, including ROS tolerance, LRR proteins, and invasion-associated proteins. Numerous genes responsible for the ROS tolerance were highly transcribed at the stationary phase, which explains the necessity of bacteria to protect itself from massive amounts of reactive oxygen species released by microalgae, which was previously suggested to expose them to pathogens (28). It is supposed that dominating microorganisms can use LRR and invasion proteins as a signaling and detecting components for the establishment of the interaction with the possible innate immune system of the *S. quadricauda*.

In summary, the current study gives a detailed insight into mutualistic collaboration of microalgae and bacteria, including the involvement of competitive interplay between bacteria. Future work will now have to unravel the signaling between the bacteria and eukaryotes, as well as the detailed nutrient exchange and mutual support in different aspects of cross-kingdom synergistic network.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Microorganisms used in this study and cultivation media. *S. quadricauda* MZCH 10104 was obtained from the Microalgae and Zygnematophyceae Collection Hamburg (MZCH) and cultivated in BG11 medium at 20 \pm 1°C and 100 \pm 10 μ mol photons m⁻² s⁻¹ with a 14-h light/10-h dark schedule (19, 52, 53). To maintain the axenity of the algal culture, *S. quadricauda* was treated with the antibiotic cocktail: penicillin G, streptomycin sulfate, and gentamicin sulfate (100, 25, and 25 mg/L, respectively) (54–56).

The media for cultivation of individual bacterial isolates derived from the microalgae-associated community were prepared as follows. R2A medium and TYES were prepared as described previously (57, 58), and M9, TSB, and NB media were prepared according to the method of Sambrook and Russell (59). To stimulate microbial growth, the media were in part supplemented with algal culture extracts during the exponential and stationary growth phase of the microalgae ranging from 5 to 50% (vol/vol). The inoculated plates were incubated for 5 to 7 days at 22°C under aerobic and anaerobic conditions.

Dyadobacter sp. HH091 was isolated during this work from a laboratory culture of *S. quadricauda* MZCH 10104. The isolate was routinely grown in 5 mL of tryptone yeast extract salts (TYES) broth at 22° C for 3 to 4 days at 200 rpm (60).

Coculturing procedure and conditions. *S. quadricauda* MZCH 10104 and *Dyadobacter* sp. HH091 were cocultured in BG11 medium at 20 \pm 1°C and 100 \pm 10 μ mol photons m⁻² s⁻¹ with a 14-h light/ 10-h dark schedule over a time period of 13 days. Therefore, 1 mL of *S. quadricauda* was treated with an antibiotic cocktail of penicillin₁₀₀, streptomycin₂₅, and gentamycin₂₅ in 50 mL of BG11 medium to remove all bacteria. The antibiotic treatment was performed for 1 day. Afterwards, the microalga was centrifuged (5,000 rpm for 10 min) and washed two times with 1 mL BG11 and finally resuspended in 50 mL of BG11 medium, where it was grown for 13 days. At the start of the experiment, each flask contained 50 mL of BG11, *S. quadricauda* (optical density at 750 nm [OD_{750nm}] = 0.03), and *Dyadobacter* (OD_{600nm} = 0.05).

Bacterial RNA extraction and sequencing. The hot phenol method with minor modifications was used to extract the total RNA (19, 61). RNA quality was checked using a 2100 Bioanalyzer with the RNA 6000 Nano kit (Agilent Technologies). The RNA integrity number (RIN) for all samples was \geq 7. Equal amounts of the remaining transcripts and kit components were used for cDNA library construction. Libraries suitable for sequencing were prepared from 400 and 275 ng of total RNA with oligo(dT) capture beads for poly(A) mRNA enrichment using the TruSeq stranded mRNA library preparation kit (Illumina) according to the manufacturer's instructions. After 14 cycles of PCR amplification, the size distribution of the barcoded DNA libraries was estimated \sim 300 bp by electrophoresis on Agilent DNA HS bioanalyzer microfluidic chips.

Sequencing of pooled libraries spiked with 5% PhiX control library was performed at 8 million reads/ sample in paired-end mode with 150-nucleotide (nt) read length on the NextSeq 500 platform (Illumina) using a High Output 400M sequencing kit. Demultiplexed FASTQ files were generated with bcl2fastq2 v2.20.0.422 (Illumina).

Processing and analysis of RNA-Seq reads. Fastp (v0.21.0) was used to remove artificial and low-quality (Phred quality score below 15) sequences from the 3'-end of sequence reads (62). Putative base calling errors located in regions were two reads of a read pair overlap were corrected (option: –correction). Kraken2 (v2.1.2) was used in combination with Bracken (v2.6.2) to assess the taxonomic composition (63, 64). Additionally, reads were assembled with Trinity (v2.13.2) (65). Assembly statistics were assessed with Quast (v5.0.2) (66). The resulting contigs were aligned to sequences present in the UniProtKB/Swiss-Prot database (release 2021_04) and taxonomically annotated accordingly (67). Both were achieved with Mmseqs2 (version ad5837b3444728411e6c90f8c6ba9370f665c443) in "easy taxonomy" mode (–Ica-mode 4) (68).

Total bacterial DNA extraction. Genomic DNA of pure cultures of the strain *Dyadobacter* sp. HH091 was extracted using the peqGOLD bacterial DNA kit (PEQLAB Biotechnologie GmbH, Erlangen, Germany) according to the manufacturer's instructions.

Dyadobacter sp. HH091 transformation. The strain HH091 was transformed with modified plasmid pBBR1MCS-5-eGFP by electroporation according to standard methods, which resulted in bright green fluorescent colonies as observed by fluorescence microscopy (59). The plasmid contains the broad-host-range vector pBBR1MCS-5, providing a gentamicin resistance and the expression of GFP. Gentamycin was provided at 100 μ g/mL, and the bacteria were grown for 3 to 4 days at 22°C in liquid medium or on a plate.

Bacterial genome sequencing, de novo assembly, and binning. Total genomic DNA of Dyadobacter sp. HH091 was extracted for a genomic analysis using the NucleoBond high-molecular-weight genomic DNA kit for microorganisms (Macherey-Nagel, Germany) following the manufacturer's instructions and a previously published enzymatic cell lysis protocol with some modifications, including freezing in liquid nitrogen, bead beating, and an additional lysis pretreatment with proteinase K and lysozyme for 24 h at 55°C (2). The extracted DNA was sequenced on an Illumina NextSeq 500 platform using rapid sequencing by synthesis (SBS) chemistry v2 (Illumina, San Diego). For this, the DNA library was constructed applying the NEBNext Ultra II DNA library prep kit for Illumina (New England Biolabs) according to the manufacturer's protocol. Initial fragmentation of DNA was performed on the Bioruptor NGS (Diagenode) with 30 s on/30 s off for 16 cycles. Sequencing of the metagenomic DNA library was performed on the NextSeq 500 platform (Illumina) as paired-end run (2 imes 150 cycles) with \sim 60 mio reads. Fastp (v0.21.0) was used to remove artificial and low-quality (Phred quality score below 15) sequences from the 3'-end of sequence reads. Putative base calling errors located in regions were two reads of a read pair overlap were corrected (Fastp option: -correction). Reads shorter than 40 bp were discarded. Sequence reads were than assembled using SPAdes (v3.15.3) (69). The final draft assembly consists of 7,862,706 bp with a GC content of 43.81%. The final genome assembly resulted in 2,018 contigs (N50, 607,803 bp; L50, 10), with a largest contig size of 1,195,963 bp.

Physiological analyses. (i) Microscopy investigations. *Dyadobacter* sp. HH091 expressing eGFP was cocultured with *S. quadricauda* MZCH 10104 and studied using a confocal laser scanning microscope (CLSM) Axio Observer.Z1/7 LSM 800 (Carl Zeiss Microscopy GmbH, Jena, Germany), including Z-Stack microscope techniques. The analysis of the CLSM images were done with ZEN software (version 2.3; Carl Zeiss Microscopy GmbH). An improved 4'-6-diamidino-2-phenylindole (DAPI) staining procedure with some modifications was used in microscopy investigations (70). Modifications included the treatment with the TrueVIEW autofluorescence quenching kit (Vector Labs, SP-8400), which was employed to enhance staining and to lower the autofluorescence of chlorophyll of the microalga known to be troublesome. Background autofluorescence occurring in the 600- to 700-nm range makes it impossible to detect the bacteria transformed with plasmids expressing fluorescent proteins. The TrueVIEW Quencher is an aqueous solution of a hydrophilic molecule, which binds to chlorophyll electrostatically and lowers the fluorescence (71).

(ii) Pulse-amplitude-modulation (PAM) fluorometry. The photosynthetic activity of microalgae was measured by pulse-amplitude-modulation (PAM) fluorometry. The measured parameters represent the optimal quantum yield of PS II photochemistry (F_v/F_m), with the fluorescence (F_o) measured during the illumination of a pre-dark-adapted sample with open reaction centers and under saturating light with closed reaction centers is the maximum fluorescence (F_m). The difference $F_m - F_{ov}$ is called variable fluorescence (F_v), representing the amount of light energy that can be used by PS II (72).

(iii) Fluorescence-activated cell sorting (FACS). Flow cytometry was applied to analyze the chlorophyll content of S. quadricauda cocultivated with Dyadobacter sp. HH091. An antibiotic-treated algae culture without Dyadobacter sp. served as a control. Growth of S. quadricauda was monitored over 13 days after inoculation (start $OD_{750nm} = 0.090$) with and without *Dyadobacter* sp. ($OD_{600nm} = 0.05$). Culture samples with volumes of 1 mL (with and without Dyadobacter) were withdrawn in triplicate for the experiments every 3 days. For every measurement, we used 0.5 mL of algal culture diluted in 0.5 mL of BG11 medium and filtered through a 35- μ m Strainer cap. The samples were subjected to flow cytometry using the S3e cell sorter (Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA) equipped with a 488-nm excitation laser and detectors for side and forward scatter (i.e., SSC and FSC area), FL1 (525/30-nm band pass filter), and FL2 (560-nm long-pass filter). Data analysis was carried out with the FlowJo software package (v10.6.1; BD Life Science, Ashlan, OR). The FL2 detector allowed detection of the chlorophyll autofluorescence of S. quadricauda, and the culture samples were analyzed in a two-dimensional density plot of FL2 area versus FSC area to identify algal cells with elevated and reduced chlorophyll levels, and bacteria to determine the relative ratio of each population. The identity (algae or bacteria) and physiological state (live or dead algae) of the populations, detected in the FL2-FCS area plot, was confirmed by microscopy after sorting the respective subpopulations with the cell sorting function (purity mode) of the cell sorter instrument. For each sample the measurement was normalized until 15,000 events.

Data availability. Sequences obtained for this study were submitted to the European Nucleotide Archive (ENA). They are publicly available under accession number PRJEB23338. Assembly of the *Dyadobacter* sp. HH091 genome is available via IMG/M (https://img.jgi.doe.gov) using IMG ID 2842103827.

SUPPLEMENTAL MATERIAL

Supplemental material is available online only. **SUPPLEMENTAL FILE 1**, PDF file, 2.7 MB.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank the members of the Microalgae and Zygnematophyceae Collection Hamburg (MZCH) for helpful discussion and for providing the microalgae sample. We thank the Core Unit SysMed at the University of Würzburg for excellent technical support, RNA-Seq data generation, and analysis.

This work was in part supported by the Deutscher Akademischer Austauschdienst (German Academic Exchange Service, DAAD), the Federal Ministry of Education and Research (Bundesministerium für Bildung und Forschung, BMBF) projects: MarBioTech (FKZ 031A565) and AquaHealth (FKZ 031B0945C), and the Center for Clinical Research (Interdisziplinäres Zentrum für Klinische Forschung, IZKF) project Z-6.

We declare no conflict of interest.

Y.A. and I.K. contributed to experimental design; lab work of phylogenetic, metatranscriptomic, genomic, bioinformatic, and physiological analytical approaches; and writing of the research article. D.I. and L.B. contributed to lab work of the genomic approaches. M.G. and E.K. contributed to lab work of metatranscriptomic approaches. M.A. and M.Q. contributed to assembly of metatranscriptomic data sets and bioinformatics approaches of the genomic data set. M.G., S.R., and I.d.G. contributed to lab work of physiological analytical approaches. D.H., W.R.S., and I.K. contributed to general experimental design and writing of the research article. All authors contributed to manuscript revision, and all read and approved the submitted version.

REFERENCES

- Fulbright SP, Robbins-Pianka A, Berg-Lyons D, Knight R, Reardon KF, Chisholm ST. 2018. Bacterial community changes in an industrial algae production system. Algal Res 31:147–156. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.algal .2017.09.010.
- Krohn-Molt I, Wemheuer B, Alawi M, Poehlein A, Güllert S, Schmeisser C, Pommerening-Röser A, Grundhoff A, Daniel R, Hanelt D, Streit WR. 2013. Metagenome survey of a multispecies and alga-associated biofilm revealed key elements of bacterial-algal interactions in photobioreactors. Appl Environ Microbiol 79:6196–6206. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.01641-13.
- Cirri E, Pohnert G. 2019. Algae-bacteria interactions that balance the planktonic microbiome. New Phytol 223:100–106. https://doi.org/10 .1111/nph.15765.
- Ramanan R, Kim BH, Cho DH, Oh HM, Kim HS. 2016. Algae-bacteria interactions: evolution, ecology and emerging applications. Biotechnol Adv 34:14–29. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biotechadv.2015.12.003.
- Fuentes JL, Garbayo I, Cuaresma M, Montero Z, González-Del-Valle M, Vílchez C. 2016. Impact of microalgae-bacteria interactions on the production of algal biomass and associated compounds. Mar Drugs 14:100. https://doi.org/10.3390/md14050100.
- Lee JK, Park KS, Park MS, Kim SM, Chung SY, Lee DS. 2013. Surgical treatment of lumbar hyperextension injury in ankylosing spondylitis. Korean J Spine 10:195–199. https://doi.org/10.14245/kjs.2013.10.3.195.
- Whitman T, Neurath R, Perera A, Chu-Jacoby I, Ning D, Zhou J, Nico P, Pett-Ridge J, Firestone M. 2018. Microbial community assembly differs across minerals in a rhizosphere microcosm. Environ Microbiol 20:4444–4460. https://doi.org/10.1111/1462-2920.14366.
- Davies DG, Parsek MR, Pearson JP, Iglewski BH, Costerton JW, Greenberg EP. 1998. The involvement of cell-to-cell signals in the development of a bacterial biofilm. Science 280:295–298. https://doi.org/10.1126/science .280.5361.295.
- Segev E, Wyche TP, Kim KH, Petersen J, Ellebrandt C, Vlamakis H, Barteneva N, Paulson JN, Chai L, Clardy J, Kolter R. 2016. Dynamic metabolic exchange governs a marine algal-bacterial interaction. Elife 5:e17473. https://doi.org/ 10.7554/eLife.17473.
- Wang H, Tomasch J, Jarek M, Wagner-Döbler I. 2014. A dual-species cocultivation system to study the interactions between *Roseobacters* and dinoflagellates. Front Microbiol 5:311. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2014 .00311.
- Mouget J, Dakhama A, Lavoie MC, Noüe JD. 1995. Algal growth enhancement by bacteria: is consumption of photosynthetic oxygen involved? FEMS Microbiol Ecol 18:35–43. https://doi.org/10.1016/0168-6496(95)00038-C.
- Wieczorek AS, Schmidt O, Chatzinotas A, von Bergen M, Gorissen A, Kolb S. 2019. Ecological functions of agricultural soil bacteria and microeukaryotes

in chitin degradation: a case study. Front Microbiol 10:1293. https://doi .org/10.3389/fmicb.2019.01293.

- Shen Y, Benner R. 2018. Mixing it up in the ocean carbon cycle and the removal of refractory dissolved organic carbon. Sci Rep 8:2542. https://doi .org/10.1038/s41598-018-20857-5.
- Käse L, Geuer JK. 2018. Phytoplankton responses to marine climate change – an introduction, p 55–71. *In* Jungblut S, Liebich V, Bode M (eds), YOUMARES 8 – oceans across boundaries: learning from each other. Springer, Cham, Switzerland.
- Luo H, Moran MA, Luo H, Moran MA. 2014. Evolutionary ecology of the marine *Roseobacter* clade. Microbiol Mol Biol Rev 78:573–587. https://doi .org/10.1128/MMBR.00020-14.
- Stoodley P, Sauer K, Davies DG, Costerton JW. 2002. Biofilms as complex differentiated communities. Annu Rev Microbiol 56:187–209. https://doi .org/10.1146/annurev.micro.56.012302.160705.
- Parsek MR, Greenberg EP. 2005. Sociomicrobiology: the connections between quorum sensing and biofilms. Trends Microbiol 13:27–33. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.tim.2004.11.007.
- Phour M, Sehrawat A, Sindhu SS, Glick BR. 2020. Interkingdom signaling in plant-rhizomicrobiome interactions for sustainable agriculture. Microbiol Res 241:126589. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.micres.2020.126589.
- Krohn-Molt I, Alawi M, Förstner KU, Wiegandt A, Burkhardt L, Indenbirken D, Thieß M, Grundhoff A, Kehr J, Tholey A, Streit WR. 2017. Insights into microalga and bacteria interactions of selected phycosphere biofilms using metagenomic, transcriptomic, and proteomic approaches. Front Microbiol 8:1941. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2017.01941.
- Li X, Koblízek M, Feng F, Li Y, Jian J, Zeng Y. 2013. Whole-genome sequence of a freshwater aerobic anoxygenic phototroph, *Porphyrobacter* sp. Strain AAP82, isolated from the Huguangyan Maar Lake in Southern China. Genome Announc 1:e0007213. https://doi.org/10.1128/genomeA .00072-13.
- Han J-I, Choi H-K, Lee S-W, Orwin PM, Kim J, Laroe SL, Kim T-G, O'Neil J, Leadbetter JR, Lee SY, Hur C-G, Spain JC, Ovchinnikova G, Goodwin L, Han C. 2011. Complete genome sequence of the metabolically versatile plant growth-promoting endophyte *Variovorax paradoxus* S110. J Bacteriol 193:1183–1190. https://doi.org/10.1128/JB.00925-10.
- 22. Moore SJ, Warren MJ. 2012. The anaerobic biosynthesis of vitamin B₁₂. Biochem Soc Trans 40:581–586. https://doi.org/10.1042/BST20120066.
- Brameyer S, Kresovic D, Bode HB, Heermann R. 2015. Dialkylresorcinols as bacterial signaling molecules. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 112:572–577. https:// doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1417685112.
- Lucke M, Correa MG, Levy A. 2020. The role of secretion systems, effectors, and secondary metabolites of beneficial rhizobacteria in interactions

with plants and microbes. Front Plant Sci 11:589416. https://doi.org/10 .3389/fpls.2020.589416.

- Zboralski A, Biessy A, Filion M. 2022. Bridging the gap: type III secretion systems in plant-beneficial bacteria. Microorganisms 10:187. https://doi .org/10.3390/microorganisms10010187.
- McKee LS, La Rosa SL, Westereng B, Eijsink VG, Pope PB, Larsbrink J. 2021. Polysaccharide degradation by the Bacteroidetes: mechanisms and nomenclature. Environ Microbiol Rep 13:559–581. https://doi.org/10.1111/ 1758-2229.12980.
- Fones H, Preston GM. 2012. Reactive oxygen and oxidative stress tolerance in plant pathogenic *Pseudomonas*. FEMS Microbiol Lett 327:1–8. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1574-6968.2011.02449.x.
- Im SH, Klochkova TA, Lee DJ, Gachon CMM, Kim GH. 2019. Genetic toolkits of the red alga *Pyropia tenera* against the three most common diseases in *Pyropia* farms. J Phycol 55:801–815. https://doi.org/10.1111/jpy.12857.
- Blifernez-Klassen O, Klassen V, Wibberg D, Cebeci E, Henke C, Rückert C, Chaudhari S, Rupp O, Blom J, Winkler A, Al-Dilaimi A, Goesmann A, Sczyrba A, Kalinowski J, Bräutigam A, Kruse O. 2021. Phytoplankton consortia as a blueprint for mutually beneficial eukaryote-bacteria ecosystems based on the biocoenosis of *Botryococcus consortia*. Sci Rep 11: 1726. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-021-81082-1.
- Seymour JR, Amin SA, Raina J-B, Stocker R. 2017. Zooming in on the phycosphere: the ecological interface for phytoplankton–bacteria relationships. Nat Microbiol 2:17065. https://doi.org/10.1038/nmicrobiol.2017.65.
- Amin SA, Parker MS, Armbrust EV. 2012. Interactions between diatoms and bacteria. Microbiol Mol Biol Rev 76:667–684. https://doi.org/10.1128/ MMBR.00007-12.
- Gonzalez-Rivera C, Bhatty M, Christie PJ. 2016. Mechanism and function of type IV secretion during infection of the human host. Microbiol Spectr 4: https://doi.org/10.1128/microbiolspec.VMBF-0024-2015. https://doi.org/10 .1128/microbiolspec.VMBF-0024-2015.
- Uroz S, Chhabra SR, Cámara M, Williams P, Oger P, Dessaux Y. 2005. N-Acylhomoserine lactone quorum-sensing molecules are modified and degraded by *Rhodococcus erythropolis* W2 by both amidolytic and novel oxidoreductase activities. Microbiology 151:3313–3322. https://doi.org/ 10.1099/mic.0.27961-0.
- Chowdhary PK, Keshavan N, Nguyen HQ, Peterson JA, González JE, Haines DC. 2007. *Bacillus megaterium* CYP102A1 oxidation of acyl homoserine lactones and acyl homoserines. Biochemistry 46:14429–14437. https://doi .org/10.1021/bi701945j.
- McBride MJ, Zhu Y. 2013. Gliding motility and Por secretion system genes are widespread among members of the phylum Bacteroidetes. J Bacteriol 195:270–278. https://doi.org/10.1128/JB.01962-12.
- Saiki K, Konishi K. 2007. Identification of a *Porphyromonas gingivalis* novel protein Sov required for the secretion of gingipains. Microbiol Immunol 51:483–491. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1348-0421.2007.tb03936.x.
- Cantarel BL, Coutinho PM, Rancurel C, Bernard T, Lombard V, Henrissat B. 2009. The Carbohydrate-Active EnZymes Database (CAZy): an expert resource for glycogenomics. Nucleic Acids Res 37:D233–D238. https://doi .org/10.1093/nar/gkn663.
- Henrissat B. 1991. A classification of glycosyl hydrolases based on amino acid sequence similarities. The Biochemical J 280:309–316. https://doi .org/10.1042/bj2800309.
- Nocek B, Tikhonov A, Babnigg G, Gu M, Zhou M, Makarova KS, Vondenhoff G, Van Aerschot A, Kwon K, Anderson WF, Severinov K, Joachimiak A. 2012. Structural and functional characterization of microcin C resistance peptidase MccF from *Bacillus anthracis*. J Mol Biol 420:366–383. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.jmb.2012.04.011.
- Gristwood T, McNeil MB, Clulow JS, Salmond GPC, Fineran PC. 2011. PigS and PigP regulate prodigiosin biosynthesis in serratia via differential control of divergent operons, which include predicted transporters of sulfurcontaining molecules. J Bacteriol 193:1076–1085. https://doi.org/10 .1128/JB.00352-10.
- Ge X, Kitten T, Chen Z, Lee SP, Munro CL, Xu P. 2008. Identification of Streptococcus sanguinis genes required for biofilm formation and exami- nation of their role in endocarditis virulence. Infect Immun 76:2551–2559. https://doi.org/10.1128/IAI.00338-08.
- 42. Choby JE, Skaar EP. 2016. Heme synthesis and acquisition in bacterial pathogens. J Mol Biol 428:3408–3428. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jmb.2016 .03.018.
- Rao D, Webb JS, Kjelleberg S. 2005. Competitive interactions in mixedspecies biofilms containing the marine bacterium *Pseudoalteromonas tunicata*. Appl Environ Microbiol 71:1729–1736. https://doi.org/10.1128/ AEM.71.4.1729-1736.2005.

- 44. Schipper C, Hornung C, Bijtenhoorn P, Quitschau M, Grond S, Streit WR. 2009. Metagenome-derived clones encoding two novel lactonase family proteins involved in biofilm inhibition in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. Appl Environ Microbiol 75:224–233. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.01389-08.
- 45. Krysciak D, Schmeisser C, Preuss S, Riethausen J, Quitschau M, Grond S, Streit WR. 2011. Involvement of multiple loci in quorum quenching of autoinducer I molecules in the nitrogen-fixing symbiont *Rhizobium (Sinorhizobium)* sp. Strain NGR234. Appl Environ Microbiol 77:5089–5099. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.00112-11.
- 46. Ogawa K, Nakajima-Kambe T, Nakahara T, Kokufuta E. 2002. Coimmobilization of gluconolactonase with glucose oxidase for improvement in kinetic property of enzymatically induced volume collapse in ionic gels. Biomacromolecules 3:625–631. https://doi.org/10.1021/bm025512f.
- Desvaux M, Hébraud M. 2006. The protein secretion systems in *Listeria*: inside out bacterial virulence. FEMS Microbiol Rev 30:774–805. https://doi .org/10.1111/j.1574-6976.2006.00035.x.
- Pilgrim S, Kolb-Mäurer A, Gentschev I, Goebel W, Kuhn M. 2003. Deletion of the gene encoding p60 in *Listeria monocytogenes* leads to abnormal cell division and loss of actin-based motility. Infect Immun 71:3473–3484. https://doi.org/10.1128/IAI.71.6.3473-3484.2003.
- Breidenstein EB, Janot L, Strehmel J, Fernandez L, Taylor PK, Kukavica-Ibrulj I, Gellatly SL, Levesque RC, Overhage J, Hancock RE. 2012. The Lon protease is essential for full virulence in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. PloS One 7:e49123. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0049123.
- Cuthbertson L, Mainprize IL, Naismith JH, Whitfield C. 2009. Pivotal roles of the outer membrane polysaccharide export and polysaccharide copolymerase protein families in export of extracellular polysaccharides in Gram-negative bacteria. Microbiol Mol Biol Rev 73:155–177. https://doi .org/10.1128/MMBR.00024-08.
- Zografou C, Dimou M, Katinakis P. 2020. FK506-binding protein FklB is involved in biofilm formation through its peptidyl-prolyl isomerase activity. bioRxiv. https://doi.org/10.1101/2020.02.01.930347.
- Stanier RY, Kunisawa R, Mandel M, Cohen-Bazire G. 1971. Purification and properties of unicellular blue-green algae (order Chroococcales). Bacteriol Rev 35:171–205. https://doi.org/10.1128/br.35.2.171-205.1971.
- Rippka R, Deruelles J, Waterbury JB, Herdman M, Stanier RY. 1979. Generic assignments, strain histories and properties of pure cultures of Cyanobacteria. Microbiology 111:1–61. https://doi.org/10.1099/00221287-111-1-1.
- 54. Lee HG, Shin SY, Jin L, Yoo C, Srivastava A, La HJ, Ahn CY, Kim HS, Oh HM. 2015. Establishment and maintenance of an axenic culture of Ettlia sp. Using a species-specific approach. Biotechnol Bioproc E 20:1056–1063. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12257-015-0289-4.
- 55. Droop MR. 1967. A procedure for routine purification of algal cultures with antibiotics. British Phycological Bull 3:295–297. https://doi.org/10 .1080/00071616700650171.
- Andersen RA. 2005. Algal culturing techniques. Phycological Society of America, College Park, MD.
- 57. Reasoner DJ, Geldreich EE. 1985. A new medium for the enumeration and subculture of bacteria from potable water. Appl Environ Microbiol 49:1–7. https://doi.org/10.1128/aem.49.1.1-7.1985.
- Holt RA. 1993. Bacterial cold-water disease, p 3–22. *In* Inglis V, Roberts RJ, Bromage NR (ed), Bacterial diseases of fish. Wiley-Blackwell, Hoboken, NJ.
- Sambrook JF, Russell D. 2001. Molecular cloning: a laboratory manual, vol. 1. Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press, Cold Spring Harbor, NY.
- 60. Holt RA. 1987. *Cytophaga psychrophila*, the causative agent of bacterial cold-water disease in salmonid fish. Philosophy 855:115.
- 61. Aiba H, Adhya S, de Crombrugghe B. 1981. Evidence for two functional gal promoters in intact *Escherichia coli* cells. J Biol Chem 256:11905–11910. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0021-9258(19)68491-7.
- Chen S, Zhou Y, Chen Y, Gu J. 2018. Fastp: an ultra-fast all-in-one FASTQ preprocessor. Bioinformatics 34:i884–i890. https://doi.org/10.1093/bioinformatics/ bty560.
- 63. Wood DE, Salzberg SL. 2014. Kraken: ultrafast metagenomic sequence classification using exact alignments. Genome Biol 15:R46. https://doi .org/10.1186/gb-2014-15-3-r46.
- Lu J, Breitwieser FP, Thielen P, Salzberg SL. 2017. Bracken: estimating species abundance in metagenomics data. PeerJ Computer Science 3:e104. https://doi.org/10.7717/peerj-cs.104.
- 65. Grabherr MG, Haas BJ, Yassour M, Levin JZ, Thompson DA, Amit I, Adiconis X, Fan L, Raychowdhury R, Zeng Q, Chen Z, Mauceli E, Hacohen N, Gnirke A, Rhind N, di Palma F, Birren BW, Nusbaum C, Lindblad-Toh K, Friedman N, Regev A. 2011. Full-length transcriptome assembly from RNA-Seq data without a reference genome. Nat Biotechnol 29:644–652. https://doi.org/10.1038/nbt.1883.

- Gurevich A, Saveliev V, Vyahhi N, Tesler G. 2013. QUAST: quality assessment tool for genome assemblies. Bioinformatics 29:1072–1075. https://doi.org/10.1093/bioinformatics/btt086.
- 67. UniProt Consortium. 2021. UniProt: the universal protein knowledgebase in 2021. Nucleic Acids Res 49:D480–D489. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/ gkaa1100.
- Steinegger M, Söding J. 2017. Mmseqs2 enables sensitive protein sequence searching for the analysis of massive data sets. Nat Biotechnol 35:1026–1028. https://doi.org/10.1038/nbt.3988.
- Bankevich A, Nurk S, Antipov D, Gurevich AA, Dvorkin M, Kulikov AS, Lesin VM, Nikolenko SI, Pham S, Prjibelski AD, Pyshkin AV, Sirotkin AV, Vyahhi N, Tesler G, Alekseyev MA, Pevzner PA. 2012. SPAdes: a new

genome assembly algorithm and its applications to single-cell sequencing. J Comput Biol 19:455–477. https://doi.org/10.1089/cmb .2012.0021.

- Mukherjee C, Mukherjee C, Ray K. 2015. An improved DAPI staining procedure for visualization of polyphosphate granules in cyanobacterial and microlagal cells. Protocol Exchange https://doi.org/10.1038/protex.2015 .066.
- 71. Karpishin T. 2018. Reducing tissue autofluorescence. Genetic Engineering & Biotechnology News 38:16–17. https://doi.org/10.1089/gen.38.05.05.
- Maxwell K., Johnson G., Maxwell K., Johnson GN. 2000. Chlorophyll fluorescence — a practical guide. J Exp Bot 51:659–668. https://doi.org/10 .1093/jexbot/51.345.659.

3 INTERPLAY BETWEEN THE MICROALGA *MICRASTERIAS RADIANS* AND ITS SYMBIONT *DYADOBACTER* SP. HH091

Yekaterina Astafyeva¹, Marno Gurschke¹, Wolfgang R. Streit¹ and Ines Krohn^{1*}

¹ University of Hamburg, Biocenter Klein Flottbek, Department of Microbiology and Biotechnology, Hamburg, Germany

Published in:

Frontiers in Microbiology, https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2022.1006609

12 pages
Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Durgesh K. Jaiswal, Savitribai Phule Pune University, India

REVIEWED BY Yongtao Zhu, Minnesota State University, Mankato, United States Liang Shen,

Anhui Normal University, China

*CORRESPONDENCE Ines Krohn ines.krohn@uni-hamburg.de

SPECIALTY SECTION This article was submitted to Microbiotechnology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Microbiology

RECEIVED 29 July 2022 ACCEPTED 21 September 2022 PUBLISHED 13 October 2022

CITATION

Astafyeva Y, Gurschke M, Streit WR and Krohn I (2022) Interplay between the microalgae *Micrasterias radians* and its symbiont *Dyadobacter* sp. HH091. *Front. Microbiol.* 13:1006609. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2022.1006609

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Astafyeva, Gurschke, Streit and Krohn. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Interplay between the microalgae *Micrasterias radians* and its symbiont *Dyadobacter* sp. HH091

Yekaterina Astafyeva, Marno Gurschke, Wolfgang R. Streit and Ines Krohn*

Department of Microbiology and Biotechnology, Biocenter Klein Flottbek, University of Hamburg, Hamburg, Germany

Based on previous research, related to detailed insight into mutualistic collaboration of microalga and its microbiome, we established an artificial plant-bacteria system of the microalga Micrasterias radians MZCH 672 and the bacterial isolate Dyadobacter sp. HH091. The bacteria, affiliated with the phylum Bacteroidota, strongly stimulated growth of the microalga when it was added to axenic algal cultures. For further advances, we studied the isolate HH091 and its interaction with the microalga M. radians using transcriptome and extensive genome analyses. The genome of HH091 contains predicted polysaccharide utilizing gene clusters co-working with the type IX secretion system (T9SS) and conceivably involved in the algae-bacteria liaison. Here, we focus on characterizing the mechanism of T9SS, implementing the attachment and invasion of microalga by Dyadobacter sp. HH091. Omics analysis exposed T9SS genes: gldK, gldL, gldM, gldN, sprA, sprE, sprF, sprT, porU and porV. Besides, gld genes not considered as the T9SS components but required for gliding motility and protein secretion (gldA, gldB, gldD, gldF, gldG, gldH, gldI, gldJ), were also identified at this analysis. A first model of T9SS apparatus of *Dyadobacter* was proposed in a course of this research. Using the combination of fluorescence labeling of Dyadobacter sp. HH091, we examined the bacterial colonisation and penetration into the cell wall of the algal host M. radians MZCH 672.

KEYWORDS

Dyadobacter sp. HH091, *Micrasterias radians*, microalgaebacteria interaction, synthetic early plant-bacteria system, symbiotic relations

Introduction

Algae and bacteria synergistically collaborate with each other, influence ecosystems, and represent various modes of interactions between organisms (Ramanan et al., 2016). The positive effect of bacteria on algal growth in the field of biotechnology, has changed the main concept of a mere contamination of algal cultures, considering bacteria as an important driver in this interaction (Lee et al., 2015; Shen and Benner, 2018). Strong

01

associations between microalgae and bacteria have resulted in the evolution of a complex network of these cross-kingdom interactions and narrow specialization of different organisms (Krohn et al., 2013; Krohn-Molt et al., 2017; Cirri and Pohnert, 2019; Astafyeva et al., 2022).

Nowadays, it is recognized that the potential of the interactions between microalgae and microorganisms, determined by special applicability in aquaculture, aims to improve algal biomass production and to enrich this biomass with compounds of biotechnological interest such as lipids, carbohydrates, and pigments. The algal microenvironment may be altered by bacteria in ways that stimulate algal functions. The general bacterial attributes that may profit the interaction with microalgae, and which might affect their growth and photosynthetic activity, include adhesion, clumping factor, motility, chemotaxis, different secretion systems, quorum sensing and quenching systems, and synthesis of growth promoters (Luo and Moran, 2014; Brameyer et al., 2015; Shen and Benner, 2018; Astafyeva et al., 2022).

Previous research of microalgae-and photobioreactorsassociated biofilm bacteria, identified that the majority of the observed microorganisms were affiliated with α -Proteobacteriota, β-Proteobacteriota, and Bacteroidota (Mouget et al., 1995; Davies et al., 1998; Krohn et al., 2013; Whitman et al., 2018). Further investigations have characterized the biotic interaction of microalgae and bacteria using metagenomic, transcriptomic, and proteomic approaches. In this research the microbiomes of microalga have been sequenced, and various bacterial strains affiliated with the algae have been isolated to answer, if the associated microbiota is specific for the microalgae and which role individual bacterial taxa play (Krohn-Molt et al., 2017). Thereby it was observed that effector molecules known from plantmicrobe interactions as inducers for the innate immunity are already of relevance at this evolutionary early plant-microbiome level. Key genes involved in plant-microbe interactions were mostly affiliated with different mechanisms, including vitamin biosynthesis, transport and secretion systems, signal transduction, carbohydrate and lipid modification. The metatranscriptome analysis indicated that the transcriptionally most active bacteria, with respect to key genes commonly involved in plant-microbe interactions, in the microbiome of the Chlorella (Trebouxiophyceae), Scenedesmus (Chlorophyceae) and Micrasterias (Zygnematophyceae) belong to the phylum of the α -Proteobacteriota and Bacteroidota (Krohn-Molt et al., 2017).

Recent studies unveiled tight associations of microalga *Scenedesmus quadricauda* and bacteria using metatranscriptomic analysis, including physiological investigations, microscopy observations, photosynthetic activity measurements and flow cytometry. The crucial key features of overall plant-bacteria interaction covered different mechanisms with the involvement of transport and secretion systems (e.g., T6SS, T9SS), quorum quenching proteins (QQ), leucine-rich repeat proteins and enzymes (LRR) related to bacterial reactive oxygen species (ROS) tolerance, as well as the biosynthesis of vitamins (B₁, B₂, B₅, B₆ B₇, B₉ and B₁₂). The metatranscriptome analysis

demonstrated that within the microbiota of *S. quadricauda* the dominant species were affiliated with the genera of *Variovorax*, *Porphyrobacter* and *Dyadobacter*. Experimental and transcriptome-based evidences implied that within this multispecies interaction *Dyadobacter* was a key to alga growth and fitness, and is highly adopted to live in the phycosphere (Astafyeva et al., 2022).

Within this framework, we addressed the following questions in the current study. Which role do secretion systems play in these remarkable interactions? Is a direct cell-to-cell contact between the interaction partners required and what influence does bacterial QS have? To answer these questions, we used fluorescence labeling of bacteria and 4'-6-diamidino-2-phenylindole (DAPI) staining with confocal microscopy to determine the physical association of microalga cells with the Dyadobacter isolate HH091. Further, to get a deeper insight in this fascinating synthetic bacteria-microalgae model system, we have characterized the interactions of the isolate Dyadobacter sp. HH091 (Astafyeva et al., 2022), with the microalga M. radians MZCH 672 using transcriptome and genome analyses. These data expand our understanding of species-species interactions and identify several genes involved in the molecular basis of bacteria-alga interactions that can serve as an established synthetic plant-bacteria system. Therefore, the genome and metabolic potential of the bacterium Dyadobacter sp. HH091 is of particular interest in understanding bacteria-algae interactions.

Materials and methods

Microorganisms used in this study and cultivation media

Micrasterias radians MZCH 672 was obtained from the Microalgae and Zygnematophyceae Collection Hamburg (*MZCH*) and cultivated in WHM medium (Stein, 1973) at $20\pm1^{\circ}$ C and $100\pm10\,\mu$ mol photons m⁻² s⁻¹ with a 14/10-h light/dark period. To maintain the axenity of the algal culture, *M. radians* was treated with the antibiotic cocktail: penicillin G, streptomycin sulfate and gentamycin sulfate (100/25/25 mg/l) (Droop, 1967; Andersen, 2005; Lee et al., 2015; Astafyeva et al., 2022).

Dyadobacter sp. HH091 was isolated previously from a laboratory culture of *S. quadricauda* MZCH 10104 (Krohn-Molt et al., 2017; Astafyeva et al. 2022). The isolate was routinely grown in 5 ml of tryptone yeast extract salts (TYES) broth (Reasoner and Geldreich, 1985; Holt, 1993), at 22°C for 3–4 days at 200 rpm.

Analysis of the flexirubin pigments in *Dyadobacter* sp. HH091

We experimentally validate the production of flexirubin by *Dyadobacter* sp. HH091 by exposing them to $50 \,\mu$ l 10 M KOH, which resulted in a change from yellow to orange/red if flexirubin pigments were present, followed by a neutralization step with $42\,\mu$ l 12 M HCl, which resulted in a return to yellow pigmentation.

Co-culturing procedure and conditions

Micrasterias radians MZCH 672 and *Dyadobacter* sp. HH091 were co-cultured in WHM medium at $20 \pm 1^{\circ}$ C and $100 \pm 10 \mu$ mol photons m⁻² s⁻¹ with a 14/10h light/dark period over a time period of 12 days. Therefore, 1 ml of *M. radians* was treated with an antibiotic cocktail of penicillin G, streptomycin sulfate and gentamycin sulfate in 50 ml of WHM medium to remove all bacteria. The antibiotic treatment was performed for 1 day. Afterwards, the microalga was centrifuged (5,000 rpm, 10 min) and washed two times with 1 ml WHM medium and finally resuspended in 50 ml of medium, where it was grown for 20 days. At the start of the experiment, each flask contained 50 ml of WHM, *M. radians* (OD_{750nm}=0.007) and *Dyadobacter* sp. (OD_{600nm}=0.05).

Dyadobacter sp. HH091 transformation

The strain HH091 was transformed with modified plasmid pBBR1MCS-5-eGFP by electroporation according to standard methods, which resulted in bright green fluorescent colonies as observed by fluorescence microscopy (Sambrook and Russell, 2001). The plasmid contains the broad-host-range vector pBBR1MCS-5, providing a gentamycin resistance and the expression of GFP. Gentamycin was applied at $100 \,\mu$ g/ml, and the bacteria were grown as described previously (Droop, 1967; Andersen, 2005; Lee et al., 2015; Astafyeva et al., 2022).

Confocal laser scanning microscopy

Dyadobacter sp. HH091 expressing eGFP was co-cultured with M. radians MZCH 672 and studied using a confocal laser scanning microscope (CLSM) Axio Observer.Z1/7 LSM 800 (Carl Zeiss Microscopy GmbH, Jena, Germany), which also included Z-Stack microscope techniques. The analysis of the CLSM images were done with ZEN software (version 2.3; Carl Zeiss Microscopy GmbH). DAPI staining procedure was used in microscopy investigations as described previously (Astafyeva et al., 2022). Modifications included the treatment with TrueVIEW Autofluorescence Quenching Kit (Vector Labs, SP-8400), which was employed to enhance staining and to lower the autofluorescence of chlorophyll of the microalga. Background autofluorescence occurring in the 600-700 nm range, makes it impossible to detect the bacteria transformed with plasmids expressing fluorescent proteins. The TrueVIEW Quencher is an aqueous solution of a hydrophilic molecule, which binds to chlorophyll electrostatically and lowers the fluorescence (Karpishin, 2018).

Bacterial RNA isolation and sequencing

Dyadobacter sp. HH091 cells, separated by dialysing bags (Roth, Germany), were co-cultured with microalga for 1 week. Then bacterial cells were subsequently harvested, treated with RNAlater (Sigma, Germany) and frozen at −80°C. The samples were processed by Eurofins (Constance, Germany), where the RNA was isolated and assessed for QC. The RNA Integrity Number (RIN) for all samples was ≥8. Strandspecific cDNA library preparation from polyA enriched RNA (150 bp mean read length) and RNA sequencing was performed using the genome sequencer Illumina HiSeq technology in NovaSeq 6000 S4 PE150 XP sequencing mode. For further analysis fastq-files were provided.

Bacterial RNA data analysis

RNA-seq analysis was performed using PATRIC, the Pathosystems Resource Integration Center.¹ Trim Galore 0.6.5dev was used to remove adapters (Phred quality score below 20) (Krueger, 2012). RNA-Seq data was processed by the tuxedo strategy (Trapnell et al., 2012). All genes were selected with|log2 (fold change)| \geq 1,5. The differentially expressed genes (DEGs) dataset was collected and used for further analysis. The volcano plot of the distribution of all DEGs was generated using A Shiny app ggVolcanoR (Mullan et al., 2021).

Carbohydrate-active enzymes were screened through local Blastp search in the database of carbohydrate-active enzymes (CAZymes).² The database compiles categories of enzymes that act on carbohydrates, e.g., glycoside hydro-lases (GHs), polysaccharide lyases (PLs), glycosyltransferases (GTs) (Levasseur et al., 2013). Domain guided annotation based on conserved domains in *Dyadobacter* sp. HH091 was performed within the STRING database (Szklarczyk et al., 2021).

Sequences obtained and GenBank submissions

RNA sequences obtained for this study were submitted to the European Nucleotide Archive (ENA). They are publicly available under accession PRJEB54772. Assembly of the *Dyadobacter* sp. HH091 genome is available *via* IMG/MER³ using the IMG ID 2842103827.

32

¹ www.patricbrc.org

² www.cazy.org

³ https://img.jgi.doe.gov

Results

Symbiont *Dyadobacter* sp. HH091 attached to the surface of *Micrasterias radians* MZCH 672

Based on our previous research, we were intrigued to examine the bacterial colonisation of the microalga M. radians MZCH 672. CLSM was used to observe the interaction process between Dyadobacter sp. HH091 and M. radians. The co-culture of M. radians with Dyadobacter sp. expressing eGFP are shown in Figure 1. In addition, Z-Stack microscopy was employed to generate a more detailed and higher resolution image of the microalgal contact site with its symbiont. Our results showed, that symbiotic bacterial cells were found in close proximity of the alga after 1 day of incubation (Figure 1A). More nearby contacts were identified via CLSM between the host microalga and its symbiont on the third day of incubation (Figure 1B). At Figure 1A bacterial cells are found close to algal cells, while Figure 1B demonstrates the penetration of the symbiont into its host's cell wall. These experiments revealed the presence of direct contacts between M. radians and symbiotic Dyadobacter sp. HH091 cells through their surrounding and tight interaction, promising the mutual exchange of various substances between the two partners.

We examined co-cultures of HH091 grown together with *M. radians* and compared its relative growth performance with the antibiotic-treated algal control cultures over a time period of 20 days (Supplementary Figure S1). To identify the difference in

the growth of algal cultures (with and without HH091) we used the optical density measurement (Supplementary Figure S1). In these tests first hints of visible difference were observed after 3–4 days.

RNA seq identifies active genes for host-symbiont interaction pathways

Transcriptome analysis was applied to indicate highly active genes involved into bacteria-algal interaction. In total, we obtained 43 million (mio) reads of bacteria data after trimming. The data are the result of three replicates with each replicate producing between 4 and 8 mio reads (Supplementary Table S1). The RNAseq data covered a significant portion of the bacterial genome and the affiliated pathways. During data preprocessing low quality transcripts were filtered, resulting in 1,530 genes to be studied (Supplementary Table S2). RNA-Seq analysis was performed using the Tuxedo strategy, the heatmap (Figure 2) was generated using the Expression Import Service of the Pathosystems Resource Integration Center, PATRIC, the absolute value of log₂ Ratio > 1.5 (Kim et al., 2013, 2015; McClure et al., 2013).

The expression levels of the DEGs response of *Dyadobacter* sp. HH091 in co-culture with *M. radians* are depicted in the heatmap (Figure 2). The heatmap reflects the expression of genes affiliated with overall mechanisms described in categories. The highest number of transcripts belongs to carbohydrate transport and metabolism, inorganic ion transport and metabolism, signal



FIGURE 1

Confocal microscope including Z-Stack images of *Dyadobacter* sp. HH091 expressing eGFP (yellow arrows) found in a close proximity to *Micrasterias radians* MZCH 672. Autofluorescence Quenching Kit was used to lower the autofluorescence of chlorophyll of the microalga. Structures: c chloroplast, n nuclear region, p pyrenoid. Scale bar=2µm in each micrograph. (A) First day of incubation. (B) Third day of incubation.

33



FIGURE 2

Heatmap of expression levels of differentially expressed genes (DEGs) response of *Dyadobacter* sp. HH091 in co-culture with *Micrasterias radians*. RNA-Seq analysis was performed using the Tuxedo strategy, the heatmap was generated using the Expression Import Service of the Pathosystems Resource Integration Center, PATRIC, the absolute value of log2 Ratio>1.5. Color key: up-regulated genes, down-regulated genes.

transduction and regulation mechanisms, and transporter, efflux pumps and secretion systems.

The distribution of gene expression between Dyadobacter sp. HH091 co-cultured with M. radians and control samples is represented by the volcano plot (Figure 3A). The volcano plot was constructed to compare the two groups using ggVolcanoR. A total of 1,530 differentially expressed genes (DEGs) were identified from the dataset (Figure 3A). Among them, 612 and 918 genes were up-regulated and downregulated, respectively, between two groups according to their log₂FC and *p*-values. Function profile of the DEGs in Dyadobacter sp. HH091 is shown in Figure 3B. The studying of the transcriptome of the strain HH091 co-cultured with its microalgal host unveiled the multifaceted combination of mechanisms required for and/or affiliated with T9SS, as well as T9SS cargo proteins, Sus proteins (SusC and SusD), TonBdependent receptors, cAMP-binding proteins, oxidoreductases, aminotransferases, cytochrome c, numerous transcriptional regulators, including LuxR solos, and flexirubin biosynthesis. The highest number of up-regulated genes belongs to T9SS cargo proteins (42), transcriptional regulators (56), Sus proteins (SusC (10) and SusD (6)), permeases (14), and oxidoreductases (13). Most down-regulated genes are related to oxidoreductases (11), T9SS cargo proteins (24), SusC (10) and SusD proteins (14), T9SS components and Gld proteins (35), permeases (16), and transcriptional regulators (20). Intriguingly, flexirubin biosynthesis mechanism involved 13 up-regulated and 4 down-regulated genes.

Transcriptome analysis indicated highly active genes of T9SS mechanism and flexirubin biosynthesis cluster

By a combination of comparative genome and transcriptome analyses we identified a cluster of genes presumably involved in flexirubin biosynthesis, which was performed using the STRING database (Szklarczyk et al., 2021). This cluster includes two genes, darA and darB, with likely roles in flexirubin synthesis, and other genes that could be involved in localization of flexirubin pigments (Supplementary Table S3). The flexirubin biosynthesis cluster of Dyadobacter sp. HH091 consists of the dar operon and a neighboring gene encoding LuxR solo (NarL/FixJ). NarL/FixJ shares 46% identity and 47% similarity with the LuxR solo PluR of Photorhabdus luminescens (Brameyer et al., 2015). In P. luminescens PluR performs as a LuxR-type receptor serving for QS. Based on these observations we proposed the model of flexirubin/dialkylresorcinol (DAR) biosynthesis in HH091, which consists of QS circuit genes possibly up-regulating several mechanisms like T9SS, gliding motility and protein secretion (Figure 4). These QS circuit genes are found to be adjacent to T9SS genes, genes affiliated with gliding motility and protein secretion (genes coding for gliding motility-associated-like proteins, T9SS type A sorting domain-containing proteins, chitin binding proteins, peptidoglycan-associated proteins, and PorT family protein).

Additional studying of homologs showed the presence of these genes in the representative genomes of the phylum Bacteriodota Flavobacterium johnsoniae, Flavobacterium psychrophilum (McBride et al., 2009) and Chitinophaga pinensis (Schöner et al., 2014), and among the members of the phylum Proteobacteriota Photorhabdus asymbiotica (Brameyer et al., 2015) and Pseudomonas aurantiaca (Nowak-Thompson et al., 2003). Responsible for flexirubin biosynthesis, genes darA and darB are similar to F. johnsoniae, which were previously identified to be engaged in biosynthesis of 2-hexyl-5-propyl-alkylresorcinol (McBride et al., 2009). In addition to darA and darB, other genes in this cluster are predicted to encode enzymes involved in lipid synthesis and some of these enzymes likely have roles in flexirubin synthesis (Supplementary Table S3). This cluster includes numerous genes, such as acyl carrier protein, (3-oxoacyl)-acyl carrier protein synthase, acyl-CoA thioester hydrolase, histidine ammonia-lyase, 1-acyl-sn-glycerol-3phosphate acyltransferase, beta-ketoacyl synthases, and betahydroxyacyl-(acyl carrier protein) dehydratase, including several



ABC-2-type transporters known to be entangled in the localization of flexirubin (McBride et al., 2009).

Experimental identification and validation of flexirubin confirmed its production by *Dyadobacter* sp. HH091 (Supplementary Figure S2). Cells were photographed before treatment (I), after exposure to $50 \,\mu$ l of $10 \,M$ KOH (II), and after exposure to KOH followed by exposure to $42 \,\mu$ l $12 \,M$ HCl (III). Flexirubin-positive cells were yellow at neutral pH (I and III) and orange/red under alkaline conditions (II).

Proposed model of T9SS in *Dyadobacter* sp.

Highly active genes within this transcriptome belong to T9SS mechanism and gliding motility (Supplementary Table S4). Overall, 18 genes (*gldA*, *gldB*, *gldD*, *gldF*, *gldG*, *gldH*, *gldI*, *gldJ*, *gldK*, *gldL*, *gldM*, *gldN*, *sprA*, *sprE*, *sprF*, *sprT*, *porU* and *porV*), required for gliding motility and protein secretion, and/or involved in T9SS (Hunnicutt and Mcbride, 2000; McBride and Braun, 2004; Braun et al., 2005; Lauber et al., 2018; McBride, 2019; Hennell James et al., 2021; Trivedi et al. 2022; Veith et al., 2022), were identified among DEGs (Supplementary Table S2).

Besides that, a high number of transcripts was observed among genes responsible for polysaccharides utilization. That can also elucidate the up-regulation of genes coding for T9SS, while in commensal and environmental bacteroidotal species the T9SS is characteristically used to secrete enzymes that enable the organisms to utilize complex polysaccharides as a carbon source (Veith et al., 2013; Hennell et al., 2021).

Among up-regulated genes we identified different GHs and cell surface glycan-binding lipoproteins, known to be involved into plant and algal cell wall degradation mechanisms (Giovannoni et al., 2020). That included cellulose-degrading endoglucanases, hemicellulosedegrading xylosidases, pectin degradation proteins, starch-degrading enzymes, β -glucuronyl hydrolases, SusC and SusD family cell surface glycan-binding lipoproteins (Supplementary Table S2).

Being concentrated on the components of T9SS, we identified highly active genes by transcriptome analysis of the strain HH091 co-cultured with its microalgal host. Domain guided annotation is based on conserved domains detected by STRING analysis of *Dyadobacter* sp. HH091 primary sequences against the genome of *Flavobacterium* spp. (Supplementary Table S4). Based on this analysis and previous researches (McBride and Zhu, 2013; Veith et al., 2013; Astafyeva et al., 2022), we proposed a model of T9SS including gliding motility proteins in *Dyadobacter* sp. HH091 (Figure 5). Intriguingly, genes, transcribing for the Gld motor proteins, were mostly down-regulated (*gldKLMN*), while genes coding for gliding motility-associated ABC transporter ATP-binding proteins were up-regulated. The transcriptome analysis suggests an explanation for this finding, because the symbiont possibly uses the T9SS not only for gliding motility, but



also for the secretion of other proteins. Recent results by McBride and Saiki showed that nonmotile bacteroidotal members, such as *P. gingivalis*, *B. fragilis*, *B. thetaiotaomicron*, *B. vulgatus*, *P. distasonis*, and *Salinibacter ruber*, have homologs of genes, that have functions essential for protein secretion, but not for motility (Saiki and Konishi, 2007; McBride et al., 2009). Figure 5 represents a model of the T9SS including proteins required for gliding motility and/or protein secretion of *Dyadobacter* sp. HH091. This model includes the T9SS category (GldK, GldL, GldM, GldN, SprA, SprE, SprF, SprT, PorU, PorV), multiple PorXY-SigP signalling system components, and further Gld proteins (GldA, GldB, GldD, GldF, GldG, GldH, GldI, GldJ).

Most of the *gld* and T9SS genes are found to be adjacent to genes coding for proteins, involved into biosynthesis of glycosyltransferases, cell surface proteins, lipoprotein export proteins, as well as antibacterials, adhesion factors, microcolonization development, and EPS production. Interestingly, the up-regulated adjacent genes are also affiliated with cargo proteins of the T9SS. T9SS cargoes possess a conserved C-terminal domain (CTD) and an N-terminal signal peptide, and carry a CTD as a secretion signal, which is cleaved and replaced with anionic lipopolysaccharide by transpeptidation for

extracellular anchorage to the outer membrane (OM) (Kulkarni et al., 2017; Mizgalska et al., 2021, 22; Gorasia et al., 2022). In this research, DEGs covered 42 up-regulated and 24 down-regulated genes affiliated with T9SS cargo proteins (Supplementary Table S5).

Along this detailed dataset investigation, the high activity of genes related to secretion systems and other entangled mechanisms underline the ability of *Dyadobacter* to perform the interaction with microalga and enable its dominance in many diverse environments.

Discussion

The most comprehensive and fundamental understanding of microbial metabolic pathways in a multispecies system, as well as symbiotic and competitive interactions, is required to provide scientific and theoretical bases for the interaction mechanisms between microalgae and other microorganisms. The presented results promote not only the development of effective methods for simultaneous cultivation of algae, they also encourage the increasing the efficiency of microalgal biomass growth and associated production of valuable compounds.



Flexirubin biosynthesis conceivably involved into microalgae-bacteria interaction

Our transcriptome analysis of *Dyadobacter* sp. HH091 co-cultured with microalga *M. radians* revealed highly active genes affiliated with the cluster of flexirubin biosynthesis. This cluster includes *darA* and *darB genes*, homologs of *F. johnsoniae* UW101 (McBride et al., 2009) and *C. pinensis* (Schöner et al., 2014).

Flexirubin is a pigment consisting of a ω-(4-hydroxyphenyl)polyene carboxylic acid chromophore, esterified with a 2,5-dialkylresorcinol (DAR), also known as novel and widespread bacterial signalling molecule (Nowak-Thompson et al., 2003; Abt et al., 2011; Schöner et al., 2014). Genes coding for the biosynthesis of these pigments are found in many bacteroidotal genomes, including Flavobacterium psychrophilum, Flavobacterium johnsoniae (McBride et al., 2009), Leadbetterella byssophila (Abt et al., 2011), Chryseobacterium artocarpi (Venil et al., 2016), Chryseobacterium rhizoplanae sp. nov. (Kämpfer et al., 2015), Flavobacterium maris sp. nov. (Romanenko et al., 2015), and Flavobacterium tilapiae sp. nov. (Chen et al., 2013). Homologs of darA, a dialkylresorcinol condensing enzyme, and darB, a 3-oxoacyl-[acyl-carrier-protein] synthase III protein, were previously identified using bioinformatics tools within the genome analysis of our model organism Dyadobacter sp. HH091 (Astafyeva et al., 2022).

Another interesting point, is that on the plant-bacteria interaction model, flexirubin also performs as free radical scavenging antioxidant protecting from the attack of free radicals (Combes and Finet, 1997; Schöner et al., 2015). The antioxidant potential via hydrogen donating ability of flexirubin has been shown through the assessment using different assays such as radical scavenging activities, lipid peroxide inhibition and ferrous chelating ability (Mogadem et al., 2021). Several studies show that microalgae produce reactive oxygen species (ROS) to get an advantage in the competition for resources against other algae, be a way to prevent fouling bacteria, and act as a signalling mechanism between cells (Marshall et al., 2005). Furthermore, ROS, such as superoxide (O_2^{-}) , hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2) , and hydroxyl radical (•OH), are thought to be produced as antibacterial agents and involved in oxidation or reduction of necessary or toxic metals (Palenik et al., 1987). Former investigation of microalga Micrasterias spp., demonstrated that ROS are constantly generated as by-products of general metabolic cellular pathways and can be over-produced in response to stress (Darehshouri and Lütz-Meindl, 2010; Lütz-Meindl, 2016; Felhofer et al., 2021). Our results indicate, that Dyadobacter sp. HH091 uses flexirubin hybrid pigments to protect itself from ROS produced by microalga, which explains this interaction, making it possible for microalgal symbiont to have a tight contact with its host.

T9SS tangled in the symbiotic interactions of *Dyadobacter* with microalgae

The presence of different secretion systems suggests that Dyadobacter sp. HH091 and microalgae possess a signal exchange system allowing establishment and maintenance of a symbiosis that includes adhesion factors, microcolonization development, EPS production, and biofilm formation factors, which are important for the institution of a successful symbiosis. Previously, a comprehensive set of cell surface-associated proteins required for host cell invasion was described for other bacterial model organisms (Foster et al., 2014; Kusch and Engelmann, 2014; Hecker et al., 2018). All of these mechanisms express particular cocktails of factors that facilitate niche adaptation that include cell-host attachment, microcolonization and biofilm formation. Genes coding for the cell surface-associated proteins and secretion systems are mainly up-regulated in Dyadobacter sp. HH091, expecting them to be crucial for the microcolonization process because they establish interaction with the host. Cell-host interaction and adhesion factors, as well as microcolonization development, and biofilm formation succeed to a closely interaction and an exchange of growth-promoting substances between the symbiont and microalga.

Surface exposed proteins that are covalently or non-covalently bound to the cell surface and proteins are secreted into the extracellular matrix using different secretion mechanisms (Dreisbach et al., 2010; Ythier et al., 2012; Solis et al., 2014; Hecker et al., 2018). Secreted proteins accommodate the majority of virulence factors, enzymes required for nutrient acquisition or cell spreading, immune evasion proteins that can bypass the immune system or interfere with components of the complement system and many others. Overall, secretion systems are known to transport effector proteins into the cytosol of eukaryotic cells that allows the direct communication and modification of the host cells, additionally suppressing any activity of competitive microorganisms (Wooldridge, 2009). Dyadobacter sp. HH091 has many unique features together with the complex of different secretion systems, which are available to arbitrate secretion of proteins across the outer membrane, including T9SS, a complex translocon found only in some species of the Bacteroidota phylum (Lasica et al., 2017; Astafyeva et al., 2022).

A complex translocon of T9SS, including *gld* and *spr* genes, and *porXY-sigP* signalling system components, are proposed to serve as the secretion system of cargo-proteins. The T9SS cargo proteins have a conserved C-terminal domain (CTD) that enables them pass *via* T9SS and an N-terminal signal peptide that guides T9SS cargo proteins through the Sec system (Veith et al., 2013; Kulkarni et al., 2017). The CTD signal has been identified to be of two types, type A and type B (Kulkarni et al., 2017; Gorasia et al., 2020). Subsequent to the early *Dyadobacter* genome studies (Astafyeva et al., 2022), high activity of T9SS cargo proteins has

been observed at this transcriptome analysis as well. It resulted in 48 up-regulated and 24 down-regulated genes, affiliated with T9SS cargo proteins of both types (Supplementary Table S5).

gldA, gldF and gldG encode components of an ATP-binding cassette (ABC) transporter that is required for motility and/or for the protein secretion (Agarwal et al., 1997; Hunnicutt et al., 2002). Genes encoding lipoproteins required for gliding (gldB, gldD, gldH, gldI, and gldJ) have also been identified (Hunnicutt and Mcbride, 2000; Hunnicutt and McBride, 2001; McBride and Braun, 2004; Braun and McBride, 2005). GldK, GldL, GldM, and GldN are each required for efficient motility and chitin utilization, indicating that Gld proteins may function in both gliding and chitin utilization (Braun et al., 2005). SprA is required for secretion of SprB and RemA and utilization of chitin (Nelson et al., 2007). In F. johnsoniae, SprA has been identified as the major translocon protein of T9SS, and it is hypothesized that SprA of Dyadobacter sp. HH091 can also have the same function (Lauber et al., 2018). Down-regulated gene coding for SprF is known to be essential for the secretion of SprB to the cell surface, but is not required for the secretion of extracellular chitinase (Rhodes et al., 2011). That also gives a hint that the symbiont possibly utilizes T9SS for the secretion of other proteins and not only involved in gliding motility.

Polysaccharide utilization is a crucial aspect of microalgae-bacteria interaction

T9SS is known to be tangled in the secretion of polysaccharide utilization proteins (Braun et al., 2005; Kharade and McBride, 2014). Previously, it was shown that the major chitinase (ChiA) in *F. johnsoniae* is fully secreted from the cell in soluble form by T9SS and is essential for chitin degradation (McBride and Zhu, 2013; Kharade and McBride, 2014; Larsbrink et al., 2016).

Based on genome and transcriptome analyses, presumably, Dyadobacter sp. HH091 has a complex of carbohydrate utilization domains for digestion of microalgae cell wall hemicelluloses, such as cellulose, xylan or mannan fibrils, and extensive matrix polysaccharides. Numerous carbohydrate-active enzymes predicted to encode GHs and esterases that could be involved in the degradation of microalgal cell wall hemicelluloses were highly active within transcriptome datasets (Supplementary Table S2). In addition candidates like xylanases, β-xylosidases, arabinofuranosidases, and beta-glucuronidases involved in xylan digestion, β-mannosidases involved in mannan digestion, and candidate β -glycosidases and endoglucanase that could be involved in xyloglucan digestion were also identified.

Data obtained from transcriptome analysis allows to better understand the nature of the involvement of bacterial polysaccharide utilization genes into bacteria-algae liaison. In our previous study, we observed that the genome of given symbiont possesses a wide assortment of CAZymes predicted to breach algal cell wall (Astafyeva et al., 2022). Deep investigation of transcriptome datasets unveiled the presence of these genes among DEGs. We observed that a significant number of genes (82) identified belonging to functions vital for carbohydrate transport and metabolism, including different GHs families, which are known to be involved into plant polysaccharides degradation (Kumar et al., 2017). For example, many up-regulated transcripts are affiliated with genes responsible for biosynthesis of GH5, GH13, GH25, GH30 and GH43 families enzymes, which function as effectors with roles in the degradation of plant polysaccharides (Rovenich et al., 2016; Snelders et al., 2018). These enzymes are known for acting as cellulose-degrading (Chang et al., 2016), starchdegrading (DeBoy et al., 2008), and catalysing hemicellulose and removing xyloses from xyloglucan (Glass et al., 2013; Bradley et al., 2022). Additionally, it was uncovered that genes affiliated with the synthesis of GH88 CAZyme, utilizing polysaccharide lyase activity to degrade pectins (Cantarel et al., 2009), was also up-regulated. Another highly active genes, coding for xylose isomerases, belong to CAZyme family GH43 that generally display specificity for arabinose-containing substrates. These gene combination reflects the competence of the symbiont to utilize starch and the complex of arabinan side-chains of pectin-rich cell walls as important nutrients (Ha et al., 2005; DeBoy et al., 2008).

Overall, our transcriptome analysis clearly showed, that bacteria can profit through the degradation of algal polysaccharides, while microalgae are being supplied with the repertoire of growth-promoting substances. The results of this research will serve as an efficient tool in further investigations of symbiotic microalgal-bacteria interactions. The remarkable benefit of a co-cultivation of microalgae and bacteria will have commercial and environmental positive impacts into the microalgal cultivation in the future.

Data availability statement

The datasets presented in this study can be found in online repositories. The names of the repository/repositories and accession number(s) can be found at: Genbank, ON237360.

Author contributions

YA and IK contributed to experimental design, lab work of metatranscriptomic, bioinformatics, and physiological analytical approaches, and writing of the research article. YA contributed to lab work of metatranscriptomic approaches and to assembly of metatranscriptomic datasets and bioinformatics approaches. MG and YA contributed to lab work of microscopic and analytical approaches. WS and IK contributed to general experimental design and writing of the research article. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Funding

This work was in part supported by the DAAD, and the BMBF programs MarBioTech (FKZ 031A565) and AquaHealth (FKZ 031B0945C).

Acknowledgments

The authors would like to thank the members of the "MZCH" for helpful discussion and for providing the microalgae samples. We also thank the Bioinformatics Core at the University Medical Center Hamburg-Eppendorf for excellent technical support, and help during the transcriptomic data analysis.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fmicb. 2022.1006609/full#supplementary-material

SUPPLEMENTARY FIGURE S1

Growth measurement (OD 750nm) of *Micrasterias radians* MZCH 672 in co-culture with the strain *Dyadobacter* sp. HH091. Increased growth rate (OD 750nm) can be observed in the co-culture with HH091 compared to the antibiotic-treated *M. radians* culture.

SUPPLEMENTARY FIGURE S2

Identification and validation of flexirubin pigments. Analysis of *Dyadobacter* sp. HH091, Maribacter dokdonemsis (yellow-pigment control, no flexirubin identified, Yoon et al., 2005), and Escherichia coli DH5a (negative control) strains for the presence of flexirubin pigments. Cells were photographed before treatment (I), after exposure to 50 μ L of 10 M KOH (II), and after exposure to KOH followed by exposure to 42 μ L 12 M HCI (III). Flexirubin-positive cells were yellow at neutral pH (I and III) and orange/red under alkaline conditions (II).

SUPPLEMENTARY TABLE S2

Differentially expressed genes (DEGs) of transcriptome dataset of *Dyadobacter* sp. HH091 co-cultured with *M. radians*.

SUPPLEMENTARY TABLE S5

Differently expressed genes (DEGs) coding for the T9SS cargo proteins.

39

References

Abt, B., Teshima, H., Lucas, S., Lapidus, A., Del Rio, T. G., Nolan, M., et al. (2011). Complete genome sequence of Leadbetterella byssophila type strain (4M15). *Stand. Genomic Sci.* 4, 2–12. doi: 10.4056/sigs.1413518

Agarwal, S., Hunnicutt, D. W., and McBride, M. J. (1997). Cloning and characterization of the Flavobacterium johnsoniae (Cytophaga johnsonae) gliding motility gene, gldA. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 94, 12139–12144. doi: 10.1073/pnas.94.22.12139

Andersen, R. A. (2005). Algal Culturing Techniques. College Park, MD: Phycological Society of America.

Astafyeva, Y., Gurschke, M., Qi, M., Bergmann, L., Indenbirken, D., de Grahl, I., et al. (2022). Microalgae and bacteria interaction—Evidence for division of diligence in the alga microbiota. *Microbiol. Spectr.* (in press).

Bradley, E. L., Ökmen, B., Doehlemann, G., Henrissat, B., Bradshaw, R. E., and Mesarich, C. H. (2022). Secreted glycoside hydrolase proteins as effectors and invasion patterns of plant-associated fungi and oomycetes. *Front. Plant Sci.* 13:853106. doi: 10.3389/fpls.2022.853106

Brameyer, S., Kresovic, D., Bode, H. B., and Heermann, R. (2015). Dialkylresorcinols as bacterial signalling molecules. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 112, 572–577. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1417685112

Braun, T. F., Khubbar, M. K., Saffarini, D. A., and McBride, M. J. (2005). Flavobacterium johnsoniae gliding motility genes identified by mariner mutagenesis. *J. Bacteriol.* 187, 6943–6952. doi: 10.1128/JB.187.20.6943-6952.2005

Braun, T. F., and McBride, M. J. (2005). Flavobacterium johnsoniae GldJ is a lipoprotein that is required for gliding motility. *J. Bacteriol.* 187, 2628–2637. doi: 10.1128/JB.187.8.2628-2637.2005

Cantarel, B. L., Coutinho, P. M., Rancurel, C., Bernard, T., Lombard, V., and Henrissat, B. (2009). The carbohydrate-active EnZymes database (CAZy): an expert resource for Glycogenomics. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 37, D233–D238. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkn663

Chang, H.-X., Yendrek, C. R., Caetano-Anolles, G., and Hartman, G. L. (2016). Genomic characterization of plant cell wall degrading enzymes and in silico analysis of xylanses and polygalacturonases of fusarium virguliforme. *BMC Microbiol.* 16:147. doi: 10.1186/s12866-016-0761-0

Chen, W.-M., Huang, W.-C., Young, C.-C., and Sheu, S.-Y. (2013). Flavobacterium tilapiae sp. nov., isolated from a freshwater pond, and emended descriptions of Flavobacterium defluvii and Flavobacterium johnsoniae. *Int. J. Syst. Evol. Microbiol.* 63, 827–834. doi: 10.1099/ijs.0.041178-0

Cirri, E., and Pohnert, G. (2019). Algae–bacteria interactions that balance the planktonic microbiome. *New Phytol.* 223, 100–106. doi: 10.1111/nph.15765

Combes, S., and Finet, J. P. (1997). A simple synthesis of the natural 2,5-Dialkylresorcinol free radical scavenger antioxidant: Resorstatin. *Synth. Commun.* 27, 3769–3778. doi: 10.1080/00397919708007301

Darehshouri, A., and Lütz-Meindl, U. (2010). H_2O_2 localization in the green alga Micrasterias after salt and osmotic stress by TEM-coupled electron energy loss spectroscopy. *Protoplasma* 239, 49–56. doi: 10.1007/s00709-009-0081-4

Davies, D. G., Parsek, M. R., Pearson, J. P., Iglewski, B. H., Costerton, J. W., and Greenberg, E. P. (1998). The involvement of cell-to-cell signals in the development of a bacterial biofilm. *Science* 280, 295–298. doi: 10.1126/science.280.5361.295

DeBoy, R. T., Mongodin, E. F., Fouts, D. E., Tailford, L. E., Khouri, H., Emerson, J. B., et al. (2008). Insights into plant cell wall degradation from the genome sequence of the soil bacterium Cellvibrio japonicus. *J. Bacteriol.* 190, 5455–5463. doi: 10.1128/JB.01701-07

Dreisbach, A., Hempel, K., Buist, G., Hecker, M., Becher, D., and van Dijl, J. M. (2010). Profiling the surfacome of Staphylococcus aureus. *Proteomics* 10, 3082–3096. doi: 10.1002/pmic.201000062

Droop, M. R. (1967). A procedure for routine purification of algal cultures with antibiotics. *Br. Phycol. Bull.* 3, 295–297. doi: 10.1080/00071616700650171

Felhofer, M., Mayr, K., Lütz-Meindl, U., and Gierlinger, N. (2021). Raman imaging of Micrasterias: new insights into shape formation. *Protoplasma* 258, 1323–1334. doi: 10.1007/s00709-021-01685-3

Foster, T. J., Geoghegan, J. A., Ganesh, V. K., and Höök, M. (2014). Adhesion, invasion and evasion: the many functions of the surface proteins of Staphylococcus aureus. *Nat. Rev. Microbiol.* 12, 49–62. doi: 10.1038/nrmicro3161

Gorasia, D. G., Lunar Silva, I., Butler, C. A., Chabalier, M., Doan, T., Cascales, E., et al. (2022). Protein Interactome analysis of the type IX secretion system identifies PorW as the missing link between the PorK/N ring complex and the Sov Translocon. *Microbiol. Spectr.* 10:e0160221. doi: 10.1128/spectrum.01602-21

Giovannoni, M., Gramegna, G., Benedetti, M., and Mattei, B. (2020). Industrial use of Cell Wall degrading enzymes: the fine line between production strategy and economic feasibility. *Front. Bioeng. Biotechnol.* 8:356. doi: 10.3389/fbioe.2020.00356

Glass, N. L., Schmoll, M., Cate, J. H. D., and Coradetti, S. (2013). Plant cell wall deconstruction by ascomycete fungi. *Annu. Rev. Microbiol.* 67, 477–498. doi: 10.1146/annurev-micro-092611-150044

Gorasia, D. G., Veith, P. D., and Reynolds, E. C. (2020). The type IX secretion system: advances in structure, function and organisation. *Microorganisms* 8:1173. doi: 10.3390/microorganisms8081173

Ha, M. A., Viëtor, R. J., Jardine, G. D., Apperley, D. C., and Jarvis, M. C. (2005). Conformation and mobility of the arabinan and galactan side-chains of pectin. *Phytochemistry* 66, 1817–1824. doi: 10.1016/j.phytochem.2005.06.001

Hecker, M., Mäder, U., and Völker, U. (2018). From the genome sequence via the proteome to cell physiology—Pathoproteomics and pathophysiology of Staphylococcus aureus. *Int. J. Med. Microbiol. IJMM* 308, 545–557. doi: 10.1016/j. ijmm.2018.01.002

Hennell, J. R., Deme, J. C., Kjær, A., Alcock, F., Silale, A., Lauber, F., et al. (2021). Structure and mechanism of the proton-driven motor that powers type 9 secretion and gliding motility. *Nat. Microbiol.* 6, 221–233. doi: 10.1038/ s41564-020-00823-6

Holt, R. A. (1993). "Bacterial cold-water disease," in *Bacterial Diseases of Fish*, (Blackwell Sci. Publ.), 3–22.

Hunnicutt, D. W., Kempf, M. J., and McBride, M. J. (2002). Mutations in Flavobacterium johnsoniae gldF and gldG disrupt gliding motility and interfere with membrane localization of GldA. *J. Bacteriol.* 184, 2370–2378. doi: 10.1128/JB.184.9.2370-2378.2002

Hunnicutt, D. W., and Mcbride, M. J. (2000). Cloning and characterization of the Flavobacterium johnsoniae gliding-motility genes gldB and gldC. *J. Bacteriol.* 182, 911–918. doi: 10.1128/JB.182.4.911-918.2000

Hunnicutt, D. W., and McBride, M. J. (2001). Cloning and characterization of the Flavobacterium johnsoniae gliding motility genes gldD and gldE. *J. Bacteriol.* 183, 4167–4175. doi: 10.1128/JB.183.14.4167-4175.2001

Kämpfer, P., McInroy, J. A., and Glaeser, S. P. (2015). Chryseobacterium rhizoplanae sp. nov., isolated from the rhizoplane environment. *Antonie Van Leeuwenhoek* 107, 533–538. doi: 10.1007/s10482-014-0349-3

Karpishin, T. (2018). Reducing tissue autofluorescence. *Genet. Eng. Biotechnol. News* 38, 16–17. doi: 10.1089/gen.38.05.05

Kharade, S. S., and McBride, M. J. (2014). Flavobacterium johnsoniae chitinase ChiA is required for chitin utilization and is secreted by the type IX secretion system. *J. Bacteriol.* 196, 961–970. doi: 10.1128/JB.01170-13

Kim, D., Langmead, B., and Salzberg, S. L. (2015). HISAT: a fast spliced aligner with low memory requirements. *Nat. Methods* 12, 357–360. doi: 10.1038/nmeth.3317

Kim, D., Pertea, G., Trapnell, C., Pimentel, H., Kelley, R., and Salzberg, S. L. (2013). TopHat2: accurate alignment of transcriptomes in the presence of insertions, deletions and gene fusions. *Genome Biol.* 14:R36. doi: 10.1186/gb-2013-14-4-r36

Krohn-Molt, I., Alawi, M., Förstner, K. U., Wiegandt, A., Burkhardt, L., Indenbirken, D., et al. (2017). Insights into microalga and bacteria interactions of selected Phycosphere biofilms using metagenomic, transcriptomic, and proteomic approaches. *Front. Microbiol.* 8:1941. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2017.01941

Krohn, I., Wemheuer, B., Alawi, M., Poehlein, A., Güllert, S., Schmeisser, C., et al. (2013). Metagenome survey of a multispecies and alga-associated biofilm revealed key elements of bacterial-algal interactions in Photobioreactors. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 79, 6196–6206. doi: 10.1128/AEM.01641-13

Krueger, F. (2012). Trim galore: a wrapper tool around Cutadapt and FastQC to consistently apply quality and adapter trimming to FastQ files, with some extra functionality for MspI-digested RRBS-type (reduced representation Bisufite-Seq) libraries. Available at: http://www.bioinformatics.babraham.ac.uk/projects/trim_galore/

Kulkarni, S. S., Zhu, Y., Brendel, C. J., and McBride, M. J. (2017). Diverse C-terminal sequences involved in Flavobacterium johnsoniae protein secretion. *J. Bacteriol.* 199:e00884-16. doi: 10.1128/JB.00884-16

Kumar, A., Pandey, V., Singh, M., Pandey, D., Saharan, M. S., and Marla, S. S. (2017). Draft genome sequence of Karnal bunt pathogen (Tilletia indica) of wheat provides insights into the pathogenic mechanisms of quarantined fungus. *PLoS One* 12:e0171323. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0171323

Kusch, H., and Engelmann, S. (2014). Secrets of the secretome in Staphylococcus aureus. *Int. J. Med. Microbiol.* 304, 133–141. doi: 10.1016/j.ijmm.2013.11.005

Larsbrink, J., Zhu, Y., Kharade, S. S., Kwiatkowski, K. J., Eijsink, V. G., Koropatkin, N. M., et al. (2016). A polysaccharide utilization locus from Flavobacterium johnsoniae enables conversion of recalcitrant chitin. *Biotechnol. Biofuels* 9:260. doi: 10.1186/s13068-016-0674-z

Lasica, A. M., Ksiazek, M., Madej, M., and Potempa, J. (2017). The type IX secretion system (T9SS): highlights and recent insights into its structure and function. *Front. Cell. Infect. Microbiol.* 7:215. doi: 10.3389/fcimb.2017.00215

Lauber, F., Deme, J. C., Lea, S. M., and Berks, B. C. (2018). Type 9 secretion system structures reveal a new protein transport mechanism. *Nature* 564, 77–82. doi: 10.1038/s41586-018-0693-y

Lee, H. G., Shin, S. Y., Jin, L., Yoo, C., Srivastava, A., La, H. J., et al. (2015). Establishment and maintenance of an axenic culture of Ettlia sp. using a species-specific approach. *Biotechnol. Bioprocess Eng.* 20, 1056–1063. doi: 10.1007/s12257-015-0289-4

Levasseur, A., Drula, E., Lombard, V., Coutinho, P. M., and Henrissat, B. (2013). Expansion of the enzymatic repertoire of the CAZy database to integrate auxiliary redox enzymes. *Biotechnol. Biofuels* 6:41. doi: 10.1186/1754-6834-6-41

Luo, H., and Moran, M. A. (2014). Evolutionary ecology of the marine Roseobacter clade. *Microbiol. Mol. Biol.Rev. MMBR* 78, 573–587. doi: 10.1128/MMBR.00020-14

Lütz-Meindl, U. (2016). Micrasterias as a model system in plant cell biology. *Front. Plant Sci.* 7:999. doi: 10.3389/fpls.2016.00999

Marshall, J.-A., de Salas, M., Oda, T., and Hallegraeff, G. (2005). Superoxide production by marine microalgae. *Mar. Biol.* 147, 533–540. doi: 10.1007/s00227-005-1596-7

McBride, M. J., and Braun, T. F. (2004). GldI is a lipoprotein that is required for Flavobacterium johnsoniae gliding motility and chitin utilization. *J. Bacteriol.* 186, 2295–2302. doi: 10.1128/JB.186.8.2295-2302.2004

McBride, M. J., Xie, G., Martens, E. C., Lapidus, A., Henrissat, B., Rhodes, R. G., et al. (2009). Novel features of the polysaccharide-digesting gliding bacterium Flavobacterium johnsoniae as revealed by genome sequence analysis. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 75, 6864–6875. doi: 10.1128/AEM.01495-09

McBride, M. J., and Zhu, Y. (2013). Gliding motility and Por secretion system genes are widespread among members of the phylum Bacteroidetes. *J. Bacteriol.* 195, 270–278. doi: 10.1128/JB.01962-12

McBride, M. J. (2019). Bacteroidetes gliding motility and the type IX secretion system. *Microbiol. Spectr.* 7:7.1.15. doi: 10.1128/microbiolspec.PSIB-0002-2018

McClure, R., Balasubramanian, D., Sun, Y., Bobrovskyy, M., Sumby, P., Genco, C. A., et al. (2013). Computational analysis of bacterial RNA-Seq data. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 41:e140. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkt444

Mizgalska, D., Goulas, T., Rodríguez-Banqueri, A., Veillard, F., Madej, M., Małecka, E., et al. (2021). Intermolecular latency regulates the essential C-terminal signal peptidase and sortase of the Porphyromonas gingivalis type-IX secretion system. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 118:e2103573118. doi: 10.1073/pnas.2103573118

Mogadem, A., Almamary, M. A., Mahat, N. A., Jemon, K., Ahmad, W. A., and Ali, I. (2021). Antioxidant activity evaluation of FlexirubinType pigment from Chryseobacterium artocarpi CECT 8497 and related docking study. *Molecules* 26:979. doi: 10.3390/molecules26040979

Mouget, J.-L., Dakhama, A., Lavoie, M. C., and de la Noüe, J. (1995). Algal growth enhancement by bacteria: is consumption of photosynthetic oxygen involved? *FEMS Microbiol. Ecol.* 18, 35–43. doi: 10.1016/0168-6496(95)00038-C

Mullan, K. A., Bramberger, L. M., Munday, P. R., Goncalves, G., Revote, J., Mifsud, N. A., et al. (2021). ggVolcanoR: a shiny app for customizable visualization of differential expression datasets. *Comput. Struct. Biotechnol. J.* 19, 5735–5740. doi: 10.1016/j.csbj.2021.10.020

Nelson, S. S., Glocka, P. P., Agarwal, S., Grimm, D. P., and McBride, M. J. (2007). Flavobacterium johnsoniae SprA is a cell surface protein involved in gliding motility. J. Bacteriol. 189, 7145–7150. doi: 10.1128/JB.00892-07

Nowak-Thompson, B., Hammer, P. E., Hill, D. S., Stafford, J., Torkewitz, N., Gaffney, T. D., et al. (2003). 2,5-Dialkylresorcinol biosynthesis in Pseudomonas aurantiaca: novel head-to-head condensation of two fatty acid-derived precursors. *J. Bacteriol.* 185, 860–869. doi: 10.1128/JB.185.3.860-869.2003

Palenik, B., Zafiriou, O. C., and Morel, F. M. M. (1987). Hydrogen peroxide production by a marine phytoplankter1. *Limnol. Oceanogr.* 32, 1365–1369. doi: 10.4319/lo.1987.32.6.1365

Ramanan, R., Kim, B.-H., Cho, D.-H., Oh, H.-M., and Kim, H.-S. (2016). Algaebacteria interactions: evolution, ecology and emerging applications. *Biotechnol. Adv.* 34, 14–29. doi: 10.1016/j.biotechadv.2015.12.003

Reasoner, D. J., and Geldreich, E. E. (1985). A new medium for the enumeration and subculture of bacteria from potable water. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 49, 1–7. doi: 10.1128/aem.49.1.1-7.1985

Rhodes, R. G., Samarasam, M. N., Van Groll, E. J., and McBride, M. J. (2011). Mutations in Flavobacterium johnsoniae sprE result in defects in gliding motility and protein secretion. *J. Bacteriol.* 193, 5322–5327. doi: 10.1128/ JB.05480-11 Romanenko, L. A., Tanaka, N., Svetashev, V. I., Kurilenko, V. V., and Mikhailov, V. V. (2015). Flavobacterium maris sp. nov. isolated from shallow sediments of the sea of Japan. *Arch. Microbiol.* 197, 941–947. doi: 10.1007/s00203-015-1128-x

Rovenich, H., Zuccaro, A., and Thomma, B. P. H. J. (2016). Convergent evolution of filamentous microbes towards evasion of glycan-triggered immunity. *New Phytol.* 212, 896–901. doi: 10.1111/nph.14064

Saiki, K., and Konishi, K. (2007). Identification of a Porphyromonas gingivalis novel protein Sov required for the secretion of Gingipains. *Microbiol. Immunol.* 51, 483–491. doi: 10.1111/j.1348-0421.2007.tb03936.x

Sambrook, J. F., and Russell, D. (2001). Molecular Cloning: A Laboratory Manual (3-Volume Set). Vol. 1. 3rd Edn. New York: Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press.

Schöner, T. A., Fuchs, S. W., Schönau, C., and Bode, H. B. (2014). Initiation of the flexirubin biosynthesis in Chitinophaga pinensis. *Microb. Biotechnol.* 7, 232–241. doi: 10.1111/1751-7915.12110

Schöner, T. A., Kresovic, D., and Bode, H. B. (2015). Biosynthesis and function of bacterial dialkylresorcinol compounds. *Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol.* 99, 8323–8328. doi: 10.1007/s00253-015-6905-6

Shen, Y., and Benner, R. (2018). Mixing it up in the ocean carbon cycle and the removal of refractory dissolved organic carbon. *Sci. Rep.* 8:2542. doi: 10.1038/ s41598-018-20857-5

Snelders, N. C., Kettles, G. J., Rudd, J. J., and Thomma, B. P. H. J. (2018). Plant pathogen effector proteins as manipulators of host microbiomes? *Mol. Plant Pathol.* 19, 257–259. doi: 10.1111/mpp.12628

Solis, N., Parker, B. L., Kwong, S. M., Robinson, G., Firth, N., and Cordwell, S. J. (2014). Staphylococcus aureus surface proteins involved in adaptation to oxacillin identified using a novel cell shaving approach. *J. Proteome Res.* 13, 2954–2972. doi: 10.1021/pr500107p

Stein, J. R. (1973). Handbook of Phycological Methods: Culture Methods and Growth Measurements. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press), 56–60.

Szklarczyk, D., Gable, A. L., Nastou, K. C., Lyon, D., Kirsch, R., Pyysalo, S., et al. (2021). The STRING database in 2021: customizable protein-protein networks, and functional characterization of user-uploaded gene/measurement sets. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 49, D605–D612. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkaa1074

Trapnell, C., Roberts, A., Goff, L., Pertea, G., Kim, D., Kelley, D. R., et al. (2012). Differential gene and transcript expression analysis of RNA-seq experiments with TopHat and cufflinks. *Nat. Protoc.* 7, 562–578. doi: 10.1038/ nprot.2012.016

Trivedi, A., Gosai, J., Nakane, D., and Shrivastava, A. (2022). Design principles of the rotary type 9 secretion system. *Front. Microbiol.* 13:845563. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2022.845563

Veith, P. D., Nor Muhammad, N. A., Dashper, S. G., Likić, V. A., Gorasia, D. G., Chen, D., et al. (2013). Protein substrates of a novel secretion system are numerous in the Bacteroidetes phylum and have in common a cleavable C-terminal secretion signal, extensive post-translational modification, and cell-surface attachment. *J. Proteome Res.* 12, 4449–4461. doi: 10.1021/pr400487b

Veith, P. D., Glew, M. D., Gorasia, D. G., Cascales, E., and Reynolds, E. C. (2022). The type IX secretion system and its role in bacterial function and pathogenesis. *J. Dent. Res.* 101, 374–383. doi: 10.1177/00220345211051599

Venil, C. K., Sathishkumar, P., Malathi, M., Usha, R., Jayakumar, R., Yusoff, A. R. M., et al. (2016). Synthesis of flexirubin-mediated silver nanoparticles using Chryseobacterium artocarpi CECT 8497 and investigation of its anticancer activity. *Mater. Sci. Eng. C* 59, 228–234. doi: 10.1016/j. msec.2015.10.019

Whitman, T., Neurath, R., Perera, A., Chu-Jacoby, I., Ning, D., Zhou, J., et al. (2018). Microbial community assembly differs across minerals in a rhizosphere microcosm. *Environ. Microbiol.* 20, 4444–4460. doi: 10.1111/1462-2920.14366

Wooldridge, K. (ed.) (2009). Bacterial Secreted Proteins. Centre for Biomolecular Sciences, University of Nottingham, UK: Caister Academic Press.

Yoon, J. H., Kang, S. J., Lee, S. Y., Lee, C. H., and Oh, T. K. (2005). Maribacter dokdonensis sp. nov., isolated from sea water off a Korean island, Dokdo. *Int. J. Syst. Evol. Microbiol.* 55, 2051–2055. doi: 10.1099/ijs.0.63777-0

Ythier, M., Resch, G., Waridel, P., Panchaud, A., Gfeller, A., Majcherczyk, P., et al. (2012). Proteomic and transcriptomic profiling of Staphylococcus aureus surface LPXTG-proteins: correlation with agr genotypes and adherence phenotypes. *Mol. Cell. Proteomics MCP* 11, 1123–1139. doi: 10.1074/mcp.M111.014191

41

4 HEALTH BENEFITS OF MICROALGAE AND THEIR MICROBIOMES

Health benefits of microalgae and their microbiomes.

Ines Krohn¹, Simon Menanteau-Ledouble², Gunhild Hageskal³, Yekaterina Astafyeva¹, Pierre Jouannais⁴, Jeppe Lund Nielsen², Massimo Pizzol⁴, Alexander Wentzel³ and Wolfgang R. Streit¹

¹ University of Hamburg, Institute of Plant Science and Microbiology, Department of Microbiology and Biotechnology, Hamburg, Germany

- ² Department for Chemistry and Bioscience, Aalborg University, Aalborg, Denmark
- ³ Department of Biotechnology and Nanomedicine, SINTEF Industry, Trondheim, Norway
- ⁴ Department of Planning, Aalborg University, Aalborg, Denmark

Published in:

Microbial Biotechnology, https://doi.org/10.1111/1751-7915.14082

18 pages

Open Access

Minireview

Health benefits of microalgae and their microbiomes

Ines Krohn¹ D Simon Menanteau-Ledouble,² D Gunhild Hageskal,³ D Yekaterina Astafyeva,¹ Pierre Jouannais,⁴ D Jeppe Lund Nielsen,² D Massimo Pizzol,⁴ D Alexander Wentzel³ and Wolfgang R. Streit¹ D ¹Department of Microbiology and Biotechnology.

University of Hamburg, Hamburg, Germany. ²Department for Chemistry and Bioscience, Aalborg University, Aalborg, Denmark. ³Department of Biotechnology and Nanomedicine, SINTEF Industry, Trondheim, Norway. ⁴Department of Planning, Aalborg University, Aalborg, Denmark.

Summary

Microalgae comprise a phylogenetically very diverse group of photosynthetic unicellular pro- and eukaryotic organisms growing in marine and other aguatic environments. While they are well explored for the generation of biofuels, their potential as a source of antimicrobial and prebiotic substances have recently received increasing interest. Within this framework, microalgae may offer solutions to the societal challenge we face, concerning the lack of antibiotics treating the growing level of antimicrobial resistant bacteria and fungi in clinical settings. While the vast majority of microalgae and their associated microbiota remain unstudied, they may be a fascinating and rewarding source for novel and more sustainable antimicrobials and alternative molecules and compounds. In this review, we present an overview of the current knowledge on health benefits of

Received 29 November, 2021; revised 10 May, 2022; accepted 11 May, 2022.

For correspondence. *E-mail ines.krohn@uni-hamburg.de; Tel. (+49) 40-42816-463/-402; Fax (+49) 40-42816-459. *Microbial Biotechnology* (2022) 15(7), 1966–1983.

doi:10.1111/1751-7915.14082

Funding Information

This work was in part supported by the programme MarBioTech (FKZ 031A565), SuReMetS (FKZ 031B0944A) and AquaHealth (FKZ 031B0945C).

microalgae and their associated microbiota. Finally, we describe remaining issues and limitation, and suggest several promising research potentials that should be given attention.

Introduction and background

Microalgae and their associated microbiota grow and survive in all climate zones and many species are well adapted to extreme temperatures and pH values. Since microalgae are photosynthetic active organisms, which can be grown under a wide variety of conditions, they are highly attractive for the biotechnological production of a wide range of different chemical compounds. They are particularly well known for their use in the production of advanced biofuels (e.g. drop-in biofuels and fourth-generation biofuels) and to some extend for the production of bioplastics (Chisti, 2007; Mata *et al.*, 2010; Hempel *et al.*, 2011; Rahman and Miller, 2017; Khan *et al.*, 2018; Onen Cinar *et al.*, 2020; Keasling *et al.*, 2021).

Recently, it has become clear that algae and their microbiota harbour a large and diverse set of genes for the biosynthesis of molecules that supress bacterial pathogens (Table 1) (Krohn-Molt *et al.*, 2013, 2017). One of the example are sterols with anti-inflammatory capacity, like diacylglycerols, triacylglycerols and phytosterols (Ostlund *et al.*, 2003; Bilbao *et al.*, 2016; Randhir

© 2022 The Authors. *Microbial Biotechnology* published by Society for Applied Microbiology and John Wiley & Sons Ltd. This is an open access article under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

Table 1. Key features and bioinformatical analysis of microalgae genomes and metagenomes.

Key features and bioinformatical analysis of microalgae genomes and metagenomes	Chlamy- domonas reinhardii	Arthro- spira pla- tensis	<i>Oscilla-toria acuminata</i> PCC 6304	<i>Gloeo-</i> <i>capsa</i> sp.	Chryso- chromu-lina tobin	Chlorella variabilis NC64A	<i>Cocco- myxa subellip- soidea</i> C- 169	<i>Oceani-caulis</i> sp. HL-87 GFM and their micro- biome	<i>Lyngbya</i> sp. HA4199-MV5 and their micro-biome	<i>Scene-desmus quadri-cauda and their micro-biome</i>	<i>Micras-terias</i> <i>crux-melitensis</i> and their micro- biome	Chlorella saccharo-phila and their micro-biome	<i>Chlorella</i> <i>soro-kiniana</i> and their micro-biome
IMG ID	2614208541	650377906	2509276028	2503754017	3300021056	2507525016	2507525016	2588	3300	3300	3300008886	3300	3300
Size (bp)	111100715	6788435	7804270	5882710	101136936	2758551	2758551	2758551	56655633	168690013	268162588	174773 623	2758551
Antibacterial activity Dienelactone	6	4	3	6	40	2	2	3	52	75	255	100	60
hydrolase	0	•	0	Ū		-	-	0	02		200		
Imidazolone-	1	0	0	0	23	1	0	5	42	57	205	97	37
6-phosphogluco-	2	1	2	1	21	3	1	0	26	36	115	54	16
Metal-dependent	0	3	3	0	14	0	0	1	13	23	96	34	14
hydrolases,	Ū	0	0	0		Ū	Ū		10	20		01	
Sugar lactone	0	0	1	2	24	3	3	1	43	74	202	113	30
	5	4	5	6	0	3	5	5	0	0	0	0	0
acid, decylic acid (tetradecanoate)	5	-	5	0	0	5	5	5	0	0	0	0	0
Palmitoleic acid	12	8	8	10	0	13	11	8	151	0	0	0	0
(palmitoleate)		•	-		-			-		-	-	-	-
gamma-Linolenic acid, γ-linolenic acid (γ-	4	2	2	2	0	4	5	1	28	0	0	0	0
linolenate)													
Arachidonic acid,	17	0	0	0	0	22	38	0	0	0	0	0	0
polyunsaturated													
omega-6 fatty acid													
(arachidonate)						10			=0				
acid (DHA)	18	1	1	0	0	40	32	6	72	0	0	0	0
Eicosapentaenoic acid	13	1	1	0	0	31	49	6	47	0	0	0	0
(EPA)													
(docosapentae-													
Antiviral activity													
Phycoerythrobilin	2	2	4	2	0	6	4	0	2	0	0	0	0
Phycocyanobilin	1	2	3	2	0	4	3	0	1	0	0	0	0
biosynthesis		0	0	0	0	4	0	0		0	0	0	0
biosynthesis	I	2	3	2	0	4	3	0	I	0	0	0	0
Phycourobilin	1	1	2	1	0	3	2	0	2	0	0	0	0
biosvnthesis	•	•	-	·	Ū	C	-	•	-	0	0	0	0
Exopolysaccharide biosynthesis	0	3	1	6	22	1	0	2	31	54	121	55	32
D-galactose	1	1	2	5	18	2	1	0	21	43	199	97	29
biosynthesis													
L-arabinose biosynthesis	0	0	0	0	4	0	1	0	2	1	20	4	3
D-xylose biosynthesis	1	1	2	1	2	1	1	0	4		37	13	4

© 2022 The Authors. *Microbial Biotechnology* published by Society for Applied Microbiology and John Wiley & Sons Ltd., *Microbial Biotechnology*, **15**, 1966–1983

Health benefits 1967

Table 1. (Continued)

Key features and bioinformatical analysis of microalgae genomes and metagenomes	Chlamy- domonas reinhardii	Arthro- spira pla- tensis	<i>Oscilla-toria acuminata</i> PCC 6304	<i>Gloeo- capsa</i> sp.	Chryso- chromu-lina tobin	<i>Chlorella variabilis</i> NC64A	<i>Cocco- myxa subellip- soidea</i> C- 169	<i>Oceani-caulis</i> sp. HL-87 GFM and their micro- biome	<i>Lyngbya</i> sp. HA4199-MV5 and their micro-biome	<i>Scene-desmus quadri-cauda and their micro-biome</i>	<i>Micras-terias</i> <i>crux-melitensis</i> and their micro- biome	Chlorella saccharo-phila and their micro-biome	Chlorella soro-kiniana and their micro-biome
L-rhamnose	0	6	7	8	34	3	2	4	45	64	282	146	55
biosynthesis D-galacturonate biosynthesis (D-	1	1	1	1	7	0	0	1	10	12	52	32	8
Mannose biosynthesis	4	6	6	6	30	4	7	2	39	63	290	144	51
Fucose biosynthesis	0	4	4	3	35	1	1	2	38	66	264	135	53
Antioxidant activity													
Superoxide dismutase	6	0	2	2	15	4	6	1	18	22	90	46	20
Cu/Zn superoxide dismutase	0	0	0	0	6	0	0	0	6	8	23	9	4
Rhodanese-related	11	3	4	5	44	10	8	0	43	53	118	55	57
Catalase (peroxidase	1	0	0	0	15	0	0	1	14	28	86	44	16
l) Catalasa	1	0	0	2	10	1	4	0	10	10	51	20	10
Ma-containing	1	0	1	2	10	1	4	0	2	19	21 8	30	10
catalase (includes spore coat protein CotJC)	0	0	1	2	0	0	0	0	2	0	0	3	4
Ferritin, oxidative damage protectant	6	2	3	5	8	0	0	4	67	18	61	28	13
Glutaredoxin	8	4	3	4	41	13	8	4	50	59	188	112	38
Glutathione	4	0	0	0	27	6	3	0	12	18	64	29	18
Cytochrome c	0	1	0	1	4	0	0	0	6	17	68	21	15
Alkylhydroperoxidase	0	0	0	1	13	0	0	1	69	72	276	138	64
Deferrochelatase/	0	0	4	0	1	0	0	0	5	11	41	26	01
peroxidase	-	-		-		•	-	-	-				
Peroxiredoxin	9	11	12	8	54	9	11	6	54	78	314	139	74
Chlorophyll a	5	4	4	4	0	6	6	0	5	0	0	0	0
biosynthesis													
Carotenoid	0	0	2	0	0	13	13	0	0	0	0	0	0
biosynthesis													
Lutein biosynthesis	2	2	0	3	0	2	3	1	6	0	0	0	0
Zeaxanthin epoxidase	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	0	0
Violaxanthin de- epoxidase	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	0	0
astaxanthin biosynthesis	0	0	0	2	0	1	1	0	8	0	0	0	0
Anti-inflammatory and anti-cancer properties													
Phytosterol	5	0	0	0	0	5	7	0	1	0	0	0	0
biosynthesis													
Zymosterol biosynthesis	1	0	0	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	0	0
Ergosterol	7	0	0	0	0	7	7	0	2	0	0	0	0
biosynthesis	10	-	0	0	0	10	24	0	3	0	0	0	0
biosynthesis	13	0	J	J	5	13	<u>_</u>	v	U	v	v	v	v

Table 1	(Continued)
Table I.	Continued)

Key features and bioinformatical analysis of microalgae genomes and metagenomes	Chlamy- domonas reinhardii	Arthro- spira pla- tensis	<i>Oscilla-toria acuminata</i> PCC 6304	<i>Gloeo-</i> <i>capsa</i> sp.	Chryso- chromu-lina tobin	Chlorella variabilis NC64A	<i>Cocco- myxa subellip- soidea</i> C- 169	<i>Oceani-caulis</i> sp. HL-87 GFM and their micro- biome	<i>Lyngbya</i> sp. HA4199-MV5 and their micro-biome	<i>Scene-desmus</i> <i>quadri-cauda</i> <i>a</i> nd their micro- biome	<i>Micras-terias</i> <i>crux-melitensis</i> and their micro- biome	Chlorella saccharo-phila and their micro-biome	Chlorella soro-kiniana and their micro-biome
Sulfoquinovosyl diacylglycerol	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	0	4	1	0	1	1
Diacylglycerol and triacylglycerol biosynthesis	10	3	2	2	40	14	14	3	43	65	254	125	48
Diogramosios and immunomodulatory activity													
1,4-alpha-glucan	4	2	3	3	0	2	2	0	12	0	0	0	0
Bacterial-like globin (possible	11	0	1	1	0	5	2	1	15	0	0	0	0
phycocyanins) Carotenoid cleavage dioxygenase or a related enzyme	5	1	2	2	0	5	6	1	12	0	0	0	0
Bacterial lipopolysaccharides biosynthesis (LPS)	3	5	6	10	21	0	0	2	54	28	33	13	8
Prebiotic activity													
Beta-1,3-glucan (paramylon) synthase	0	0	0	0	0	4	1	0	0	0	0	0	0
mycolyl- arabinogalactan- peptidoglycan complex biosynthesis	1	3	5	9	0	2	1	2	22	0	0	0	0
Cellulose biosynthesis	0	1	6	3	0	2	8	4	14	0	0	0	0
Algin biosynthesis (GDP-mannose	4	6	6	6	0	4	7	2	39	0	0	0	0
GDP-L-fucose	0	2	2	1	0	0	1	0	17	0	0	0	0
biosyntnesis dTDP-3-acetamido-α- D-fucose biosynthesis	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
agar; carrageenans biosynthesis (β-D-; α-D-: α-L-galactose)	2	1	2	5	0	3	2	0	21	0	0	0	0
GDP-L-fucose synthetase	0	2	0	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0
Beta-galactosidase	2	0	1	2	0	2	11	0	16	0	0	0	0

Key features of antibacterial, antiviral, antioxidant activity and anti-inflammatory and anti-cancer properties as well as immune promoters and immunomodulatory activity of microalgae communities' genomes and metagenomes using IMG function search including IMG ID and total size of bp. Data shown in total number of hits for possible antibacterial activity, antiviral activity, antioxidant activity, anti-inflammatory and anti-cancer properties, and immune promoters and immunomodulatory activity.



Fig. 1. Applications for microalgae including their microbiomes. Overview of potential microalgae and their communities' production and application fields; mainly reflecting clinical and human health, animal health and plant protection.

et al., 2020). In this respect, they bear a great potential to make major contributions to important societal needs linked to the treatment of infections due to human, animal and plant pathogenic microorganisms (Fig. 1). The appearance of untreatable antibiotic resistant microorganisms in clinical settings is a major concern to human health (O'Neill, 2016; WHO, 2019). Thus, there is a need to develop novel antimicrobials that are distinct in their mode of action from those already known and on the market. The awareness in the scientific community about the largely unexplored potential in microalgae has led to increased interest during the last decade, as evidenced by an exponential increase in the number of publications and patents on the subject of microalgae and health. However, compared to the large number of microalgal species, our knowledge remains sparse, and further research requires a focused and more systematic approach to better explore this promising resource with a special emphasis on human, animal and plant health and well-being. Here, we summarize current knowledge on the benefits of microalgae in health management. We further point out current limitations hindering their exploitation and address technologies that could provide a basis for a more systematic exploitation of their potential.

Antibacterial activity

Quorum sensing and quorum quenching as drives for antibiofilm strategies

Quorum sensing (QS) and Quorum Quenching (QQ) play an important role in the expression of virulence factors and antimicrobial resistance, and are involved in the formation of bacterial biofilms (Ahlgren *et al.*, 2011; Waters and Goldberg, 2019). The latter are of major concern in clinical and industrial settings, as they are very difficult to control and treat and cause severe problems in patients and industries. Both QQ and various mechanisms of QS interference have been outlined and discussed as possible strategies to prevent and treat microbial biofilm formation (Singh *et al.*, 2000; Ahlgren *et al.*, 2011; Fetzner, 2015; Waters and Goldberg, 2019).



Fig. 2. Molecular structures. Selected biologically active compounds derived from microalgae and their associated microbiota. Antibacterial activity: Phycocyanin (Wang *et al.*, 2001), Phycoerythrocyanin (Schmidt *et al.*, 2006), Antiviral activity: Cyanovirin N (Yang *et al.*, 1999), Oscillatorial lectin (Koharudin *et al.*, 2011), Antioxidant activity: Malondialdehyde (MDA), Astaxanthin (https://pubchem.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/) Antiinflammatory and anti-cancer properties: Saringosterol, Phytosterols (https://pubchem.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/). Marvin was used for drawing, displaying and characterizing chemical structures, substructures and reactions, Marvin version 21.17.0, ChemAxon (https://www.chemaxon.com). UCSF Chimera was used for molecular modelling and for analysis of molecular structures, developed by the Resource for Biocomputing, Visualization and Informatics at the University of California, San Francisco, with support from NIH P41-GM103311 (https://www.cgl.ucsf.edu/chimera/ docs/credits.html).

Microalgae and their associated bacterial microbiota may be valuable tools to further verify this concept (Table 1).

Microalgae microbiomes offer both QQ enzymes and a broad variety of QS molecules that have been shown to interfere with pathogens (Ghanei-Motlagh et al., 2021a, 2021b). In this framework, the screening of 19 strains of microalgae, reported that one microbial community of Chlorella saccharophila and one of Chlorella vulgaris both degraded N-acyl homoserine lactones (AHLs), resulting in the inhibition of violacein production in the reporter strain (Natrah et al., 2011). When using a E. coli (JB523)-strain sensitive to N-(3-oxohexanoyl)-L-homoserine lactone, the C. saccharophila associated microbiome was found to significantly suppress bacterial QS and further to inhibit AHL-regulated bioluminescence in the pathogen Vibrio harveyi (Natrah et al., 2011). AHL degradation can occur indirectly, such as in cultures of Tetraselmis suecica and Chaetoceros muelleri that were associated with AHLdegrading bacteria belonging to the genera Bacillus and Pseudomonas (Pande et al., 2015). These bacterial isolates were found to degrade AHL molecules, and Bacillus sp. was reported to suppress the guorum sensing system of Vibrio campbelli and thus protected the larvae of the giant river prawn (Macrobrachium rosenbergii) from infection, improving survival from 42 to 67% during an infection challenge.

Another route of interference with quorum sensing systems is through the secretion of molecular mimics. In

general, in Gram-negative bacteria, many important changes in gene expression and behaviour are regulated in a population density-dependent fashion by N-acyl homoserine lactone (AHL) signal molecules. Plants are able to secrete substances, which mimic bacterial N-acyl homoserine lactones. These mechanisms affect population density-dependent behaviours in associated bacteria. For example, ethyl acetate, extracted AHL mimics from *Chlamydomonas reinhardii*, was found to affect the expression of 34 proteins, 25 of which were also affected by AHL (Teplitski *et al.*, 2004).

The analysis of algae and microalga microbiomes available at IMG/MER (https://img.jgi.doe.gov) revealed numerous QQ genes. The study of metagenomes of *Scenedesmus quadricauda*, *Chlorella saccharophila*, *Chlorella sorokiniana* and *Micrasterias crux-melitensis* unveiled dienelactone hydrolases, imidazolonepropionases, 6-phosphogluconolactonases and metaldependent hydrolases, associated with QQ, which are potential candidates for overexpression experiments and biotechnological studies (Table 1).

Phycobiliproteins have antimicrobial effects

Multiple compounds from microalgae and their affiliated microbiota have been reported to have antimicrobial properties, sometimes as a secondary benefit distinct from their primary function. This is the case for

phycobiliproteins, a family of water-soluble lightharvesting pigments, that play a central role in the photosynthesis of cyanobacteria and the red algae Rhodophyta. Phycobiliproteins are divided into four groups: phycocyanin, phycoerythrin, phycoerythrocyanin and allophycocyanin, of which phycocyanin is the most common in the environment (Li et al., 2019, Pagels et al., 2019, Fig. 2). Overall, in our bioinformatic analyses, it was found that publicly available genomes of Chlorella variabilis NC64A and Coccomvxa subellipsoidea C-169 (IMG ID 2507525016) contain phycoerythrobilin, phycocyanobilin, phycoviolobilin and phycourobilin biosynthesis genes (Table 1). For example, screening of 19 microalgae supernatants containing the whole microbial community identified multiple active phycobiliproteins, including phycocyanin and phycoerythrin, which exhibited significant antifungal property and growth inhibition of both Gram-positive and -negative bacteria (Najdenski et al., 2013). A phycobiliprotein extract from Arthrospira platensis was found to have antifungal effect against the plant pathogen Botrytis *cinerea* when applied at doses from 0.3 to 4.8 mg ml⁻¹, both reducing the fungal growth as well as protecting tomato fruits from infection (Righini et al., 2020). Interestingly, environmental conditions have been found to affect the production of phycobiliproteins, both in terms of quantity and of the distribution of phycobiliprotein produced, with factors such as the pH, guality of light and nutrient source all having a significant effect (Pagels et al., 2019). Khattar et al. (2015) reported optimized culture conditions for Anabaena fertilissima that involved a slightly alkaline pH as well as supplement of nitrite and illumination with blue light, resulting in a 1.6-fold increase in the total production of phycobiliproteins (from 383 to 627 µg mg⁻¹; P < 0.05) and a 4.5-fold in the production of phycoerythrin (from slightly more than 100 to almost 500 μ g mg⁻¹; P < 0.05). Overall, as every microalgae will require its own optimization to achieve its maximum potential, it is one of the main issues for practical application of these products.

Fatty acids play a key role as antimicrobials

Fatty acids, including those from microalgae, have strong antimicrobial effects. Notably, extracts from cyanobacteria have been shown to be inhibitory against *Streptococcus pyogenes* and *Staphylococcus aureus*, while fatty acids from the cyanobacterium *Synechocystis* sp. were inhibitory against *Bacillus cereus*, *Escherichia coli* and the yeast *Candida albicans* (Najdenski *et al.*, 2013). Ruffel et al. tested 29 different types of purified fatty acids from different species of microalgae using disk-diffusion assay. The results show, that 3 of 29 fatty acids were inhibitory against *E. coli*, while 15 were inhibitory against *S. aureus* (Ruffell *et al.*, 2016). The effective dose ranged from 250 to 2000 μ g per disk and polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFA) were found to be more significantly more likely to display antimicrobial activity compared to monounsaturated or saturated acids (11 of 13, compared to two of seven and two of nine respectively).

Testing of extracts from Chlorococcum strain HS-IO1 and Dunaliella primolecta showed that a-linolenic acid from these algae had antimicrobial properties against methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus (MRSA) (Ohta et al., 1995). Similarly, the fatty acid fraction of the acidophilic Coccomyxa onubensis has been shown to have antimicrobial activity against multiple Gram-positive and -negative bacterial pathogens. Although these authors did not test the individual fatty acids involved in this activity, the most common fatty acids in the extracts included palmitic acid and oleic acid alongside the PUFA linoleic acid and linolenic acid (Navarro et al., 2017). In Chlorella spp., a mixture of fatty acids, termed 'chlorellin' is known to have antimicrobial properties, and, for example, ethanol and isopropanol-extracts from Chlorella spp. were shown to have inhibitory capacity equivalent to ampicillin and oxacillin against Staphylococcus spp.. although this author did not investigate the effect of the individual fatty acids (Acurio et al., 2018). Taken together, these results suggest that various microalgal fatty acids can exert antimicrobial activity, although PUFA appeared more likely to do so. Unfortunately, drawing firm conclusions is hindered by the fact that many authors treat all fatty acids together rather than attempt to separate the various species of fatty acids to test them separately.

Contrary to the percentage of lipids in microalgal cells which is considered roughly comparable between microalgal species, fatty acids are highly variable both in terms of their relative concentration and the repartition of the various species of fatty acids (Hu, 2013). Several environmental factors have been reported to influence the fatty acid profile of phytoplankton, for example, higher temperatures are associated with an increased in the proportion of saturated fatty acids, whereas decreased light levels were associated with an increased in polyunsaturated fatty acids (plausibly due to an increase in the presence of thylakoids to improve photosynthetic activity) (Guedes et al., 2010; Li et al., 2011). Interestingly, comparison of the fatty acid profiles of diatoms and dinoflagellates by Peltomaa et al. (2019) suggested that fatty acid contents were higher in freshwater species than marine ones. However, genetic and phylogeny appear to be the main factor dictating the fatty acid profile of microalgae. For example, screening of 1145 species, representing six major groups of both marine and freshwater phytoplankton species, showed that phylogeny was the main factor influencing the fatty

acid profile of microalgae (Galloway and Winder, 2015) accounting for about 36 to 44% of the total variation in fatty acid profiles. Similar results were reported by Jónasdóttir (2019) based on the screening of the fatty acid profiles of 160 species representing seven phyla of marine phytoplankton.

For example, Cavonius et al. (2014) reported that fatty acid represented 12% of the dry mass of Tetraselmis galbana, but only 4-5% in Phaeodactylum tricornutum. Similarly, screening of 2076 strains of microalgae by Lang et al. (2011) showed that fatty acids were particularly low in Chlorophyta and Streptophyta. Comparison of the fatty acid profiles of six commonly cultivated strains of microalgae showed that C. vulgaris had a comparatively high concentration of 16:2 fatty acid. In addition, both C. vulgaris and Tetradesmus obliguus had comparatively high levels of 18:1 fatty acids as well as 18:3, linolenic acid (Chacón-Lee and González-Mariño, 2010). This is in accordance with the reports of Cepas et al. (2021) who, after screening the fatty acid profiles of several strains of cyanobacteria also reported that C. vulgaris and T. obliguus were particularly rich in linolenic acid.

Other microalgal molecules with antibacterial effects

EPS from several algal cultures were inhibitory against multiple bacterial and fungal isolates when tested using both the agar diffusion and the minimal inhibitory concentration (MIC) (Najdenski *et al.*, 2013). Of these, the most effective were EPS from *Gloeocapsa* sp. with MIC values ranging from 0.125 for *S. aureus* to 1.0 mg ml⁻¹ for *S. pyogenes* (Najdenski *et al.*, 2013). Similarly, crude extracts from *H. pluvialis* demonstrated inhibitory effects against several bacterial pathogens using disk-diffusion assays, resulting in inhibition zone between 6.1 and 10.2 mm (Rather *et al.*, 2021).

Extraction of *A. platensis* compounds using different solvents revealed that methanolic extracts had the highest antimicrobial activity against bacterial pathogens. Whereby, MIC of were 128 and 256 μ g ml⁻¹ against *S. aureus* and *E. coli*, respectively, although the compounds involved were not further characterized (Kaushik and Chauhan, 2008). Extraction of a variety of antimicrobial compounds from *Cosmarium* sp. showed that all had some potential as antimicrobials, although the methanol, hexane and aqueous extracts were not effective against the Gram-positive bacteria tested (Challouf *et al.*, 2012).

Other microalgae cultures including their microbiomes have been found to display antimicrobial properties, but without the responsible compounds being further characterized. This is the case for eight freshwater microalgae (belonging to the genera *Oscillatoria*, *Lyngbya*, *Oedogonium* and *Spirogyra*) whose ethanolic and methanolic fractions, tested at concentrations ranging from 0.16 to 0.66 mg ml⁻¹ using the disk-diffusion method, demonstrated some inhibitory properties against some Gram-negative and one Gram-positive pathogenic bacteria with zone of inhibitions ranging from 7 to 12 mm, for *O. sancta* extracted using ethanol at a dose of 0.35 mg ml⁻¹ and *S. decimina* extracted using a methanol solvent and applied at 0.20 mg ml⁻¹ respectively (Prakash *et al.*, 2011).

For example, methanolic extracts from the cyanobacterium *A. platensis* at 100 ng ml⁻¹ have clear inhibitory effects on the biofilm formation of several bacteria, including pathogens. Biofilm formation of *Vibrio parahaemolyticus* was inhibited by 90%, of *Vibrio alginolyticus* by 88%; of *Aeromonas hydrophila by* 74%; and by 61 to 84%, in *S. aureus* (LewisOscar *et al.*, 2017).

In addition, for the green alga *Chlamydomonas reinhardtii*, Vishwakarma and Sirisha (2020) reported that extracted sulfated polysaccharides displayed activity against the biofilms of *Salmonella enterica* and *V. harveyi*, distorting the biofilms and reducing their formation by about 50% when applied at concentrations of 0.5 mg ml⁻¹ against *S. enterica* and 8 mg ml⁻¹ against *V. harveyi*. Ghaidaa *et al.* (2020) reported similar findings with *C. reinhardtii* reducing the formation of biofilms of several bacterial species by about 50%. Several human pathogens were also more susceptible to these compounds since *S. aureus* biofilms were reduced by up to 90%.

Antiviral activity

In cyanobacteria, a variety of antiviral and antimicrobial molecules has been described over the years, as recently reviewed by Mazur-Marzec et al. (2021) and Khalifa et al. (2021), including cyanovirin N, isolated from Nostoc ellipsosporum, which is known to interfere with human immunodeficiency virus (HIV's) binding onto CD+ T-cells. The antiviral compound cyanovirin-N binds the viral spike protein gp120 that is required for HIV interactions with receptors on the host cells and has been shown to have antiviral activity against HIV (Dey et al., 2000; Singh et al., 2005). Cyanovirin-N has also demonstrated inhibitory action on other enveloped viruses such as herpes virus and measles virus as well as feline immunodeficiency virus (FIV) at concentrations as low as 10 nM (Dey et al., 2000). More recently, in silico docking simulations have suggested that cyanovirin-N could form stable covalent bonds with the homotrimeric transmembrane spike glycoprotein of severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus-2 (Lokhande et al., 2020).

Among these, lectins are ubiquitous proteins, whose carbohydrate domains have been shown to interact with the surface of cells and viruses. For example, a lectin recently isolated from the cyanobacterium *Oscillatoria acuminate* was found to be inhibitory against herpes simplex virus type-1 at doses at low as 20 ng ml⁻¹ with highest inhibition at a dose of 2 mg ml⁻¹ (Saad *et al.*, 2020). Because pre-treating the cells prior to viral infection was not found to be protective, it is most likely that this lectin interacts and interferes with viral receptors. Figure 2 shows as an example the structures of cyanovirin N and oscillatorial lectin.

A further interesting fact is that many microalgae communities are able to produce polysaccharides, which are well known to exert a broad spectrum of biological activities, especially antiviral properties (Chaisuwan *et al.* 2021). These polysaccharides were found among numerous algal microbiomes, including *S. quadricauda* (IMG ID 3300005759), *C. saccharophila* (IMG ID 3300008885), *C. sorokiniana* (IMG ID 3300042370) and *M. crux-melitensis* (IMG ID 3300008886) (Table 1).

Antioxidant activity

It is well established that multiple compounds from microalgae have antioxidant activity. The best known algal antioxidant is the keto-carotenoid pigment astaxanthin, in particular extracted from the green algae Haematococcus pluvialis (Plaza et al., 2009, Fig. 2). Astaxanthin can neutralize singlet oxygen and scavenge free radicals, resulting in a powerful antioxidant effect, approximately 10 times stronger than B-carotene and 100 times greater than that of α -tocopherol (Shimidzu et al., 1996; Lorenz and Cysewski, 2000). H. pluvialis exists under different morphotypes, influenced by environmental conditions, including high temperature, intense light, in particular UV-light, alongside other stressors such as salinity, drought or nutrient scarcity. Under the effect of these environmental stressors, it switches from a flagellated free-living cell to a coccoid cyst called an aplanospore (Lim et al., 2018; Molino et al., 2018). This is accompanied by a degeneration of the cell's chloroplasts, hence the name 'red phase' given to this phase of the life cycle, a thickening of the outer cell wall and secretion of two layers of extracellular matrix as well as the accumulation of large quantities of astaxanthin in oil droplets within the aplanospore (Wayama et al., 2013). During this process, the relative volume of astaxanthin changes from 0.2% of the total free-living cell to 52% in the aplanospores.

The antioxidant capacity of astaxanthin has recently been shown in juvenile Asian tiger shrimp (*Penaeus monodon*). Supplementation of 80 mg astaxanthin per kg of diet was associated with a significant increase in the total antioxidant status and superoxide dismutase (SOD) in the haemolymph of the shrimp (Pan *et al.*, 2003). This was connected to an improved recovery following exposure to various stressors and a decrease in both alanine aminotransferase (ALT) and aspartate aminotransferase (AST) values in the haemolymph, suggesting a hepatoprotective effect of astaxanthin. Comparable results were reported after feeding diet supplemented with 8 g kg⁻¹ of astaxanthin to yellow catfish (*Pelteobagrus fulvidraco*), which resulted in an increase in SOD and HSP70 activity, and a reduction in both ALT and AST, as well as an increased survival following stress and infectious challenge with *Proteus mirabilis* (Liu *et al.*, 2016).

Another example of compounds with antioxidant activity is malondialdehyde (MDA, Fig. 2). Feeding of lambs with A. platensis (incorporated at 0.1 g kg⁻¹ of food) resulted in a decrease of the animals' serum concentrations of MDA (from 99 to 16 nmol ml⁻¹ in the animals receiving the control and supplemented feed respectively). At the same time, an increase in both vitamin A (from 690 to 710 ng ml⁻¹) and glutathione (from 90 to 140 ng ml⁻¹) was recorded in the animals' sera (EL-Sabagh et al., 2014). The same authors further reported reduction in the sera's alanine and aspartate aminotransferase, which is consistent with reduced oxidative stress to the liver. Diet supplemented with A. platensis (at doses ranging from 25 to 100 g kg⁻¹ of feed) fed to the fish O. mykiss was correlated with an increase in the serum antioxidant activity (at doses ranging from 50 to 100 g kg⁻¹ of feed) alongside an increased expression of the superoxide dismutase and catalase genes in the liver of the fish, when given at doses of 75 or 100 g kg⁻¹ of feed (Teimouri et al., 2019). Feeding of the fruit fly Drosophila melanogaster with Chlorella sorokiniana (incorporated at doses of 2 or 4 mg ml⁻¹) resulted in an increased expression of SOD1, a superoxide dismutase encoding gene, as well as resistance against H₂O₂-induced oxidative stress (Qiu et al., 2020). Phycobiliproteins have also demonstrated potent antioxidant capacities and promoted the elimination of reactive oxygen species and increasing the concentration of antioxidative enzymes (Li et al., 2019). Future analyses could be more investigated for bioinformatical analysis of algae and their microbiomes. So far, data sets published at IMG/MER revealed genes coding for SOD, catalases and rhodanese-related sulfurtransferases (Table 1). Furthermore, the studying of algal genomes (C. variabilis NC64A and C. subellipsoidea C-169) demonstrated the presence of genes coding for the biosynthesis of known antioxidants, such as chlorophyll, carotenoid, lutein and astaxanthin. These genomes are available under the accession number IMG ID 2507525016 (Table 1).

Anti-inflammatory and anti-cancer properties

Sterols represent a subgroup of steroid molecules and are widespread in the cell membranes of eukaryotic organisms. Figure 2 shows the molecular structures of saringosterol and phytosterols. Various sterols have been linked to diverse health benefits, including antiinflammatory and anti-cancer properties. Phytosterols from H. pluvialis have been shown to have cytotoxic effects on human IMR-32 neuroblastoma cells, with a dose of 100 or 200 µM inhibiting neuronal activity by about 60% (Bilbao et al., 2016). Sanjeewa et al. (2016) have also reported anti-inflammatory effect of the hexanoic fraction of extracts from Nannochloropsis oculata, suppressing nitric oxide production in LPS activated macrophages when applied at doses of 6.25, 12.5 or 25 μ g ml⁻¹. This fraction also showed anti-proliferative and pro-apoptotic effects, when applied at doses of 25 μ g ml⁻¹, in several human cancer cell lines.

Sterols are mostly employed in cardiovascular health, because of their ability to hinder cholesterol adsorption in the intestine (Ostlund *et al.*, 2003). The saringosterol from the kelp species *Lessonia nigrescens* has been shown to have antimicrobial activity on *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* with MIC values equivalent to rifampin at 0.25 μ g ml⁻¹ (Wächter *et al.*, 2001). Interestingly, it has been estimated that the current source of phytosterols will be unable to meet demands by 2030 (Randhir *et al.*, 2020). The presence of a high variety of sterols is well established in eukaryotic algae and, more controversially, also in cyanobacteria (Volkman, 2003), although the subject has received very little considerations and much remains to be investigated in this field (Randhir *et al.*, 2020).

Immune promoters and immunomodulatory activity

A large number of plants and microorganisms are known to possess an immunostimulatory activity (Riccio and Lauritano, 2020), although the mechanisms through which microalgae cultures exert this immunostimulatory effect, often remain to be clarified. However, microalgal products have been known to induce the expression of various immune genes. Moreover, Xu et al. (2014) have reported an increase in digestive enzyme and an improvement in the growth performance of gibel carp (Carassius auratus gibelio) fed dried powder of Chlorella sp. (incorporated at doses as low as 4 g kg⁻¹ of food). Similarly, Adel et al. (2016) reported a significant increase in protease activity as well as the population of lactic acid bacteria in the intestine of sturgeons (Huso *huso*) fed *A. platensis* at dose of 50 or 100 g kg⁻¹ of food. These results suggested that an improvement in the digestive health of the fish, possibly linked to a prebiotic effect of the algae, may have contributed to the improved immune parameters reported in the studies. For example, polysaccharides from *Chlorella vulgaris* have been shown to promote the transcription of nitric oxide, prostaglandin E2, TNF- α , IL-6 and IL-10, as well as promote cell proliferation in the murine macrophage cell line RAW264.7 (Tabarsa et al., 2015). Feeding of Nile tilapia (Oreochromis niloticus) with feed supplemented with 50 mg kg⁻¹ of either β -Carotene or phycocyanin-supplemented feed resulted in a significant elevation of the activity of multiple blood immune parameters (phagocytic and lysozyme activity, immunoglobulin M levels), while expression of the genes coding for the interferon gamma and interleukin 1β was upregulated (Hassaan et al., 2021). Addition of dry powder from C. vulgaris to the diet of the Koi carp Cyprinus carpio at doses ranging from 50 to 100 g kg^{-1} of feed resulted in the proliferation of red and white blood cells, while inclusion of the algae at doses ranging from 20 to 100 g kg⁻¹ of feed increased lysozyme activity (Khani et al., 2017).

Reports on supplementing feed for rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss) with β -carotene rich extracts from the marine phytoplankton Dunaliella salina at doses of 100 to 200 mg kg⁻¹ resulted in an increase in the phagocytic rate and the serum complement and lysozyme activity in the fish (Amar et al., 2004). In shrimp, it has been reported that feed supplementation with 3 g kg⁻¹ of Arthrospira platensis resulted in an improvement of the phagocytic activity of haemocytes from the banana shrimp Penaeus merguiensis, as well as resistance to infection by Vibrio harvevi (Lee et al., 2003). In mammals, diet supplementation with extracts from A. platensis was found to increase the levels of IgG1 in the serum and IgA in the intestine, alongside the antibody produced in the supernatants of lymphoid cell cultures from the spleens and mesenteric lymph nodes of A. platensis-fed mice (Hayashi et al., 1998). Interestingly, the effect was class-specific as IgE levels were unaffected by this feed supplement. Comparable results were obtained by dogs where supplementation of the diet with 0.2% of spray-dried A. platensis resulted in an increase in the levels of serum antibodies and faecal IgA with the following vaccination with a commercial anti-rabies vaccines (Satvarai et al., 2021). Investigations using Dunaliella tertiolecta found that extracts and purified sterols (at concentrations of 0.4 mg ml⁻¹ and 0.8 mg ml⁻¹ diluted 1 in 3) from this microalgae had anti-inflammatory effects in sheep, reducing proliferation of peripheral blood mononuclear cells as well as the production of interleukin-6, which was the opposite to what Tabarsa et al. (2015) reported in C. vulgaris, while promoting secretion of IL-10 (Caroprese et al., 2012). Administration of 50 mL a day of warm-water extracts from A. platensis to sheep was reported to induce secretion

interleukin 12 subunit beta (IL12 p40) by peripheral blood mononuclear cells as well as the secretion of interferon-gamma and the cytotoxic activity of activated NK cells (Hirahashi *et al.*, 2002). However, diet supplemented with increasing doses of *A. platensis* (ranging from 5 to 20 g kg⁻¹) resulted a dose-dependent increase in harvested macrophages, with a higher percentage of macrophages phagocytosing sheep red blood cells (SRBC) and a higher average number of SRBC in each macrophage (Al-Batshan *et al.*, 2001). The authors of this study also reported a significant increase in nitricoxide production in macrophage stimulated with bacterial LPS.

Prebiotic activity

The indigenous microbiota of microalgae represent an early and important barrier to infection. Local bacteria can inhibit bacterial infections either directly through the secretion of antimicrobial or antiviral compounds, or by competing with them for nutrient and attachment sites, a phenomenon known as competitive exclusion (Irianto and Austin, 2002; Ghanei-Motlagh et al., 2021a, 2021b). Consequently, research has been performed on the possibility to defend against infection either through the direct ingestion of beneficial microorganisms (probiotic treatments) or the ingestion of substances that promote the growth of beneficial bacteria (prebiotic treatments). Several microalgae have been shown to have prebiotic activity, for example, C. vulgaris and A. platensis are known to increase the viability and survival of multiple beneficial bacteria such as lactobacilli and bifidobacteria when incorporated at doses ranging from 0.25 to 1.00% (Beheshtipour et al., 2012). Moreover, co-culture with C. vulgaris or Nannochloropsis oculata has been shown to improve the antimicrobial activity of Sulfitobacter spp. or Roseobacter sp., respectively, against Vibrio anguillarum (Sharifah and Eguchi, 2011, 2012). More recently, it has been reported that supplementation of dogs' diets with 2 g kg⁻¹ spray-dried A. platensis improved the stability of the gut microbiota in dogs during periods of physical exercises (Satyaraj et al., 2021). It has been suggested that some algae have the opposite effect, such as sequestering valuable nutrients and reducing their availability to bacteria.

Discussion and limitations

Compound production and toxic compounds

The production of compounds from microalgae microbiomes is complicated by the fact that their production is often strongly influenced by the culture conditions of the algae and that these conditions are not always known for all algal strains (Abu-Ghannam and Rajauria, 2013; Fatma, 2009). This is further complicated by different culture conditions that may affect various beneficial factors in different ways. For example, cultivation in Zarrouk medium improved the production of β -carotene and the antioxidant properties of several strains of *Arthrospira* spp. (several dozen times for some strains) while a medium deprived of some mineral ingredients, RM6, allowed for an improved production of phycobiliproteins (Tarko *et al.*, 2012). A strong seasonal effect has also been reported, although this may simply be a side-effect of changes in light and temperature conditions (Abu-Ghannam and Rajauria, 2013). Changes in light intensity to intensities inducing light stress have been shown to increase production of triacylglycerol by 250% and sterols by 1200% in *H. pluvialis* (Bilbao *et al.*, 2016).

Optimal culture conditions for the algae will often be different from the conditions for the optimal production of the compounds of interest, as is the case for the production of carotene or antimicrobial fatty acids (Ruffell et al., 2016; Molino et al., 2018; Kaha et al., 2021). As one could expect, protective secondary metabolites are often produced in response to stressors which will impair algal growth (Little et al., 2021). However, there is no universal rule correlating harsher culture conditions with the accumulation of beneficial compounds. For example, Ru et al. (2020) have reported that poor growth conditions lead to an increase in the starch content of C. vulgaris (Ru et al., 2020). Even within the same species, there can be considerable differences between strains, and it will be necessary to confirm that the strain does produce the compound of interest in high guantities under the expected culture conditions (Tarko et al., 2012).

Several microalgae are known to secrete phycotoxins. In particular dinoflagellates are known as a major source of toxins in the marine environment (Wang, 2008). These toxins, including the alkaloid saxitoxin that is considered the most toxic among them, have been associated with neurotoxicity. Dinoflagellates toxins are normally present at relatively low levels in the environment, although this level increases during algal blooms involving these species and have been correlated with mortality events in aquatic life, for example, Alexandrium tamarense has been associated with mass mortalities in fish, birds and aquatic mammals in the Saint Lawrence Estuary in Canada (Starr et al., 2017). These toxins are known to bioaccumulate along the food chain with predatory carnivorous fish harbouring higher levels of the toxins, and diseases in humans are often associated with the consumption of contaminated seafood. In the case of ciguatera, caused by ciguatoxin and maitotoxin produced by microalgae of the genus Gambierdiscus, cases are more generally associated with the consumption of contaminated reef-dwelling fish. The presence of

these toxins is likely a major reason why dinoflagellates have received less attention as a source of health products (Friedman *et al.*, 2017).

Cyanobacteria are known to secrete a large number of various toxins with hepatotoxic effects as well as known neurotoxins such as kalkitoxin and saxitoxin, and more than 100 species of cvanobacteria have been shown to secrete toxins (Singh et al., 2005; Sacilotto Detoni et al., 2016; Zerrifi et al., 2021). Extracts from the marine cvanobacterium Trichodesmium ervthraeum from microalgal blooms on the Brazilian coastline were found to contain microcystins, cylindrospermopsins and saxitoxins, and showed toxic antimitotic activity against larvae of the green sea urchin (Lytechinus variegatus) but not against mice (Proenca et al., 2009). Saxitoxins from T. erythraeum were also connected to mortality events in farmed pearl oysters (Negri et al., 2004). Some of these cytotoxic activities may prove beneficial, for example, in the development and antitumor therapeutants; however, they will make commercial adoption of microalgae more complex (Parra-Riofrío et al., 2020).

Sustainability – effect of environmental conditions and costs

From a sustainability perspective, microalgae production allows to capture CO₂ with higher average bioenergetic vield on sunlight than higher plants: 10% vs. 5% respectively (Williams and Laurens, 2010). Such higher yield allows to reduce the use of land for cultivation. While closed photobioreactors enable higher productivity and finer control of growth conditions than open pond systems, they also display higher energy consumptions (Brentner et al., 2011; Valdovinos-García et al., 2021). Recent Life Cycle Assessments (LCA) studies of microalgae cultivation in closed reactors (Pérez-lópez et al., 2014a; 2014b; Porcelli et al., 2020) showed that in pilot scale astaxanthin production from Haematococcus pluvialis and in the production of Tetraselmis suecica and Phaeodactylum tricornutum, the main contributor to most environmental impact categories were by far the electricity consumption during the cultivation stage. In these cultivation systems, electricity is mainly consumed for mixing and pumping large water volumes and for lighting the reactor when necessary. Regarding outdoor cultivation, the need to thermoregulate the system is one of the main drivers for electricity consumption (Pérez-López et al., 2017; Smetana et al., 2017; Schade and Meier, 2019; Duran Quintero et al., 2021). A common insight from these studies is that the environmental performance of cultivating a specific strain of microalgae is highly dependent on the location, cultivation period and suitable thermal range of the strain (Duran Quintero et al., 2021).

Microalgae are becoming increasingly interesting for the extraction of high value compounds, rather than as feedstock for the refining of low value products such as biofuels. Concerning this extraction, Pérez-lópez et al. (2014a, 2014b) showed that the extraction stage (methanol and KOH solutions) for the production of PUFAs, α-tocopherol, chlorophyll, β-carotenoid and polyphenols by Tetraselmis suecica was the second most important contributor to most environmental impact categories, but remained far behind the cultivation stage. Supercritical CO₂ fluid extraction was used for astaxanthin extraction Pérez-lópez et al. (2014a, 2014b) and accounted for less than 10% of the considered impact categories. Overall, even if the extraction method depends on the targeted bioactive compound, cultivation will remain the main environmental hotspot for new microalgal strains. Crucial to limit the environmental impacts of a microalgal production is the valorization of coproducts within an integrated biorefinery approach (Da Silva et al., 2014; 't Lam et al., 2018). Microalgae residual biomass can serve as substrate for biogas production via anaerobic digestion and the residual digestate can substitute the production of fertilizers (Collet et al., 2011; Pérez-lópez et al., 2014a, 2014b). Depending on the nutrient profile of the biomass, it could also be used to substitute animal feed (Draganovic, 2013). Due to the high diversity of the assumptions, parameters and production technologies, for strains that have not been cultivated yet, it is worth noting that their behaviour, optimal growth conditions and productivity in given reactors and locations are currently difficult to anticipate and therefore highly uncertain (Mata et al., 2010; Barra et al., 2014).

The potential need to induce bioactive molecule production by specific cultivation conditions, such as high-intensity lighting for astaxanthin production from *Haematococcus pluvialis*, could greatly affect the final environmental impacts (Pérez-lópez *et al.*, 2014a; 2014b; Onorato and Rösch, 2020). Ultimately, the overall sustainability of producing microalgae-based bioactive molecules depends on the final efficiency and quality of the produced compounds. Finding synergistic products would therefore be of great interest. Indeed, the compound's capacity to substitute alternatives, tackle key issues such as fish farming health management and the needed doses will highly affect its environmental performance (Liu *et al.*, 2016; Lieke *et al.*, 2020).

Opportunities for future research

Currently, the main knowledge gap is linked to the correspondingly low numbers of algal species studied, as only a small percentage of species have been investigated compared to the large number of microalgal species that

1978 I. Krohn et al.

exist (Connelly, 2014), as illustrated by the number of times the same genus names are repeated in the present review. This is especially true when taking into account the strain differences previously mentioned. Therefore, one of the most urgent tasks is to increase our knowledge by investigating new microalgal species, and focusing on other than well-known genera (Yarnold *et al.*, 2019).

Optimal culture conditions are not always known for all algal strains, and neither are the optimal conditions for the production of the compounds of interest. This means that additional research is needed for each individual strain to optimize the farming protocol for both biomass and the production of the compounds of interest (Ruffell *et al.*, 2016).

Another approach is to identify or create mutants that overexpress the compounds of interest. Genetic engineering of microalgae is shown to be possible, although it is more technically difficult than for other organisms (Qin *et al.*, 2012; Spicer and Purton, 2017; Charoonnart *et al.*, 2018).

Consequently, alternative and potentially more promising pathways could be integrated in multi-omics approaches to stimulate production within microalgae and their microbiota, and transfer and expression of biosynthetic pathways in suitable heterologous host species and strains. (Meta)genomics, (meta)transcriptomics, (meta)proteomics and MS-based metabolomics approaches can thereby help unravelling biosynthetic pathway activity constraints in microalgae and their microbiomes and identifying beneficial chemical compounds, that is, elicitors, that can be used to stimulate the production of compounds of interest (Maghembe et al., 2020). Such approaches in combination with advanced bioinformatics assessment of (meta)genomic contents, for example, using tools like antiSMASH and MiBIG (Kautsar et al., 2020; Blin et al., 2021) can also help identifying the boundaries if biosynthetic gene clusters (BGCs) that encode the biosynthetic machinery for such compounds (Table 1). Combining this knowledge with advanced long-insert cloning technologies and transfer to a panel of heterologous expression hosts can yield production of the compound of interest in a system that is better accessible to genetic modification for the purpose of optimizing production and further compound engineering (Nah et al., 2017; Ke and Yoshikuni, 2020). Such techniques may also be helpful in reducing the presence of detrimental compounds, for example, toxic compounds, produced by these algae.

Conclusions

Microalgae in combination with their associated microbiota are very promising as health management tools: not only have several species shown potential, harbouring antimicrobial, immune-stimulating and antioxidant substances but also because of their variety and the relatively small numbers that have been investigated, it is likely that many useful compounds remain to be discovered. In this context, much research remains to be performed to identify new compounds. In addition, we have to clarify their mechanisms of action and make their application practical, by optimizing production methods and reducing their costs of production as well as multi-omics approaches.

Acknowledgements

The authors would like to thank the ERA-BlueBio initiative. This work was in part supported by the programme Mar-BioTech (FKZ 031A565), SuReMetS (FKZ 031B0944A) and AquaHealth (FKZ 031B0945C).

Conflict of interest

None declared.

Authors' contributions

IK, SML, GH, YA, PJ, JLN, MP, AW and WRS contributed to general concept and design and writing of the article. All authors contributed to manuscript revision, read and approved the submitted version.

References

- 't Lam, G.P., Vermuë, M.H., Eppink, M.H.M., Wijffels, R.H., and Van Den Berg, C. (2018) Multi-product microalgae biorefineries: from concept towards reality. *Trends Biotechnol* **36** (2): 216–227.
- Abu-Ghannam, N., and Rajauria, G. (2013) Antimicrobial activity of compounds isolated from algae. In *Functional Ingredients from Algae for Foods and Nutraceuticals*. Amsterdam, Netherlands: Elsevier, pp. 287–306.
- Acurio, L., Salazar, D., Valencia, A., Robalino, D., Barona, A., Alvarez, F., and Rodriguez, C. (2018) Antimicrobial Potential of Chlorella Algae Isolated from Stacked Waters of the Andean Region of Ecuador. IOP conference series: Earth and Environmental Science. Bristol, UK: Iop Publishing.
- Adel, M., Yeganeh, S., Dadar, M., Sakai, M., and Dawood, M.A.O. (2016) Effects of dietary Spirulina platensis on growth performance, humoral and mucosal immune responses and disease resistance in juvenile great sturgeon (Huso Linnaeus, 1754). *Fish Shellfish Immunol* 56: 436–444.
- Ahlgren, N.A., Harwood, C.S., Schaefer, A.L., Giraud, E., and Greenberg, E.P. (2011) Aryl-homoserine lactone quorum sensing in stem-nodulating photosynthetic bradyrhizobia. *PNAS* **108** (17): 7183–7188.
- Al-Batshan, H.A., Al-Mufarrej, S.I., Al-Homaidan, A.A., and Qureshi, M. (2001) Enhancement of chicken macrophage

phagocytic function and nitrite production by dietary Spirulina platensis. *Immunopharmacol Immunotoxicol* **23**: 281–289.

- Amar, E.C., Kiron, V., Satoh, S., and Watanabe, T. (2004) Enhancement of innate immunity in rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss* Walbaum) associated with dietary intake of carotenoids from natural products. *Fish Shellfish Immunol* **16**: 527–537.
- Barra, L., Chandrasekaran, R., Corato, F., and Brunet, C. (2014) The challenge of ecophysiological biodiversity for biotechnological applications of marine microalgae. *Mar Drugs* **12**: 1641–1675.
- Beheshtipour, H., Mortazavian, A.M., Haratian, P., and Darani, K.K. (2012) Effects of *Chlorella vulgaris* and *Arthrospira platensis* addition on viability of probiotic bacteria in yogurt and its biochemical properties. *Eur Food Res Techno* 235: 719–728.
- Bilbao, P.G.S., Damiani, C., Salvador, G.A., and Leonardi, P. (2016) *Haematococcus pluvialis* as a source of fatty acids and phytosterols: potential nutritional and biological implications. *J Appl Phycol* **28**: 3283–3294.
- Blin, K., Shaw, S., Kloosterman, A.M., Charlop-Powers, Z., van Wezel, G.P., Medema, M.H., and Weber, T. (2021) antiSMASH 6.0: improving cluster detection and comparison capabilities. *Nucleic Acids Res* W1: W29–W35.
- Brentner, L.B., Eckelman, M.J., and Zimmerman, J.B. (2011) Combinatorial life cycle assessment to inform process design of industrial production of algal biodiesel. *Environ Sci Technol* **45:** 7060–7067.
- Caroprese, M., Albenzio, M., Ciliberti, M.G., Francavilla, M., and Sevi, A. (2012) A mixture of phytosterols from Dunaliella tertiolecta affects proliferation of peripheral blood mononuclear cells and cytokine production in sheep. *Vet Immunol Immunopathol* **150**: 27–35.
- Cavonius, L.R., Carlsson, N.-G., and Undeland, I. (2014) Quantification of total fatty acids in microalgae: comparison of extraction and transesterification methods. *Anal Bioanal Chem* **406**: 7313–7322.
- Cepas, V., Gutiérrez-Del-Río, I., López, Y., Redondo-Blanco, S., Gabasa, Y., Iglesias, M.J. *et al.* (2021) Microalgae and cyanobacteria strains as producers of lipids with antibacterial and antibiofilm activity. *Mar Drugs* **19:** 675.
- Chacón-Lee, T.L., and González-Mariño, G.E. (2010) Microalgae for "healthy" foods-possibilities and challenges. *Compr Rev Food Sci Food Saf* **9:** 655–675.
- Chaisuwan, W., Phimolsiripol, Y., Chaiyaso, T., Techapun, C., Leksawasdi, N., Jantanasakulwong, K. *et al.* (2021) The antiviral activity of bacterial, fungal, and algal polysaccharides as bioactive ingredients: potential uses for enhancing immune systems and preventing viruses. *Front Nutr* **8.** https://doi.org/10.3389/fnut.2021.772033
- Challouf, R., Dhieb, R.B., Omrane, H., Ghozzi, K., and Ouda, H.B. (2012) Antibacterial, antioxidant and cytotoxic activities of extracts from the thermophilic green alga, *Cosmarium* sp. *Afr J Biotechnol* **11**: 14844–14849.
- Charoonnart, P., Purton, S., and Saksmerprome, V. (2018) Applications of microalgal biotechnology for disease control in aquaculture. *Biology* **7**: 24.
- Chisti, Y. (2007) Biodiesel from microalgae. *Biotechnol Adv* **25:** 294–306.

- Collet, P., Hélias, A.A., Lardon, L., Ras, M., Goy, R.A., and Steyer, J.P. (2011) Life-cycle assessment of microalgae culture coupled to biogas production. *Bioresour Technol* **102:** 207–214.
- Connelly, R. (2014). *Second-Generation Biofuel from High-Efficiency Algal-Derived Biocrude*. Bioenergy Research: Advances and Applications: Amsterdam, Netherlands: Amsterdam, Netherlands: Elsevier, pp. 153–170.
- Da Silva, T.L., Gouveia, L., and Reis, A. (2014) Integrated microbial processes for biofuels and high value-added products: the way to improve the cost effectiveness of biofuel production. *Appl Microbiol Biotechnol* **98**: 1043– 1053.
- Dey, B., Lerner, D.L., Lusso, P., Boyd, M.R., Elder, J.H., and Berger, E.A. (2000) Multiple antiviral activities of cyanovirin-N: blocking of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 gp120 interaction with CD4 and coreceptor and inhibition of diverse enveloped viruses. *J Virol* **74**: 4562– 4569.
- Draganovic, V. (2013). Towards Sustainable Fish Feed Production Using Novel Protein Sources. https://edepot.wur. nl/277586
- Duran Quintero, C., Ventura, A., Lépine, O., and Pruvost, J. (2021) Eco-design of spirulina solar cultivation: key aspects to reduce environmental impacts using life cycle assessment. *J Clean Prod* **299**: 126741.
- EL-Sabagh, M.R., Abd Eldaim, M.A., Mahboub, D., and Abdel-Daim, M. (2014) Effects of *Spirulina platensis* algae on growth performance, antioxidative status and blood metabolites in fattening lambs. *J Agric Sci* **6**: 92.
- Fatma, T. (2009) Screening of cyanobacteria for phycobiliproteins and effect of different environmental stress on its yield. *Bull Environ Contam Toxicol* **83:** 509.
- Fetzner, S. (2015) Quorum quenching enzymes. J Biotechnol 201: 2–14.
- Friedman, M.A., Fernandez, M., Backer, L.C., Dickey, R.W., Bernstein, J., Schrank, K. *et al.* (2017) An updated review of ciguatera fish poisoning: clinical, epidemiological, environmental, and public health management. *Mar Drugs* **15**: 72.
- Galloway, A.W.E., and Winder, M. (2015) Partitioning the relative importance of phylogeny and environmental conditions on phytoplankton fatty acids. *PLoS One* **10**: e0130053.
- Ghaidaa, H.A., Neihaya, H.Z., Nada, Z., and Mahdi Amna, M.A. (2020) The biofilm inhibitory potential of compound produced from *Chlamydomonas reinhardtii* against pathogenic microorganisms. *Baghdad Sci J* **17**: 34–41.
- Ghanei-Motlagh, R., Gharibi, D., Mohammadian, T., Khosravi, M., Mahmoudi, E., Zarea, M. *et al.* (2021a) Feed supplementation with quorum quenching probiotics with anti-virulence potential improved innate immune responses, antioxidant capacity and disease resistance in Asian seabass (*Lates calcarifer*). *Aquaculture* **535**: 736345.
- Ghanei-Motlagh, R., Mohammadian, T., Gharibi, D., Khosravi, M., Mahmoudi, E., Zarea, M. *et al.* (2021b) Quorum quenching probiotics modulated digestive enzymes activity, growth performance, gut microflora, haematobiochemical parameters and resistance against *Vibrio*

^{© 2022} The Authors. Microbial Biotechnology published by Society for Applied Microbiology and John Wiley & Sons Ltd., Microbial Biotechnology, 15, 1966–1983

harveyi in Asian seabass (*Lates calcarifer*). Aquaculture **531:** 735874.

- Guedes, A.C., Meireles, L.A., Amaro, H.M., and Malcata, F.X. (2010) Changes in lipid class and fatty acid composition of cultures of *Pavlova lutheri*, in response to light intensity. *J Am Oil Chem Soc* **87**: 791–801.
- Hassaan, M.S., Mohammady, E.Y., Soaudy, M.R., Sabae, S.A., Mahmoud, A.M., and El-Haroun, E.R. (2021) Comparative study on the effect of dietary β-carotene and phycocyanin extracted from Spirulina platensis on immuneoxidative stress biomarkers, genes expression and intestinal enzymes, serum biochemical in *Nile tilapia*, *Oreochromis niloticus. Fish Shellfish Immunol* **108**: 63–72.
- Hayashi, O., Hirahashi, T., Katoh, T., Miyajima, H., Hirano, T., and Okuwaki, Y. (1998) Class specific influence of dietary *Spirulina platensis* on antibody production in mice. *J Nutr Sci Vitaminol* **44**: 841–851.
- Hempel, F., Bozarth, A.S., Lindenkamp, N., Klingl, A., Zauner, S., Linne, U. *et al.* (2011) Microalgae as bioreactors for bioplastic production. *Microb Cell Fact* **10**: 1–6.
- Hirahashi, T., Matsumoto, M., Hazeki, K., Saeki, Y., Ui, M., and Seya, T. (2002) Activation of the human innate immune system by *spirulina*: augmentation of interferon production and NK cytotoxicity by oral administration of hot water extract of Spirulina platensis. *Int Immunopharmacol* 2: 423–434.
- Hu, Q. (2013) Environmental effects on cell composition. In Handbook of Microalgal Culture. Oxford, UK: John Wiley & Sons, Ltd, pp. 114–122.
- Irianto, A., and Austin, B. (2002) Probiotics in aquaculture. J Fish Dis 25: 633–642.
- Jónasdóttir, S.H. (2019) Fatty acid profiles and production in marine phytoplankton. *Mar Drugs* **17:** 151.
- Kaha, M., Iwamoto, K., Yahya, N.A., Suhaimi, N., Sugiura, N., Hara, H. *et al.* (2021) Enhancement of astaxanthin accumulation using black light in *Coelastrum* and *Monoraphidium* isolated from Malaysia. *Sci Rep* **11**: 1–9.
- Kaushik, P., and Chauhan, A. (2008) In vitro antibacterial activity of laboratory grown culture of Spirulina platensis. Indian J Microbiol 48: 348–352.
- Kautsar, S.A., Blin, K., Shaw, S., Navarro-Muñoz, J.C., Terlouw, B.R., van der Hooft, J.J. *et al.* (2020) MIBiG 2.0: a repository for biosynthetic gene clusters of known function. *Nucleic Acids Res* **48** (D1): D454–D458.
- Ke, J., and Yoshikuni, Y. (2020) Multi-chassis engineering for heterologous production of microbial natural products. *Curr Opin Biotechnol* **62:** 88–97.
- Keasling, J., Martin, H.G., Lee, T.S., Mukhopadhyay, A., Singer, S.W., and Sundstrom, E. (2021) Microbial production of advanced biofuels. *Nat Rev Microbiol* **19(11)**: 701– 715.
- Khalifa, S.A., Shedid, E.S., Saied, E.M., Jassbi, A.R., Jamebozorgi, F.H., Rateb, M. *et al.* (2021) Cyanobacteria from the oceans to the potential biotechnological and biomedical applications. *Mar Drugs* **19:** 241.
- Khan, M.I., Shin, J.H., and Kim, J.D. (2018) The promising future of microalgae: current status, challenges, and optimization of a sustainable and renewable industry for biofuels, feed, and other products. *Microb Cell Fact* 17: 1–21.
- Khani, M., Soltani, M., Mehrjan Shamsaie, M., Foroudi, F., and Ghaeni, M. (2017) The effect of chlorella vulgaris

(Chlorophyta, Volvocales) microalga on some hematological and immune system parameters of koi carp (*Cyprinus carpio*). *Iran J Ichtyol* **4:** 62–68.

- Khattar, J., Kaur, S., Kaushal, S., Singh, Y., Singh, D., Rana, S., and Gulati, A. (2015) Hyperproduction of phycobiliproteins by the cyanobacterium *Anabaena fertilissima* PUPCCC 410.5 under optimized culture conditions. *Algal Res* 12: 463–469.
- Koharudin, L.M., Furey, W., and Gronenborn, A.M. (2011) Novel fold and carbohydrate specificity of the potent anti-HIV cyanobacterial lectin from *Oscillatoria agardhii*. *J Biol Chem* **286**: 1588–1597.
- Krohn-Molt, I., Alawi, M., Förstner, K.U., Wiegandt, A., Burkhardt, L., Indenbirken, D. *et al.* (2017) Insights into microalga and bacteria interactions of selected Phycosphere biofilms using metagenomic, transcriptomic, and proteomic approaches. *Front Microbiol* **8**: 1941.
- Krohn-Molt, I., Wemheuer, B., Alawi, M., Poehlein, A., Güllert, S., Schmeisser, C. *et al.* (2013) Metagenome survey of a multispecies and alga-associated biofilm revealed key elements of bacterial-algal interactions in photobioreactors. *Appl Environ Microbiol* **79**: 6196–6206.
- Lang, I., Hodac, L., Friedl, T., and Feussner, I. (2011) Fatty acid profiles and their distribution patterns in microalgae: a comprehensive analysis of more than 2000 strains from the SAG culture collection. *BMC Plant Biol* **11**: 124.
- Lee, Y.K., Chew, P.F., Soh, B.S., and Tham, L.Y. (2003) Enhancing phagocytic activity of hemocytes and disease resistance in the prawn *Penaeus merguiensis* by feeding Spirulina platensis. *J Appl Phycol* **15:** 279–287.
- LewisOscar, F., Nithya, C., Bakkiyaraj, D., Arunkumar, M., Alharbi, N.S., and Thajuddin, N. (2017) Biofilm inhibitory effect of *Spirulina platensis* extracts on bacteria of clinical significance. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA, India Section B: Biol Sci* 87: 537–544.
- Li, X., Hu, H., and Zhang, Y. (2011) Growth and lipid accumulation properties of a freshwater microalga *Scenedesmus* sp. under different cultivation temperature. *Bioresour Technol* **102:** 3098–3102.
- Li, W., Su, H.N., Pu, Y., Chen, J., Liu, L.N., Liu, Q., and Qin, S. (2019) Phycobiliproteins: molecular structure, production, applications, and prospects. *Biotechnol Adv* **37**: 340–353.
- Lieke, T., Meinelt, T., Hoseinifar, S.H., Pan, B., and Straus, D.L. (2020) Sustainable aquaculture requires environmentalfriendly treatment strategies for fish diseases. *Rev Aquac* **12**: 943–965.
- Lim, K.C., Yusoff, F.M., Shariff, M., and Kamarudin, M.S. (2018) Astaxanthin as feed supplement in aquatic animals. *Rev Aquac* **10**: 738–773.
- Little, S.M., Senhorinho, G.N., Saleh, M., Basiliko, N., and Scott, J.A. (2021) Antibacterial compounds in green microalgae from extreme environments: a review. *Algae* 36: 61–72.
- Liu, F., Shi, H.Z., Guo, Q.S., Yu, Y.B., Wang, A.M., Lv, F., and Shen, W.B. (2016) Effects of astaxanthin and emodin on the growth, stress resistance and disease resistance of yellow catfish (*Pelteobagrus fulvidraco*). *Fish Shellfish Immunol* **51**: 125–135.
- Lokhande, K.B., Apte, G.R., Shrivastava, A., Singh, A., Pal, J.K., Swamy, K.V., and Gupta, R.K. (2020) Sensing the interactions between carbohydrate-binding agents and N-

linked glycans of SARS-CoV-2 spike glycoprotein using molecular docking and simulation studies. *J Biomol Struct Dyn* **40(9):** 3880–3898.

- Lorenz, R.T., and Cysewski, G.R. (2000) Commercial potential for *Haematococcus* microalgae as a natural source of astaxanthin. *Trends Biotechnol* **18:** 160–167.
- Maghembe, R., Damian, D., Makaranga, A., Nyandoro, S.S., Lyantagaye, S.L., Kusari, S., and Hatti-Kaul, R. (2020) Omics for bioprospecting and drug discovery from bacteria and microalgae. *Antibiotics* **9**: 229.
- Mata, T.M., Martins, A.A., and Caetano, N.S. (2010) Microalgae for biodiesel production and other applications: a review. *Renew Sustain Energy Rev* 14: 217–232.
- Mazur-Marzec, H., Cegłowska, M., Konkel, R., and Pyrć, K. (2021) Antiviral cyanometabolites—a review. *Biomolecules* **11**: 474.
- Molino, A., Rimauro, J., Casella, P., Cerbone, A., Larocca, V., Chianese, S. *et al.* (2018) Extraction of astaxanthin from microalga *Haematococcus pluvialis* in red phase by using generally recognized as safe solvents and accelerated extraction. *J Biotechnol* **283**: 51–61.
- Nah, H.J., Pyeon, H.R., Kang, S.H., Choi, S.S., and Kim, E.S. (2017) Cloning and heterologous expression of a large-sized natural product biosynthetic gene cluster in *Streptomyces* species. *Front Microbiol* **8:** 394.
- Najdenski, H.M., Gigova, L.G., Iliev, I.I., Pilarski, P.S., Lukavský, J., Tsvetkova, I.V. *et al.* (2013) Antibacterial and antifungal activities of selected microalgae and cyanobacteria. *Int J Food Sci* **48**: 1533–1540.
- Natrah, F., Kenmegne, M.M., Wiyoto, W., Sorgeloos, P., Bossier, P., and Defoirdt, T. (2011) Effects of micro-algae commonly used in aquaculture on acyl-homoserine lactone guorum sensing. *Aquac* **317**: 53–57.
- Navarro, F., Forján, E., Vázquez, M., Toimil, A., Montero, Z., Ruiz-Domínguez, M.D.C. *et al.* (2017) Antimicrobial activity of the acidophilic eukaryotic microalga *Coccomyxa onubensis. Phycol Res* **65**: 38–43.
- Negri, A.P., Bunter, O., Jones, B., and Llewellyn, L. (2004) Effects of the bloom-forming alga *Trichodesmium erythraeum* on the pearl oyster Pinctada maxima. *Aquaculture* 232: 91–102.
- O'Neill, J. (2016) *Tackling Drug-Resistant Infections Globally: Final Report and Recommendations*. Analysis and Policy Observatory. https://apo.org.au/node/63983.
- Ohta, S., Shiomi, Y., Kawashima, A., Aozasa, O., Nakao, T., Nagate, T. *et al.* (1995) Antibiotic effect of linolenic acid from *Chlorococcum* strain HS-101 and *Dunaliella primolecta* on methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus*. J Appl Phycol 7: 121–127.
- Onen Cinar, S., Chong, Z.K., Kucuker, M.A., Wieczorek, N., Cengiz, U., and Kuchta, K. (2020) Bioplastic production from microalgae: a review. *Int J Environ Res Public Health* **17:** 3842.
- Onorato, C., and Rösch, C. (2020) Comparative life cycle assessment of astaxanthin production with *Haematococcus pluvialis* in different photobioreactor technologies. *Algal Res* **50**: 102005.
- Peltomaa, E., Hällfors, H., and Taipale, S.J. (2019) Comparison of diatoms and dinoflagellates from different habitats as sources of PUFAs. *Mar Drugs* **17:** 233.

- World Health Organisation. (2019). No Time to Wait: Securing the Future from Drug-resistant Infections. Report to the Secretary-General of the United Nations. URL https:// www.who.int/publications/i/item/no-time-to-wait-securingthe-future-from-drug-resistant-infections
- Ostlund, R.E., Jr., Racette, S.B., and Stenson, W.F. (2003) Inhibition of cholesterol absorption by phytosterol-replete wheat germ compared with phytosterol-depleted wheat germ. *Am J Clin Nutr* **77:** 1385–1389.
- Pagels, F., Guedes, A.C., Amaro, H.M., Kijjoa, A., and Vasconcelos, V. (2019) Phycobiliproteins from cyanobacteria: chemistry and biotechnological applications. *Biotechnol Adv* 37: 422–443.
- Pan, C.H., Chien, Y.H., and Hunter, B. (2003) The resistance to ammonia stress of *Penaeus monodon Fabricius juvenile* fed diets supplemented with astaxanthin. *J Exp Mar Biol Ecol* **297:** 107–118.
- Pande, G.S.J., Natrah, F.M.I., Flandez, A.V.B., Kumar, U., Niu, Y., Bossier, P., and Defoirdt, T. (2015) Isolation of AHL-degrading bacteria from micro-algal cultures and their impact on algal growth and on virulence of *Vibrio campbellii* to prawn larvae. *Appl Microbiol Biotechnol* **99**: 10805–10813.
- Parra-Riofrío, G., García-Márquez, J., Casas-Arrojo, V., Uribe-Tapia, E., and Abdala-Díaz, R.T. (2020) Antioxidant and cytotoxic effects on tumor cells of exopolysaccharides from *Tetraselmis suecica* (Kylin) butcher grown under autotrophic and heterotrophic conditions. *Mar Drugs* 18: 534.
- Pérez-López, P., de Vree, J.H., Feijoo, G., Bosma, R., Barbosa, M.J., Moreira, M.T. *et al.* (2017) Comparative life cycle assessment of real pilot reactors for microalgae cultivation in different seasons. *Appl Energy* **205**: 1151– 1164.
- Pérez-lópez, P., González-garcía, S., Jeffryes, C., Agathos, S.N., McHugh, E., Walsh, D. *et al.* (2014a) Life cycle assessment of the production of the red antioxidant carotenoid astaxanthin by microalgae: from lab to pilot scale. *J Clean Prod* **64**: 332–344.
- Pérez-López, P., González-García, S., Ulloa, R.G., Sineiro, J., Feijoo, G., and Moreira, M.T. (2014b) Life cycle assessment of the production of bioactive compounds from *Tetraselmis suecica* at pilot scale. *J Clean Prod* 64: 323–331.
- Plaza, M., Herrero, M., Cifuentes, A., and Ibáñez, E. (2009) Innovative natural functional ingredients from microalgae. *J Agric Food Chem* **57:** 7159–7170.
- Porcelli, R., Dotto, F., Pezzolesi, L., Marazza, D., Greggio, N., and Righi, S. (2020) Science of the Total environment comparative life cycle assessment of microalgae cultivation for non-energy purposes using different carbon dioxide sources. *Sci Total Environ* **721**: 137714.
- Prakash, J.W., Marimuthu, J., and Jeeva, S. (2011) Antimicrobial activity of certain fresh water microalgae from Thamirabarani River, Tamil Nadu, South India. *Asian Pac J Trop Biomed* 1: S170–S173.
- Proença, L., Tamanaha, M., and Fonseca, R. (2009) Screening the toxicity and toxin content of blooms of the cyanobacterium *Trichodesmium erythraeum* (Ehrenberg) in northeast brasil. *J Venom Anim Toxins Incl Trop Dis* **15:** 204–215.

^{© 2022} The Authors. *Microbial Biotechnology* published by Society for Applied Microbiology and John Wiley & Sons Ltd., *Microbial Biotechnology*, **15**, 1966–1983

- Qin, S., Lin, H., and Jiang, P. (2012) Advances in genetic engineering of marine algae. *Biotechnol Adv* **30:** 1602–1613.
- Qiu, S., Shen, Y., Zhang, L., Ma, B., Amadu, A.A., and Ge, S. (2020) Antioxidant assessment of wastewatercultivated *Chlorella sorokiniana* in *Drosophila melanogaster. Algal Res* **46**: 101795.
- Rahman, A., and Miller, C. (2017) Microalgae as a source of bioplastics. In *Algal Green Chem*. Amsterdam, Netherlands: Elsevier, pp. 121–138.
- Randhir, A., Laird, D.W., Maker, G., Trengove, R., and Moheimani, N.R. (2020) Microalgae: a potential sustainable commercial source of sterols. *Algal Res* 46: 101772.
- Rather, A.H., Singh, S., and Choudhary, S. (2021) Antibacterial activity of *Haematococcus pluvialis* crude astaxanthin extract. *J drug deliv ther* **11** (2-S): 28–30.
- Riccio, G., and Lauritano, C. (2020) Microalgae with immunomodulatory activities. *Mar Drugs* **18:** 2.
- Righini, H., Francioso, O., Di Foggia, M., Quintana, A.M., and Roberti, R. (2020) Preliminary study on the activity of phycobiliproteins against Botrytis cinerea. *Mar Drugs* **18**: 600.
- Ru, I. T. K., Sung, Y. Y., Jusoh, M., Wahid, M. E. A., and Nagappan, T. (2020) *Chlorella vulgaris*: a perspective on itspotential for combining high biomass with high value bioproducts. *Appl Phycology* 1(1): 2–11.
- Ruffell, S.E., Müller, K.M., and McConkey, B.J. (2016) Comparative assessment of microalgal fatty acids as topical antibiotics. *J Appl Phycol* **28**: 1695–1704.
- Saad, M.H., El-Fakharany, E.M., Salem, M.S., and Sidkey, N.M. (2020) *In vitro* assessment of dual (antiviral and antitumor) activity of a novel lectin produced by the newly cyanobacterium isolate, *Oscillatoria acuminate* MHM-632 MK014210. 1. *J Biomol Struct Dyn* **40(8)**: 3560–3580.
- Sacilotto Detoni, A.M., Costa, L.D., Pacheco, L.A., and Yunes, J.S. (2016) Toxic Trichodesmium bloom occurrence in the southwestern South Atlantic Ocean. *Toxicon* **110:** 51–55.
- Sanjeewa, K.K.A., Fernando, I.P.S., Samarakoon, K.W., Lakmal, H.H.C., Kim, E.A., Kwon, O.N. *et al.* (2016) Antiinflammatory and anti-cancer activities of sterol rich fraction of cultured marine microalga *Nannochloropsis oculata. Algae* **31**: 277–287.
- Satyaraj, E., Reynolds, A., Engler, R., Labuda, J., and Sun, P. (2021) Supplementation of diets with *spirulina* influences immune and gut function in dogs. *Front Nutr* 8: 267.
- Schade, S., and Meier, T. (2019) A comparative analysis of the environmental impacts of cultivating microalgae in different production systems and climatic zones: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Algal Res* **40** (3): 101485.
- Schmidt, M., Krasselt, A., and Reuter, W. (2006) Local protein flexibility as a prerequisite for reversible chromophore isomerization in alpha-phycoerythrocyanin. *Biochim Biophys Acta* **1764**: 55–62.
- Sharifah, E.N., and Eguchi, M. (2011) The phytoplankton *Nannochloropsis oculata* enhances the ability of *Roseobacter* clade bacteria to inhibit the growth of fish pathogen *vibrio anguillarum*. *PLoS One* **6**: e26756.
- Sharifah, E.N., and Eguchi, M. (2012) Benefits of live phytoplankton, *Chlorella vulgaris*, as a biocontrol agent against fish pathogen *Vibrio anguillarum*. *Fish Sci* **78**: 367–373.

- Shimidzu, N., Goto, M., and Miki, W. (1996) Carotenoids as singlet oxygen quenchers in marine organisms. *Fish Sci* 62: 134–137.
- Singh, S., Kate, B.N., and Banerjee, U. (2005) Bioactive compounds from cyanobacteria and microalgae: an overview. *Crit Rev Biotechnol* 25: 73–95.
- Singh, P.K., Schaefer, A.L., Parsek, M.R., Moninger, T.O., Welsh, M.J., and Greenberg, E.P. (2000) Quorumsensing signals indicate that cystic fibrosis lungs are infected with bacterial biofilms. *Nature* **407**: 762–764.
- Smetana, S., Sandmann, M., Rohn, S., Pleissner, D., and Heinz, V. (2017) Bioresource technology autotrophic and heterotrophic microalgae and cyanobacteria cultivation for food and feed: life cycle assessment. *Bioresour Technol* 245: 162–170.
- Spicer, A. and S. Purton (2017). Genetic Engineering of Microalgae Current Status and Future Prospects, Microalgal Production. Boca Raton, FL, CRC Press, 139–163.
- Starr, M., Lair, S., Michaud, S., Scarratt, M., Quilliam, M., Lefaivre, D. *et al.* (2017) Multispecies mass mortality of marine fauna linked to a toxic dinoflagellate bloom. *PloS* one **12**: e0176299.
- Tabarsa, M., Shin, I.S., Lee, J.H., Surayot, U., Park, W., and You, S. (2015) An immune-enhancing water-soluble α-glucan from *Chlorella vulgaris* and structural characteristics. *Food Sci Biotechnol* **24**: 1933–1941.
- Tarko, T., Duda-Chodak, A., and Kobus, M. (2012) Influence of growth medium composition on synthesis of bioactive compounds and antioxidant properties of selected strains of *Arthrospira* cyanobacteria. *Czech Journal of Food Sci* 30: 258–267.
- Teimouri, M., Yeganeh, S., Mianji, G.R., Najafi, M., and Mahjoub, S. (2019) The effect of *Spirulina platensis* meal on antioxidant gene expression, total antioxidant capacity, and lipid peroxidation of rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*). *Fish Physiol Biochem* **45:** 977–986.
- Teplitski, M., Chen, H., Rajamani, S., Gao, M., Merighi, M., Sayre, R.T. *et al.* (2004) *Chlamydomonas reinhardtii* secretes compounds that mimic bacterial signals and interfere with quorum sensing regulation in bacteria. *Plant Physiol* **134**: 137–146.
- Valdovinos-García, E.M., Petriz-Prieto, M.A., de los Ángeles Olán-Acosta, M., Barajas-Fernández, J., Guzmán-López, A., and Bravo-Sánchez, M.G. (2021) Production of microalgal biomass in photobioreactors as feedstock for bioenergy and other uses: a techno-economic study of harvesting stage. *Appl Sci (Switzerland)* **11(10)**: 4386.
- Vishwakarma, J., and Sirisha, V.L. (2020) Unraveling the anti-biofilm potential of green algal sulfated polysaccharides against salmonella enterica and *Vibrio harveyi. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol* **104**: 6299–6314.
- Volkman, J. (2003) Sterols in microorganisms. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 60: 495–506.
- Wächter, G.A., Franzblau, S.G., Montenegro, G., Hoffmann, J.J., Maiese, W.M., and Timmermann, B.N. (2001) Inhibition of *mycobacterium tuberculosis* growth by Saringosterol from *Lessonia nigrescens*. J Nat Prod **64**: 1463– 1464.
- Wang, D.Z. (2008) Neurotoxins from marine dinoflagellates: a brief review. *Mar Drugs* **6:** 349–371.

^{© 2022} The Authors. *Microbial Biotechnology* published by Society for Applied Microbiology and John Wiley & Sons Ltd., *Microbial Biotechnology*, **15**, 1966–1983

- Wang, X.Q., Li, L.N., Chang, W.R., Zhang, J.P., Gui, L.L., Guo, B.J., and Liang, D.C. (2001) Structure of Cphycocyanin from *Spirulina platensis* at 2.2 a resolution: a novel monoclinic crystal form for phycobiliproteins in phycobilisomes. *Acta Crystallogr D Biol Crystallogr* **57**: 784– 792.
- Waters, C.M., and Goldberg, J.B. (2019) *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* in cystic fibrosis: a chronic cheater. *PNAS* **116**: 6525–6527.
- Wayama, M., Ota, S., Matsuura, H., Nango, N., Hirata, A., and Kawano, S. (2013) Three-dimensional ultrastructural study of oil and astaxanthin accumulation during encystment in the green alga *Haematococcus pluvialis*. *PLoS One* 8: e53618.
- Williams, P.J.L.B., and Laurens, L.M.L. (2010) Microalgae as biodiesel & biomass feedstocks: review & analysis of the biochemistry, energetics & economics. *Energ Environ Sci* **3**: 554–590.

- Xu, W., Gao, Z., Qi, Z., Qiu, M., Peng, J., and Shao, R. (2014) Effect of dietary *chlorella* on the growth performance and physiological parameters of *Gibel carp*, *Carassius auratus gibelio*. *Turkish J Fish Aquat Sci* **250**: 53–57.
- Yang, F., Bewley, C.A., Louis, J.M., Gustafson, K.R., Boyd, M.R., Gronenborn, A.M. *et al.* (1999) Crystal structure of cyanovirin-N, a potent HIV-inactivating protein, shows unexpected domain swapping. *J Mol Biol* 288: 403–412.
- Yarnold, J., Karan, H., Oey, M., and Hankamer, B. (2019) Microalgal aquafeeds as part of a circular bioeconomy. *Trends Plant Sci* **24:** 959–970.
- Zerrifi, S.E.A., Mugani, R., Redouane, E.M., El Khalloufi, F., Campos, A., Vasconcelos, V., and Oudra, B. (2021) Harmful cyanobacterial blooms (HCBs): innovative green bioremediation process based on anticyanobacteria bioactive natural products. *Arch Microbiol* **203:** 31–44.

5 DISCUSSION

5.1 Deep RNA sequencing identified novel clues of microalgae and bacteria interactions

To understand the mechanisms of interaction between microalgae and other microorganisms, it is essential to thoroughly understand their metabolic pathways in a multispecies system, including symbiotic and competitive interactions. This requires a solid scientific and theoretical foundation. This study's findings promote the development of effective methods for the simultaneous cultivation of algae and encourage the increasing efficiency of microalgal biomass growth and the associated production of valuable compounds.

My doctoral research aimed to investigate the specialised distribution of assignments at the algaebacterial phycosphere. Evaluating the top 250 gene hits resulted in identifying genes supporting the distribution of assignments at the microbial consortium. Identified genes were related to general metabolic activities, carbohydrate degradation, biofilm formation, transport mechanisms, and secretion systems. Former reports on the interactions within the microalga-bacteria consortia have also provided a blueprint for constructing mutually beneficial synthetic ecosystems in which the general metabolic activities played a significant role (45–47).

The broad-spectrum complex relationships through competition and synergy in algae-bacterial phycosphere biofilms were studied to investigate the hypothesis that dominant bacterial members possess the role of superior competitors. Members of the microbiome of *S. quadricauda* participate in the consortium niche in a competitive way that is reflected in a heat map with the correspondence to genes affiliated with potential antibiotic substances, endonucleases and exonucleases, permeases, proteases, heme synthesis, and quorum quenching, which are known as essential factors required for biofilm formation, virulence, and competition (48–51). The analysis of the microbiome of *S. quadricauda* revealed different proteins supposed to be beneficial during the competition for space and nutrients on surfaces in biofilms. Bacterial dominance can be attributed to the ability of these organisms to form microcolonies rapidly and their ability to produce extracellular antibacterial compounds (52). The *S. quadricauda* microbiome is composed of single-species populations or mixed populations with varying levels of interaction, depending on the exponential or stationary growth phase. *Porphyrobacter, Dyadobacter*, and *Variovorax* were found to be the dominant producers of numerous antibacterial proteins, which can eliminate other microorganisms or exhibit solid inhibitory activity against them.

The signalling molecules related to quorum sensing and quorum quenching activity were affiliated with the α -Proteobacteriota and Bacteroidota. Among metatranscriptome data sets, proteins predicted as quorum quenching included dienelactone hydrolase, imidazolonepropionase, 6-phosphogluconolactonase, gluconolactonase, oxidoreductases, and metal-dependent hydrolases of the b-lactamase superfamily, related to quorum quenching activity. Highly

61

transcribed genes were observed, mainly at the stationary growth phase, that fulfil the competitive needs of bacteria to comprise one of the dominant heterotrophic bacterial groups in aquaculture. Dienelactone hydrolase, a quorum quenching enzyme that degrades or modifies N-Acyl homoserine lactones (AHLs) (53, 54), was established for Dyadobacter and Porphyrobacter. Gluconolactonases, reported as guorum guenching enzymes (55), were mapped to Dyadobacter. Another enzyme class, oxidoreductase, shown to catalyse the oxidation or reduction of the acyl side chain (56, 57), originated in Variovorax and Dyadobacter. The analysis also revealed several phenotypes beneficial for bacterial surface colonisation, including motility, exopolysaccharide production, biofilm formation, and toxin production, often regulated by quorum sensing (8, 14, 15). Simultaneously, several members of the S. guadricauda microbiome appeared to be the leading suppliers of vitamins to microalga. Genes involved in thiamine, cobalamin, biotin, and riboflavin synthesis were established for α -Proteobacteriota and Cytophagaceae, which confirms the strong evidence that alga-associated bacteria are responsible for the supply of the essential vitamins to alga (18). Thus, this study shows that this interaction involves the strong collaboration between members of the alga-bacterial phycosphere with the support of nutritional components and the synergetic exchange of biosynthetic compounds.

To facilitate the proliferation and survival inside eukaryotic hosts, many pathogenic bacteria are known to use secretion systems by the secretion of protein effectors or protein-DNA complexes (58). The presence of the T6SS in the genome of *Dyadobacter* suggests the distribution of tasks among members of studied consortia, providing fitness and colonisation advantages, which are not restricted to virulence. T9SS machinery components, established for Dyadobacter within the Bacteroidota phylum, represent the assembly of the gliding motility apparatus and possible external release of proteins with various functions, including cell surface exposition, attachment, and other virulence factors (56, 57). The widespread occurrence of gliding motility genes was previously revealed among the members of the same phylum, the gliding bacterium Flavobacterium johnsoniae, and the nonmotile oral pathogen Porphyromonas gingivalis. F. johnsoniae uses T9SS as the gliding motility apparatus, and for chitinase secretion, P. gingivalis secretes through this system gingipain protease virulence factors. The same route likely secretes other polysaccharide-digesting enzymes produced by various members of the phylum. The mechanisms underlying the processes of gliding motility and cell surface machinery to utilise polysaccharides remain unclear (59, 60). Nevertheless, it is known that T9SS machinery secretes most of CAZymes, such as glycoside hydrolases (GHs), polysaccharide lyases (PLs), carbohydrate esterases (CEs), and accessory proteins (61, 62).

In this study, I identified a significant number of genes of high importance for root colonisation, biofilm formation, invasion (63, 64), virulence, and pathogenicity (65–67). This study describes genes affiliated with overall plant-bacteria interaction pathways, including ROS tolerance, LRR proteins, and invasion-associated proteins (19). Numerous genes, known for ROS tolerance,

were highly transcribed at the stationary phase, which explains the necessity of bacteria to protect themselves from massive amounts of reactive oxygen species released by microalgae, previously suggested to expose them to pathogens (68). Furthermore, it is supposed that dominating microorganisms can use LRR and invasion proteins as signalling and detecting components to establish the interaction with the possible innate immune system of the *S. quadricauda*. This study gave a detailed insight into the mutualistic collaboration of microalgae and bacteria, including the involvement of competitive interplay between bacteria. Further, it was followed by unravelling the complex nutrient exchange and mutual support in different aspects of the cross-kingdom synergistic network and signalling between the bacteria and microalgae (19, 44).

5.2 Extensive investigation of the interplay between the microalga *Micrasterias radians* and its symbiont *Dyadobacter* sp. HH091

5.2.1 Flexirubin biosynthesis conceivably involved in microalgae-bacteria liaison

The most comprehensive and fundamental understanding of microbial metabolic pathways in a multispecies system and symbiotic and competitive interactions is required to provide scientific and theoretical bases for the interaction mechanisms within microalgae-bacteria liaison. The presented results indicate the requirement for more advanced techniques for algae cultivation. These results highlight the importance of improving the efficiency of microalgal biomass growth and the synthesis of valuable compounds.

The transcriptome analysis of *Dyadobacter* sp. HH091 co-cultured with microalga *M. radians* revealed highly active genes affiliated with the cluster of flexirubin biosynthesis. This cluster includes *darA* and *darB* genes, homologs of *F. johnsoniae* UW101 (69) and *C. pinensis* (70).

Flexirubin is a pigment consisting of a ω -(4-hydroxyphenyl)-polyene carboxylic acid chromophore, esterified with a 2,5-dialkylresorcinol (DAR), also known as a novel and widespread bacterial signalling molecule (70–72). Genes coding for the biosynthesis of these pigments are found in many bacteroidotal genomes, including *Flavobacterium psychrophilum, Flavobacterium johnsoniae* (69), *Leadbetterella byssophila* (72), *Chryseobacterium artocarpi* (73), *Chryseobacterium rhizoplanae* sp. nov. (74), *Flavobacterium maris* sp. nov. (75), and *Flavobacterium tilapiae* sp. nov. (76). Homologs of *darA*, a dialkylresorcinol condensing enzyme, and *darB*, a 3-oxoacyl-[acyl-carrier-protein] synthase III protein, were previously identified using bioinformatics tools within the genome analysis of our model organism *Dyadobacter* sp. HH091 (19).

An additional noteworthy aspect is that in the plant-bacteria interaction model, flexirubin also performs as a free radical scavenging antioxidant that protects from the attack of free radicals

(70, 77, 78). The antioxidant potential *via* hydrogen donating ability of flexirubin has been shown through the assessment using different assays such as radical scavenging activities, lipid peroxide inhibition and ferrous chelating ability (79). Several studies show that microalgae produce ROS to get an advantage in the competition for resources against other algae, be a way to prevent fouling bacteria and act as a signalling mechanism between cells (80). Additionally, ROS, such as superoxide (O_2^-), hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2), and hydroxyl radical (•OH), are known as antibacterial agents involved in the oxidation or reduction of necessary or toxic metals (81). Former investigation of microalga *Micrasterias* spp. demonstrated that ROS are constantly generated as by-products of general metabolic cellular pathways and can be over-produced in response to stress (82–84). Our results indicate that *Dyadobacter* sp. HH091 uses flexirubin hybrid pigments to protect itself from ROS produced by microalga, which explains this interaction, making it possible for microalgal symbiont to have tight contact with its host.

5.2.2 T9SS tangled in the symbiotic interactions of Dyadobacter with microalgae

The presence of different secretion systems suggests that Dyadobacter sp. HH091 and microalgae possess a signal exchange system that establishes and maintains a symbiosis that includes adhesion factors, microcolonisation development, extracellular polymeric substances production, and biofilm formation factors, which are essential for successful symbiosis. Previously, a comprehensive set of cell surface-associated proteins required for host cell invasion was described for other bacterial model organisms (85-87). These mechanisms express certain factors facilitating niche adaptation, including cell-host attachment, microcolonisation and biofilm formation. Genes coding for the cell surface-associated proteins and secretion systems are mainly up-regulated in Dyadobacter sp. HH091, expecting them to be crucial for the microcolonisation process because they establish interaction with the host. Cell-host interaction, adhesion factors, microcolonisation development, and biofilm formation succeed in close interaction and exchange of growth-promoting substances between the symbiont and microalga. Surface-exposed proteins that are covalently or non-covalently bound to the cell surface and proteins are secreted into the extracellular matrix using different secretion mechanisms (87–90). Secreted proteins accommodate the majority of virulence factors, enzymes required for nutrient acquisition or cell spreading, immune evasion proteins that bypass the immune system or interfere with components of the complement system and many others. Overall, secretion systems are known to transport effector proteins into the cytosol of eukaryotic cells, allowing the direct communication and modification of the host cells and suppressing any activity of competitive microorganisms (91). Dyadobacter sp. HH091 has many unique features together with the complex of different secretion systems, which are available to arbitrate secretion of proteins across the outer membrane, including T9SS, a complex translocon found only in some species of the Bacteroidota phylum (19, 44, 92).

A complex translocon of T9SS, including *gld* and *spr* genes and *porXY-sigP* signalling system components, are proposed to serve as the secretion system of cargo proteins. The T9SS cargo proteins have a conserved C-terminal domain (CTD) that enables them to pass *via* T9SS and an N-terminal signal peptide that guides T9SS cargo proteins through the Sec system (93, 94). The CTD signal has been identified as type A and B (94, 95). High activity of T9SS cargo proteins has been observed in this transcriptome analysis, which was also shown in the former studies on the *Dyadobacter* genome (19). It resulted in 48 up-regulated and 24 down-regulated genes affiliated with T9SS cargo proteins of both types (44).

gldA, gldF and *gldG* encode components of an ATP-binding cassette (ABC) transporter required for motility and/or protein secretion (96, 97). Genes encoding lipoproteins necessary for gliding (*gldB, gldD, gldH, gldI*, and *gldJ*) have also been identified (98–102). GldK, GldL, GldM, and GldN are each required for efficient motility and chitin utilisation, indicating that Gld proteins may function in gliding and chitin utilisation (101). SprA is necessary for the secretion of SprB and RemA and the utilisation of chitin (103). In *F. johnsoniae*, SprA has been identified as the significant translocon protein of T9SS, and it is hypothesised that SprA of *Dyadobacter* sp. HH091 can also have the same function (104). The down-regulated gene coding for SprF is essential for the secretion of SprB to the cell surface but is not required for the secretion of other proteins and is not only involved in gliding motility.

5.2.3 Polysaccharide utilisation is a crucial aspect of microalgae-bacteria interaction

T9SS is known to be tangled in the secretion of polysaccharide utilisation proteins (106, 107). Previously, it was shown that the significant chitinase (ChiA) in *F. johnsoniae* is fully secreted from the cell in soluble form by T9SS and is essential for chitin degradation (59, 107, 108). Based on genome and transcriptome analyses, presumably, *Dyadobacter* sp. HH091 has a complex of carbohydrate utilisation domains for the digestion of microalgae cell walls, hemicelluloses, such as cellulose, xylan or mannan fibrils, and extensive matrix polysaccharides. Numerous carbohydrate-active enzymes predicted to encode GHs and esterases that could be involved in the degradation of microalgal cell wall hemicelluloses were highly active within transcriptome datasets (19, 44). In addition, candidates like xylanases, β -xylosidases, arabinofuranosidases, and beta-glucuronidases involved in xylan digestion, β -mannosidases involved in mannan digestion, and candidate β -glycosidases and endoglucanase that could be involved in xyloglucan digestion were also identified.
Data obtained from transcriptome analysis allows us to understand better the nature of bacterial polysaccharide utilisation genes' involvement in bacteria-algae liaison. In the previous study, I observed that the genome of a given symbiont possesses a wide assortment of CAZymes predicted to breach algal cell walls (19). A deep investigation of transcriptome datasets unveiled the presence of these genes among differentially expressed genes (DEGs). A significant number of genes (82) among these DEGs belong to functions vital for carbohydrate transport and metabolism, including different GHs families, which are known to be involved in plant polysaccharides degradation (109). For example, many up-regulated transcripts are affiliated with genes responsible for the biosynthesis of GH5, GH13, GH25, GH30 and GH43 family enzymes, which function as effectors with roles in the degradation of plant polysaccharides (110, 111). These enzymes are known for acting as cellulose-degrading (112), starch-degrading (113), catalysing hemicellulose and removing xyloses from xyloglucan (114, 115). Additionally, it was uncovered that genes affiliated with the synthesis of GH88 CAZyme, utilising polysaccharide lyase activity to degrade pectins (61), were also up-regulated. Other highly active genes coding for xylose isomerases belong to the CAZyme family GH43 that generally display specificity for arabinose-containing substrates. This gene combination reflects the competence of the symbiont to utilise starch and the complex of arabinan sidechains of pectin-rich cell walls as essential nutrients (113, 116).

In this transcriptome analysis, I demonstrated that bacteria could profit through the degradation of algal polysaccharides, while microalgae are supplied with a repertoire of growth-promoting substances. The results of this research will serve as an efficient tool in further investigations of symbiotic microalgae-bacteria interactions. The co-cultivation of microalgae and bacteria has significant benefits for both commercial and environmental purposes in microalgal cultivation.

Furthermore, I gave a concise clarification regarding microalgae and its related microorganisms, emphasising their immense potential in promoting health benefits. In addition, I highlighted the challenges that are hindering the widespread adoption and advancement of associated technologies.

5.3 Potential benefits of microalgae and affiliated microbiomes

From a sustainability perspective, microalgae production allows capturing CO_2 with a higher average bioenergetic yield on sunlight than higher plants: 10% vs 5%, respectively (117). In addition, such higher yield allows reducing in the use of land for cultivation.

Microalgae are becoming increasingly interesting for extracting high-value compounds rather than as feedstock for refining low-value products such as biofuels. Concerning this extraction, Perez-Lopez et al. (118, 119) showed that the extraction stage (methanol and KOH solutions) for producing PUFAs, a-tocopherol, chlorophyll, b-carotenoid, and polyphenols by *Tetraselmis* *suecica* was the second most important contributor to most environmental impact categories but remained far behind the cultivation stage. Regardless of the extraction method for a specific bioactive compound, the cultivation of new microalgal strains will continue to be the leading environmental concern. To minimise the adverse effects of microalgal production on the environment, it is important to utilise co-products through an integrated biorefinery approach. (120, 121). Microalgae residual biomass can serve as a substrate for biogas production via anaerobic digestion, and the residual digestate can substitute for the production of fertilisers (118, 119, 122). If the nutrient profile of the biomass meets the requirements, it is a viable option as an alternative to animal feed (123). Due to the high diversity of the assumptions, parameters, and production technologies for strains that have not been cultivated yet, it is worth noting that their behaviour, optimal growth conditions and productivity in given reactors and locations are currently challenging to anticipate and, therefore highly uncertain (23, 124).

The potential need to induce bioactive molecule production by specific cultivation conditions, such as high-intensity lighting for astaxanthin production from *Haematococcus pluvialis*, could significantly affect the final environmental impacts (118, 119, 125). Ultimately, the overall sustainability of producing microalgae-based bioactive molecules depends on the final efficiency and quality of the produced compounds. Finding synergistic products would therefore be of great interest. Indeed, the compound's capacity to substitute alternatives and tackle critical issues such as fish farming health management will highly affect its environmental performance (126, 127).

Currently, the significant knowledge gap is linked to the correspondingly low numbers of algal species studied, as only a small percentage of species have been investigated compared to the large number of microalgal species that exist (128), as illustrated by the number of times the same genus names are repeated in the present review. Therefore, one of the most urgent tasks is to increase our knowledge by investigating new microalgal species and focusing on other than well-known genera (129).

Optimal culture conditions are only sometimes known for all algal strains nor optimal for producing the compounds of interest. This means that additional research is needed for each strain to optimise the farming protocol for biomass and the production of the compounds of interest (130). Another approach is identifying or creating mutants that overexpress the compounds of interest. Though genetic engineering of microalgae is possible, it is more technically challenging than for other organisms (131–133).

Consequently, alternative and potentially more promising pathways could be integrated into multiomics approaches to stimulate production within microalgae and their microbiota and transfer and expression of biosynthetic pathways in suitable heterologous host species and strains. (Meta)genomics, (meta)transcriptomics, (meta)proteomics, and MS-based metabolomics approaches can help unravel biosynthetic pathway activity constraints in microalgae and their microbiomes and identify beneficial chemical compounds.

6 CONCLUSION

Throughout my doctoral research, I thoroughly studied the unique interaction between microalgae and the associated microbiota. According to the study's transcriptome analysis, the Scenedesmus quadricauda microbiota consists of less than ten distinct microbial species that are metabolically active. Furthermore, I presented compelling evidence linking the dominant species with the Variovorax, Porphyrobacter, and Dyadobacter genera. Based on experimental investigations and transcriptome analysis, it is evident that *Dyadobacter* plays a critical role in promoting the growth and overall fitness of algae in the phycosphere within multispecies interactions. While presumably under light conditions, the alga provides the energy source to the bacteria, Dyadobacter produces and releases mainly a large variety of polysaccharides modifying enzymes. This is coherent with the high-level expression of the T9SS in alga cocultures. The transcriptome data further implied that quorum quenching proteins and biosynthesis of vitamins B_1 , B_2 , B_5 , B_6 , and B_9 were expressed by Dyadobacter at high levels compared to Variovorax and Porphyrobacter. Notably, Dyadobacter produced a significant number of leucine-rich repeat proteins and enzymes involved in bacterial reactive oxygen species tolerance. Complementary to this, Variovorax expressed the biosynthesis genes of vitamins B₂, B₅, B₆, B₇, B₉, B₁₂, and *Porphyrobacter* specialised in producing vitamins B₂ and B₆. This work significantly enlarges our knowledge of algae-bacteria interaction and demonstrates physiological investigations of microalgae and associated bacteria using microscopy observations, photosynthetic activity measurements, and flow cytometry.

Based on this detailed insight into the mutualistic collaboration of microalga and its microbiome, I established an artificial plant-bacteria system of the microalga Micrasterias radians MZCH 672 and the bacterial isolate Dyadobacter sp. HH091. The bacteria, affiliated with the phylum Bacteroidota, strongly stimulated microalga growth when added to axenic algal cultures. For further advances, I studied the isolate HH091 and its interaction with the microalga M. radians using transcriptome and extensive genome analyses. The genome of HH091 contains predicted polysaccharides utilising gene clusters co-working with the type IX secretion system (T9SS) and conceivably involved in the algae-bacteria liaison. Here, I focused on characterising the mechanism of T9SS, implementing the attachment and invasion of microalga by Dyadobacter sp. HH091. Omics analysis exposed T9SS genes: gldK, gldL, gldM, gldN, sprA, sprE, sprF, sprT, porU, and porV. Besides, gld genes not considered as the T9SS components but required for gliding motility and protein secretion (gldA, gldB, gldD, gldF, gldG, gldH, gldI, gldJ) were also identified in this analysis. In this research, I proposed the first model of the T9SS apparatus of Dyadobacter. By using the combination of fluorescence labelling of Dyadobacter sp. HH091, I examined the bacterial colonisation and penetration into the cell wall of the algal host *M. radians* MZCH 672.

Additionally, I studied the potential of microalgae in combination with their associated microbiota as promising health management tools. This study demonstrated that various species of microalgae contain substances that possess antimicrobial, immune-stimulating, and antioxidant properties. Considering a variety of those species and a relatively few substances that have been investigated, it is likely that many beneficial compounds remain to be discovered. In this context, much research remains to identify new compounds. Furthermore, it is crucial to clarify their mechanisms of action and make their application practical by optimising production methods and reducing their production costs and multi-omics approaches.

7 OTHER PUBLICATIONS

In addition to the present study, I contributed to the following studies:

Astafyeva, Y., Alawi, M., Indenbirken, D., Danso, D., Grundhoff, A., Hanelt, D., Streit, W. R., & Krohn, I. (2020). Draft Genome Sequence of the Green Alga *Scenedesmus acuminatus* SAG 38.81. Microbiology Resource Announcements, 9(24). https://doi.org/10.1128/MRA.01278-19

Peters, M. K., **Astafyeva**, **Y.**, Han, Y., Macdonald, J. F. H., Indenbirken, D., Nakel, J., Virdi, S., Westhoff, G., Streit, W. R., & Krohn, I. (2023). Novel marine metalloprotease-new approaches for inhibition of biofilm formation of *Stenotrophomonas maltophilia*. Applied microbiology and biotechnology. Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00253-023-12781-0

Bergmann, L., Balzer Le, S., Hageskal, G., Preuß, L., Han, Y., **Astafyeva, Y.**, Loevenich, S., Emmann, S., Perez-Garcia, P., Indenbirken, D., Katzowitsch, E., Thümmler, F., Alawi, M., Wentzel, A., Streit, W. R., and Krohn I. (2023). New dienelactone hydrolase from microalgae and their bacterial community - Antibiofilm activity against fish pathogens and potentials for aquaculture application. Under review.

8 REFERENCES

- 1. Fulbright, S. P., Robbins-Pianka, A., Berg-Lyons, D., Knight, R., Reardon, K. F., and Chisholm, S. T. (2018). Bacterial community changes in an industrial algae production system. Algal Research, 31, 147-156. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.algal.2017.09.010
- Krohn-Molt, I., Wemheuer, B., Alawi, M., Poehlein, A., Güllert, S., Schmeisser, C., Pommerening-Röser, A., Grundhoff, A., Daniel, R., Hanelt, D., and Streit, W. R. (2013). Metagenome Survey of a Multispecies and Alga-Associated Biofilm Revealed Key Elements of Bacterial-Algal Interactions in Photobioreactors. Applied and Environmental Microbiology, 79(20), 6196-6206. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.01641-13
- 3. Cirri, E., and Pohnert, G. (2019). Algae-bacteria interactions that balance the planktonic microbiome. New Phytologist, 223(1), 100-106. https://doi.org/10.1111/nph.15765
- 4. Ramanan, R., Kim, B., Cho, D., Oh, H., and Kim, H. (2015). Algae–bacteria interactions: Evolution, ecology and emerging applications. Biotechnology Advances, 34(1), 14-29. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biotechadv.2015.12.003
- Fuentes, J. L., Garbayo, I., Cuaresma, M., Montero, Z., and Vílchez, C. (2016). Impact of Microalgae-Bacteria Interactions on the Production of Algal Biomass and Associated Compounds. Marine Drugs, 14(5), 100. https://doi.org/10.3390/md14050100
- Lee, H. G., Shin, S. Y., Jin, L., Yoo, C., Srivastava, A., La, H. J., Ahn, C. Y., Kim, H. S., and Oh, H. M. (2015). Establishment and maintenance of an axenic culture of Ettlia sp. using a species-specific approach. Biotechnology and Bioprocess Engineering, 20, 1056–1063. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12257-015-0289-4
- 7. Whitman, T., Neurath, R., Perera, A., Chu-Jacoby, I., Ning, D., Zhou, J., Nico, P., Pett-Ridge, J. and Firestone, M. (2018), Microbial community assembly differs across minerals in a rhizosphere microcosm. Environmental Microbiology, 20: 4444-4460. https://doi.org/10.1111/1462-2920.14366
- Davies, D. G., Parsek, M. R., Pearson, J. P., Iglewski, B. H., Costerton, J. W., and Greenberg, E. P. (1998). The Involvement of Cell-to-Cell Signals in the Development of a Bacterial Biofilm. Science (New York, N.Y.), 280(5361), 295–298. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.280.5361.295
- 9. Segev, E., Wyche, T. P., Kim, K. H., Petersen, J., Ellebrandt, C., Vlamakis, H., Barteneva, N., Paulson, J. N., Chai, L., Clardy, J., and Kolter, R. (2016). Dynamic metabolic exchange governs a marine algalbacterial interaction. ELife, 5. https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.17473
- Wieczorek, A. S., Schmidt, O., Chatzinotas, A., Von Bergen, M., Gorissen, A., and Kolb, S. (2019). Ecological Functions of Agricultural Soil Bacteria and Microeukaryotes in Chitin Degradation: A Case Study. Frontiers in Microbiology, 10, 452841. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2019.01293
- 11. Shen, Y., and Benner, R. (2018). Mixing it up in the ocean carbon cycle and the removal of refractory dissolved organic carbon. Scientific Reports, 8(1), 1-9. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-20857-5
- Käse, L., and Geuer, J.K. (2018). Phytoplankton Responses to Marine Climate Change An Introduction. In: Jungblut, S., Liebich, V., Bode, M. (eds) YOUMARES 8 – Oceans Across Boundaries: Learning from each other. pp 55–71. Springer, Cham. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-93284-2_5
- 13. Luo, H., and Moran, M. A. (2014). Evolutionary ecology of the marine Roseobacter clade. Microbiology and molecular biology reviews, 78(4), 573–587. https://doi.org/10.1128/MMBR.00020-14
- 14. Stoodley, P., Sauer, K., Davies, D. G., and Costerton, J. W. (2002). Biofilms as complex differentiated communities. Annual review of microbiology, 56, 187–209. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.micro.56.012302.160705
- 15. Parsek, M. R., and Greenberg, E. P. (2005). Sociomicrobiology: the connections between quorum sensing and biofilms. Trends in microbiology, 13(1), 27–33. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tim.2004.11.007

- 16. Phour, M., Sehrawat, A., Sindhu, S. S., and Glick, B. R. (2020). Interkingdom signaling in plantrhizomicrobiome interactions for sustainable agriculture. Microbiological research, 241, 126589. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.micres.2020.126589
- 17. Park, Y., Je, K. W., Lee, K. Jung, S. E., and Choi, T. J. (2008). Growth promotion of Chlorella ellipsoidea by co-inoculation with Brevundimonas sp. isolated from the microalga. Hydrobiologia, 598, 219–228. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10750-007-9152-8
- Alawi, M., Förstner, K. U., Wiegandt, A., Burkhardt, L., Indenbirken, D., Thieß, M., Grundhoff, A., Kehr, J., Tholey, A., and Streit, W. R. (2017). Insights into Microalga and Bacteria Interactions of Selected Phycosphere Biofilms Using Metagenomic, Transcriptomic, and Proteomic Approaches. Frontiers in Microbiology, 8, 287590. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2017.01941
- 19. Astafyeva, Y., Gurschke, M., Qi, M., Bergmann, L., Indenbirken, D., de Grahl, I., Katzowitsch, E., Reumann, S., Hanelt, D., Alawi, M., Streit, W. R., and Krohn, I. (2022). Microalgae and Bacteria Interaction-Evidence for Division of Diligence in the Alga Microbiota. Microbiology spectrum, 10(4), e0063322. https://doi.org/10.1128/spectrum.00633-22
- 20. Brameyer, S., Kresovic, D., Bode, H. B., and Heermann, R. (2015). Dialkylresorcinols as bacterial signaling molecules. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 112(2), 572–577. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1417685112
- 21. Mouget, J., Dakhama, A., Lavoie, M. C., and De la Noüe, J. (1995). Algal growth enhancement by bacteria: Is consumption of photosynthetic oxygen involved? FEMS Microbiology Ecology, 18(1), 35-43. https://doi.org/10.1016/0168-6496(95)00038-C
- 22. Chisti, Y. (2008). Biodiesel from microalgae beats bioethanol. Trends in Biotechnology, 26(3), 126-131. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tibtech.2007.12.002
- 23. Mata, T. M., Martins, A. A., and Caetano, N. S. (2009). Microalgae for biodiesel production and other applications: A review. Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews, 14(1), 217-232. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2009.07.020
- 24. Hempel, F., Bozarth, A. S., Lindenkamp, N., Klingl, A., Zauner, S., Linne, U., Steinbüchel, A., and Maier, U. G. (2011). Microalgae as bioreactors for bioplastic production. Microbial cell factories, 10, 81. https://doi.org/10.1186/1475-2859-10-81
- 25. Rahman, A., and Miller, C. (2016). Microalgae as a Source of Bioplastics. Algal Green Chemistry, 121-138. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-444-63784-0.00006-0
- 26. Khan, M. I., Shin, J. H., and Kim, J. D. (2018). The promising future of microalgae: current status, challenges, and optimization of a sustainable and renewable industry for biofuels, feed, and other products. Microbial cell factories, 17(1), 36. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12934-018-0879-x
- Onen Cinar, S., Chong, Z. K., Kucuker, M. A., Wieczorek, N., Cengiz, U., and Kuchta, K. (2019). Bioplastic Production from Microalgae: A Review. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, 17(11), 3842. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph17113842
- Keasling, J., Garcia Martin, H., Lee, T. S., Mukhopadhyay, A., Singer, S. W., and Sundstrom, E. (2021). Microbial production of advanced biofuels. Nature Reviews Microbiology, 19(11), 701-715. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41579-021-00577-w
- 29. Ostlund, R. E., Jr, Racette, S. B., and Stenson, W. F. (2003). Inhibition of cholesterol absorption by phytosterol-replete wheat germ compared with phytosterol-depleted wheat germ. The American journal of clinical nutrition, 77(6), 1385–1389. https://doi.org/10.1093/ajcn/77.6.1385
- 30. Scodelaro Bilbao, P.G., Damiani, C., Salvador, G.A., Leonardi, P. (2016). Haematococcus pluvialis as a source of fatty acids and phytosterols: potential nutritional and biological implications. Journal of Applied Phycology, 28, 3283–3294. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10811-016-0899-z

- 31. Randhir, A., Laird, D. W., Maker, G., Trengove, R., and Moheimani, N. R. (2020). Microalgae: A potential sustainable commercial source of sterols. Algal Research, 46, 101772. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.algal.2019.101772
- 32. O'Neill, J. (2016). Tackling Drug-Resistant Infections Globally: Final Report and Recommendations. Review on Antimicrobial Resistance. Wellcome Trust and HM Government. https://amrreview.org/sites/default/files/160525_Final%20paper_with%20cover.pdf
- 33. World Health Organization. (2019). No time to wait: Securing the future from drug-resistant infections. IACG Report to the Secretary General of the United Nations. Geneva: The UN Interagency Coordination Group on AMR. https://www.who.int/antimicrobial-resistance/interagency-coordinationgroup/IACG_final_report_EN.pdf
- 34. Ahlgren, N. A., Harwood, C. S., Schaefer, A. L., Giraud, E., and Greenberg, E. P. (2011). Arylhomoserine lactone quorum sensing in stem-nodulating photosynthetic bradyrhizobia. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 108(17), 7183-7188. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1103821108
- 35. Waters, C. M., and Goldberg, J. B. (2019). Pseudomonas aeruginosa in cystic fibrosis: A chronic cheater. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 116(14), 6525-6527. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1902734116
- Singh, P. K., Schaefer, A. L., Parsek, M. R., Moninger, T. O., Welsh, M. J., and Greenberg, E. P. (2000). Quorum-sensing signals indicate that cystic fibrosis lungs are infected with bacterial biofilms. Nature, 407(6805), 762–764. https://doi.org/10.1038/35037627
- 37. Fetzner, S. (2015). Quorum quenching enzymes. Journal of biotechnology, 201, 2–14. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbiotec.2014.09.001
- 38. Ghanei-Motlagh, R., Mohammadian, T., Gharibi, D., Khosravi, M., Mahmoudi, E., Zarea, M., El-Matbouli, M., and Menanteau-Ledouble, S. (2021). Quorum quenching probiotics modulated digestive enzymes activity, growth performance, gut microflora, haemato-biochemical parameters and resistance against Vibrio harveyi in Asian seabass (Lates calcarifer). Aquaculture, 531, 735874. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2020.735874
- 39. Ghanei-Motlagh, R., Gharibi, D., Mohammadian, T., Khosravi, M., Mahmoudi, E., Zarea, M., Menanteau-Ledouble, S., and El-Matbouli, M. (2021). Feed supplementation with quorum quenching probiotics with anti-virulence potential improved innate immune responses, antioxidant capacity and disease resistance in Asian seabass (Lates calcarifer). Aquaculture, 535, 736345. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2021.736345
- 40. Natrah, F., Kenmegne, M. M., Wiyoto, W., Sorgeloos, P., Bossier, P., and Defoirdt, T. (2011). Effects of micro-algae commonly used in aquaculture on acyl-homoserine lactone quorum sensing. Aquaculture, 317(1-4), 53-57. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2011.04.038
- 41. Pande, G. S., Natrah, F. M., Flandez, A. V., Kumar, U., Niu, Y., Bossier, P., and Defoirdt, T. (2015). Isolation of AHL-degrading bacteria from micro-algal cultures and their impact on algal growth and on virulence of Vibrio campbellii to prawn larvae. Applied microbiology and biotechnology, 99(24), 10805– 10813. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00253-015-6918-1
- 42. Chaisuwan, W., Phimolsiripol, Y., Chaiyaso, T., Techapun, C., Leksawasdi, N., Jantanasakulwong, K., Rachtanapun, P., Wangtueai, S., Sommano, S. R., You, S., Regenstein, J. M., Barba, F. J., and Seesuriyachan, P. (2021). The Antiviral Activity of Bacterial, Fungal, and Algal Polysaccharides as Bioactive Ingredients: Potential Uses for Enhancing Immune Systems and Preventing Viruses. Frontiers in Nutrition, 8. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnut.2021.772033
- 43. Krohn, I., Menanteau-Ledouble, S., Hageskal, G., Astafyeva, Y., Jouannais, P., Nielsen, J. L., Pizzol, M., Wentzel, A., and Streit, W. R. (2022). Health benefits of microalgae and their microbiomes. Microbial biotechnology, 15(7), 1966–1983. https://doi.org/10.1111/1751-7915.14082
- 44. Astafyeva, Y., Gurschke, M., Streit, W. R., and Krohn, I. (2022). Interplay between the microalgae Micrasterias radians and its symbiont Dyadobacter sp. HH091. Frontiers in Microbiology, 13, 1006609. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2022.1006609

- 45. Klassen, V., Wibberg, D., Cebeci, E., Henke, C., Rückert, C., Chaudhari, S., Rupp, O., Blom, J., Winkler, A., Goesmann, A., Sczyrba, A., Kalinowski, J., Bräutigam, A., and Kruse, O. (2021). Phytoplankton consortia as a blueprint for mutually beneficial eukaryote-bacteria ecosystems based on the biocoenosis of Botryococcus consortia. Scientific Reports, 11(1), 1-13. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-021-81082-1
- 46. Seymour, J. R., Amin, S. A., Raina, J., and Stocker, R. (2017). Zooming in on the phycosphere: The ecological interface for phytoplankton–bacteria relationships. Nature Microbiology, 2(7), 1-12. https://doi.org/10.1038/nmicrobiol.2017.65
- 47. Amin, S. A., Parker, M. S., and Armbrust, E. V. (2012). Interactions between Diatoms and Bacteria. Microbiology and Molecular Biology Reviews, 76(3), 667-684. https://doi.org/10.1128/MMBR.00007-12
- Nocek, B., Tikhonov, A., Babnigg, G., Gu, M., Zhou, M., Makarova, K. S., Vondenhoff, G., Aerschot, A. V., Kwon, K., Anderson, W. F., Severinov, K., and Joachimiak, A. (2012). Structural and functional characterization of microcin C resistance peptidase MccF from Bacillus anthracis. Journal of Molecular Biology, 420, 366. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jmb.2012.04.011
- 49. Gristwood, T., McNeil, M. B., Clulow, J. S., Salmond, G. P., and Fineran, P. C. (2011). PigS and PigP regulate prodigiosin biosynthesis in Serratia via differential control of divergent operons, which include predicted transporters of sulfur-containing molecules. Journal of bacteriology, 193(5), 1076–1085. https://doi.org/10.1128/JB.00352-10
- 50. Ge, X., Kitten, T., Chen, Z., Lee, S. P., Munro, C. L., and Xu, P. (2008). Identification of Streptococcus sanguinis Genes Required for Biofilm Formation and Examination of Their Role in Endocarditis Virulence. Infection and Immunity, 76(6), 2551-2559. https://doi.org/10.1128/IAI.00338-08
- 51. Choby, J. E., and Skaar, E. P. (2016). Heme Synthesis and Acquisition in Bacterial Pathogens. Journal of molecular biology, 428(17), 3408–3428. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jmb.2016.03.018
- 52. Rao, D., Webb, J. S., and Kjelleberg, S. (2005). Competitive Interactions in Mixed-Species Biofilms Containing the Marine Bacterium Pseudoalteromonas tunicata. Applied and Environmental Microbiology, 71(4), 1729-1736. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.71.4.1729-1736.2005
- 53. Schipper, C., Hornung, C., Bijtenhoorn, P., Quitschau, M., Grond, S., and Streit, W. R. (2008). Metagenome-Derived Clones Encoding Two Novel Lactonase Family Proteins Involved in Biofilm Inhibition in Pseudomonas aeruginosa. Applied and Environmental Microbiology, 75(1), 224-233. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.01389-08
- 54. Krysciak, D., Schmeisser, C., Preuß, S., Riethausen, J., Quitschau, M., Grond, S., and Streit, W. R. (2011). Involvement of Multiple Loci in Quorum Quenching of Autoinducer I Molecules in the Nitrogen-Fixing Symbiont Rhizobium (Sinorhizobium) sp. strain NGR234. Applied and Environmental Microbiology, 77(15), 5089-5099. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.00112-11
- 55. Ogawa, K., Nakajima-Kambe, T., Nakahara, T., and Kokufuta, E. (2002). Coimmobilization of gluconolactonase with glucose oxidase for improvement in kinetic property of enzymatically induced volume collapse in ionic gels. Biomacromolecules, 3(3), 625–631. https://doi.org/10.1021/bm025512f
- 56. Uroz, S., Chhabra, S. R., Cámara, M., Williams, P., Oger, P., and Dessaux, Y. (2005). N-Acylhomoserine lactone quorum-sensing molecules are modified and degraded by Rhodococcus erythropolis W2 by both amidolytic and novel oxidoreductase activities. Microbiology (Reading, England), 151(Pt 10), 3313–3322. https://doi.org/10.1099/mic.0.27961-0
- 57. Chowdhary, P. K., Keshavan, N., Nguyen, H. Q., Peterson, J. A., González, J. E., and Haines, D. C. (2007). Bacillus megaterium CYP102A1 oxidation of acyl homoserine lactones and acyl homoserines. Biochemistry, 46(50), 14429–14437. https://doi.org/10.1021/bi701945j
- 58. Gonzalez-Rivera, C., Bhatty, M., and Christie, P. J. (2016). Mechanism and Function of Type IV Secretion During Infection of the Human Host. Microbiology spectrum, 4(3). https://doi.org/10.1128/microbiolspec.
- 59. McBride, M. J., and Zhu, Y. (2013). Gliding motility and Por secretion system genes are widespread among members of the phylum bacteroidetes. Journal of bacteriology, 195(2), 270–278. https://doi.org/10.1128/JB.01962-12

- 60. Saiki, K., and Konishi, K. (2007). Identification of a Porphyromonas gingivalis novel protein sov required for the secretion of gingipains. Microbiology and immunology, 51(5), 483–491. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1348-0421.2007.tb03936.x
- 61. Cantarel, B. L., Coutinho, P. M., Rancurel, C., Bernard, T., Lombard, V., and Henrissat, B. (2009). The Carbohydrate-Active EnZymes database (CAZy): an expert resource for Glycogenomics. Nucleic acids research, 37(Database issue), D233–D238. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkn663
- 62. Henrissat, B. (1991). A classification of glycosyl hydrolases based on amino acid sequence similarities. The Biochemical journal, 280 (Pt 2), 709–316. https://doi.org/10.1042/bj2800309
- 63. Desvaux, M., and Hébraud, M. (2006). The protein secretion systems in Listeria: Inside out bacterial virulence. FEMS Microbiology Reviews, 30(5), 774-805. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1574-6976.2006.00035.x
- 64. Pilgrim, S., Kolb-Mäurer, A., Gentschev, I., Goebel, W., and Kuhn, M. (2003). Deletion of the Gene Encoding p60 in Listeria monocytogenes Leads to Abnormal Cell Division and Loss of Actin-Based Motility. Infection and Immunity, 71(6), 3473-3484. https://doi.org/10.1128/IAI.71.6.3473-3484.2003
- M. Breidenstein, E. B., Janot, L., Strehmel, J., Fernandez, L., Taylor, P. K., Kukavica-Ibrulj, I., Gellatly, S. L., Levesque, R. C., Overhage, J., and W. Hancock, R. E. (2012). The Lon Protease Is Essential for Full Virulence in Pseudomonas aeruginosa. PLOS ONE, 7(11), e49123. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0049123
- 66. Cuthbertson, L., Mainprize, I. L., Naismith, J. H., and Whitfield, C. (2009). Pivotal roles of the outer membrane polysaccharide export and polysaccharide copolymerase protein families in export of extracellular polysaccharides in gram-negative bacteria. Microbiology and molecular biology reviews, 73(1), 155–177. https://doi.org/10.1128/MMBR.00024-08
- 67. Zografou, C., Dimou, M.V., and Katinakis, P. (2020). FK506-binding protein FkIB is involved in biofilm formation through its peptidyl-prolyl isomerase activity. bioRxiv. https://doi.org/10.1101/2020.02.01.930347
- Im, S. H., Klochkova, T. A., Lee, D. J., Gachon, C. M. M., and Kim, G. H. (2019). Genetic toolkits of the red alga Pyropia tenera against the three most common diseases in Pyropia farms. Journal of phycology, 55(4), 801–815. https://doi.org/10.1111/jpy.12857
- McBride, M. J., Xie, G., Martens, E. C., Lapidus, A., Henrissat, B., Rhodes, R. G., Goltsman, E., Wang, W., Xu, J., Hunnicutt, D. W., Staroscik, A. M., Hoover, T. R., Cheng, Y. Q., and Stein, J. L. (2009). Novel features of the polysaccharide-digesting gliding bacterium Flavobacterium johnsoniae as revealed by genome sequence analysis. Applied and environmental microbiology, 75(21), 6864–6875. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.01495-09
- Schöner, T. A., Fuchs, S. W., Schönau, C., and Bode, H. B. (2014). Initiation of the flexirubin biosynthesis in Chitinophaga pinensis. Microbial biotechnology, 7(3), 232–241. https://doi.org/10.1111/1751-7915.12110
- Nowak-Thompson, B., Hammer, P. E., Hill, D. S., Stafford, J., Torkewitz, N., Gaffney, T. D., Lam, S. T., Molnár, I., and Ligon, J. M. (2003). 2,5-Dialkylresorcinol Biosynthesis in Pseudomonas aurantiaca: Novel Head-to-Head Condensation of Two Fatty Acid-Derived Precursors. Journal of Bacteriology, 185(3), 860-869. https://doi.org/10.1128/JB.185.3.860-869.2003
- 72. Abt, B., Teshima, H., Lucas, S., Lapidus, A., Del Rio, T. G., Nolan, M., Tice, H., Cheng, F., Pitluck, S., Liolios, K., Pagani, I., Ivanova, N., Mavromatis, K., Pati, A., Tapia, R., Han, C., Goodwin, L., Chen, A., Palaniappan, K., Kyrpides, N. C. (2011). Complete genome sequence of Leadbetterella byssophila type strain (4M15T). Standards in Genomic Sciences, 4(1), 2-12. https://doi.org/10.4056/sigs.1413518
- Venil, C. K., Sathishkumar, P., Malathi, M., Usha, R., Jayakumar, R., Yusoff, A. R. M., and Ahmad, W. A. (2016). Synthesis of flexirubin-mediated silver nanoparticles using Chryseobacterium artocarpi CECT 8497 and investigation of its anticancer activity. Materials Science and Engineering: C, 59, 228-234. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.msec.2015.10.019

- 74. Kämpfer, P., McInroy, J. A., and Glaeser, S. P. (2015). Chryseobacterium rhizoplanae sp. nov., isolated from the rhizoplane environment. Antonie van Leeuwenhoek, 107(2), 533–538. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10482-014-0349-3
- Romanenko, L. A., Tanaka, N., Svetashev, V. I., Kurilenko, V. V., and Mikhailov, V. V. (2015). Flavobacterium maris sp. nov. isolated from shallow sediments of the Sea of Japan. Archives of microbiology, 197(7), 941–947. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00203-015-1128-x
- 76. Chen, W. M., Huang, W. C., Young, C. C., and Sheu, S. Y. (2013). Flavobacterium tilapiae sp. nov., isolated from a freshwater pond, and emended descriptions of Flavobacterium defluvii and Flavobacterium johnsoniae. International journal of systematic and evolutionary microbiology, 63(Pt 3), 827–834. https://doi.org/10.1099/ijs.0.041178-0
- 77. Combes, S., and Finet, J. P. (1997) A Simple Synthesis of the Natural 2,5-Dialkylresorcinol Free Radical Scavenger Antioxidant: Resorstatin. Synthetic Communications, 27(21), 3769-3778. https://doi.org/10.1080/00397919708007301
- 78. Schöner, T. A., Kresovic, D., and Bode, H. B. (2015). Biosynthesis and function of bacterial dialkylresorcinol compounds. Applied microbiology and biotechnology, 99(20), 8323–8328. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00253-015-6905-6
- 79. Mogadem, A., Almamary, M. A., Mahat, N. A., Jemon, K., Ahmad, W. A., and Ali, I. (2021). Antioxidant Activity Evaluation of FlexirubinType Pigment from Chryseobacterium artocarpi CECT 8497 and Related Docking Study. Molecules (Basel, Switzerland), 26(4), 979. https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules26040979
- 80. Marshall, J. A., de Salas, M., Oda, T., Hallegraeff, G. (2005). Superoxide production by marine microalgae. Marine Biology, 147, 533–540. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00227-005-1596-7
- 81. Palenik, B., Zafiriou, O. C., and M. Morel, F. M. (1987). Hydrogen peroxide production by a marine phytoplankter1. Limnology and Oceanography, 32(6), 1365-1369. https://doi.org/10.4319/lo.1987.32.6.1365
- 82. Darehshouri, A., and Lütz-Meindl, U. (2010). H₂O₂ localization in the green alga Micrasterias after salt and osmotic stress by TEM-coupled electron energy loss spectroscopy. Protoplasma, 239(1-4), 49–56. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00709-009-0081-4
- 83. Lütz-Meindl, U. (2016). Micrasterias as a Model System in Plant Cell Biology. Frontiers in Plant Science, 7, 198321. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2016.00999
- 84. Felhofer, M., Mayr, K., Lütz-Meindl, U., and Gierlinger, N. (2021). Raman imaging of Micrasterias: new insights into shape formation. Protoplasma, 258(6), 1323–1334. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00709-021-01685-3
- 85. Foster, T. J., Geoghegan, J. A., Ganesh, V. K., and Höök, M. (2014). Adhesion, invasion and evasion: the many functions of the surface proteins of Staphylococcus aureus. Nature reviews. Microbiology, 12(1), 49–62. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrmicro3161
- 86. Kusch, H., and Engelmann, S. (2014). Secrets of the secretome in Staphylococcus aureus. International journal of medical microbiology, 304(2), 133–141. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijmm.2013.11.005
- 87. Hecker, M., Mäder, U., and Völker, U. (2018). From the genome sequence via the proteome to cell physiology Pathoproteomics and pathophysiology of Staphylococcus aureus. International journal of medical microbiology, 308(6), 545–557. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijmm.2018.01.002
- 88. Dreisbach, A., Hempel, K., Buist, G., Hecker, M., Becher, D., and van Dijl, J. M. (2010). Profiling the surfacome of Staphylococcus aureus. Proteomics, 10(17), 3082–3096. https://doi.org/10.1002/pmic.201000062
- 89. Ythier, M., Resch, G., Waridel, P., Panchaud, A., Gfeller, A., Majcherczyk, P., Quadroni, M., and Moreillon, P. (2012). Proteomic and Transcriptomic Profiling of Staphylococcus aureus Surface LPXTGproteins: Correlation with agr Genotypes and Adherence Phenotypes. Molecular and Cellular Proteomics, 11(11), 1123-1139. https://doi.org/10.1074/mcp.M111.014191

- 90. Solis, N., Parker, B. L., Kwong, S. M., Robinson, G., Firth, N., and Cordwell, S. J. (2014). Staphylococcus aureus surface proteins involved in adaptation to oxacillin identified using a novel cell shaving approach. Journal of proteome research, 13(6), 2954–2972. https://doi.org/10.1021/pr500107p
- 91. Korotkov, K. V., Sandkvist, M., & Hol, W. G. (2012). The type II secretion system: Biogenesis, molecular architecture and mechanism. Nature Reviews Microbiology, 10(5), 336-351. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrmicro2762
- 92. Lasica, A. M., Ksiazek, M., Madej, M., and Potempa, J. (2017). The Type IX Secretion System (T9SS): Highlights and Recent Insights into Its Structure and Function. Frontiers in Cellular and Infection Microbiology, 7, 264640. https://doi.org/10.3389/fcimb.2017.00215
- 93. Veith, P. D., Nor Muhammad, N. A., Dashper, S. G., Likić, V. A., Gorasia, D. G., Chen, D., Byrne, S. J., Catmull, D. V., and Reynolds, E. C. (2013). Protein substrates of a novel secretion system are numerous in the Bacteroidetes phylum and have in common a cleavable C-terminal secretion signal, extensive posttranslational modification, and cell-surface attachment. Journal of proteome research, 12(10), 4449–4461. https://doi.org/10.1021/pr400487b
- 94. Kulkarni, S. S., Zhu, Y., Brendel, C. J., and McBride, M. J. (2017). Diverse C-Terminal Sequences Involved in Flavobacterium johnsoniae Protein Secretion. Journal of bacteriology, 199(12), e00884-16. https://doi.org/10.1128/JB.00884-16
- 95. Gorasia, D. G., Veith, P. D., and Reynolds, E. C. (2020). The Type IX Secretion System: Advances in Structure, Function and Organisation. Microorganisms, 8(8), 1173. https://doi.org/10.3390/microorganisms8081173
- 96. Agarwal, S., Hunnicutt, D. W., and McBride, M. J. (1997). Cloning and characterization of the Flavobacterium johnsoniae (Cytophaga johnsonae) gliding motility gene, gldA. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 94(22), 12139–12144. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.94.22.12139
- Hunnicutt, D. W., Kempf, M. J., and McBride, M. J. (2002). Mutations in Flavobacterium johnsoniae gldF and gldG Disrupt Gliding Motility and Interfere with Membrane Localization of GldA. Journal of Bacteriology, 184(9), 2370-2378. https://doi.org/10.1128/JB.184.9.2370-2378.2002
- 98. Hunnicutt, D. W., and McBride, M. J. (2000). Cloning and Characterization of the Flavobacterium johnsoniae Gliding-Motility Genes gldB and gldC. Journal of Bacteriology, 182(4), 911-918. https://doi.org/10.1128/jb.182.4.911-918.2000
- 99. Hunnicutt, D. W., and McBride, M. J. (2001). Cloning and Characterization of the Flavobacterium johnsoniae Gliding Motility Genes gldD and gldE. Journal of Bacteriology, 183(14), 4167-4175. https://doi.org/10.1128/JB.183.14.4167-4175.2001
- 100. McBride, M. J., and Braun, T. F. (2004). GldI Is a Lipoprotein That Is Required for Flavobacterium johnsoniae Gliding Motility and Chitin Utilization. Journal of Bacteriology, 186(8), 2295-2302. https://doi.org/10.1128/JB.186.8.2295-2302.2004
- 101. Braun, T. F., Khubbar, M. K., Saffarini, D. A., and McBride, M. J. (2005). Flavobacterium johnsoniae gliding motility genes identified by mariner mutagenesis. Journal of bacteriology, 187(20), 6943–6952. https://doi.org/10.1128/JB.187.20.6943-6952.2005
- 102. Braun, T. F., and McBride, M. J. (2005). Flavobacterium johnsoniae GldJ Is a Lipoprotein That Is Required for Gliding Motility. Journal of Bacteriology, 187(8), 2628-2637. https://doi.org/10.1128/JB.187.8.2628-2637.2005
- 103. Nelson, S. S., Glocka, P. P., Agarwal, S., Grimm, D. P., and McBride, M. J. (2007). Flavobacterium johnsoniae SprA is a cell surface protein involved in gliding motility. Journal of bacteriology, 189(19), 7145–7150. https://doi.org/10.1128/JB.00892-07
- 104. Lauber, F., Deme, J. C., Lea, S. M., and Berks, B. C. (2018). Type 9 secretion system structures reveal a new protein transport mechanism. Nature, 564(7734), 77–82. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-018-0693-y

- 105. Rhodes, R. G., Samarasam, M. N., Van Groll, E. J., and McBride, M. J. (2011). Mutations in Flavobacterium johnsoniae sprE result in defects in gliding motility and protein secretion. Journal of bacteriology, 193(19), 5322–5327. https://doi.org/10.1128/JB.05480-11
- 106. Braun, T. F., Khubbar, M. K., Saffarini, D. A., and McBride, M. J. (2005). Flavobacterium johnsoniae gliding motility genes identified by mariner mutagenesis. Journal of bacteriology, 187(20), 6943–6952. https://doi.org/10.1128/JB.187.20.6943-6952.2005
- 107. Kharade, S. S., and McBride, M. J. (2014). Flavobacterium johnsoniae chitinase ChiA is required for chitin utilization and is secreted by the type IX secretion system. Journal of bacteriology, 196(5), 961–970. https://doi.org/10.1128/JB.01170-13
- 108. Larsbrink, J., Zhu, Y., Kharade, S. S., Kwiatkowski, K. J., Eijsink, V. G., Koropatkin, N. M., McBride, M. J., and Pope, P. B. (2016). A polysaccharide utilization locus from Flavobacterium johnsoniae enables conversion of recalcitrant chitin. Biotechnology for biofuels, 9, 260. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13068-016-0674-z
- 109. Kumar, A., Pandey, V., Singh, M., Pandey, D., Saharan, M. S., and Marla, S. S. (2017). Draft genome sequence of Karnal bunt pathogen (Tilletia indica) of wheat provides insights into the pathogenic mechanisms of quarantined fungus. PLOS ONE, 12(2), e0171323. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0171323
- 110. Rovenich, H., Zuccaro, A., and Thomma, B. P. (2016). Convergent evolution of filamentous microbes towards evasion of glycan-triggered immunity. The New phytologist, 212(4), 896–901. https://doi.org/10.1111/nph.14064
- 111. Snelders, N. C., Kettles, G. J., Rudd, J. J., and J. Thomma, P. H. (2018). Plant pathogen effector proteins as manipulators of host microbiomes? Molecular Plant Pathology, 19(2), 257-259. https://doi.org/10.1111/mpp.12628
- 112. Chang, H. X., Yendrek, C. R., Caetano-Anolles, G., and Hartman, G. L. (2016). Genomic characterization of plant cell wall degrading enzymes and in silico analysis of xylanases and polygalacturonases of Fusarium virguliforme. BMC microbiology, 16(1), 147. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12866-016-0761-0
- 113. DeBoy, R. T., Mongodin, E. F., Fouts, D. E., Tailford, L. E., Khouri, H., Emerson, J. B., Mohamoud, Y., Watkins, K., Henrissat, B., Gilbert, H. J., and Nelson, K. E. (2008). Insights into plant cell wall degradation from the genome sequence of the soil bacterium Cellvibrio japonicus. Journal of bacteriology, 190(15), 5455–5463. https://doi.org/10.1128/JB.01701-07
- 114. Glass, N. L., Schmoll, M., Cate, J. H., and Coradetti, S. (2013). Plant cell wall deconstruction by ascomycete fungi. Annual review of microbiology, 67, 477–498. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-micro-092611-150044
- 115. Bradley, E. L., Ökmen, B., Doehlemann, G., Henrissat, B., Bradshaw, R. E., and Mesarich, C. H. (2022). Secreted Glycoside Hydrolase Proteins as Effectors and Invasion Patterns of Plant-Associated Fungi and Oomycetes. Frontiers in Plant Science, 13, 853106. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2022.853106
- 116. Ha, M. A., Viëtor, R. J., Jardine, G. D., Apperley, D. C., and Jarvis, M. C. (2005). Conformation and mobility of the arabinan and galactan side-chains of pectin. Phytochemistry, 66(15), 1817–1824. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.phytochem.2005.06.001
- 117. Williams, P. J., and Laurens, L.M. (2010). Microalgae as biodiesel and biomass feedstocks: Review and analysis of the biochemistry, energetics and economics. Energy and Environmental Science, 3, 554-590. https://doi.org/10.1039/b924978h.
- 118. Pérez-López, P., González-García, S., Jeffryes, C., Agathos, S. N., McHugh, E., Walsh, D., Murray, P., Moane, S., Feijoo, G., and Moreira, M. T. (2014). Life cycle assessment of the production of the red antioxidant carotenoid astaxanthin by microalgae: From lab to pilot scale. Journal of Cleaner Production, 64, 332-344. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2013.07.011

- 119. Pérez-López, P., González-García, S., Ulloa, R. G., Sineiro, J., Feijoo, G., and Moreira, M. T. (2014). Life cycle assessment of the production of bioactive compounds from Tetraselmis suecica at pilot scale. Journal of Cleaner Production, 64, 323-331. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2013.07.028
- 120. T' Lam, G., Vermuë, M., Eppink, M., Wijffels, R., and Van den Berg, C. (2018). Multi-Product Microalgae Biorefineries: From Concept Towards Reality. Trends in Biotechnology, 36(2), 216-227. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tibtech.2017.10.011
- 121. Da Silva, T.L., Gouveia, L., and Reis, A. (2013). Integrated microbial processes for biofuels and high value-added products: the way to improve the cost effectiveness of biofuel production. Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology, 98, 1043 1053. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00253-013-5389-5
- 122. Collet, P., Hélias, A., Lardon, L., Ras, M., Goy, R. A., and Steyer, J. P. (2011). Life-cycle assessment of microalgae culture coupled to biogas production. Bioresource technology, 102(1), 207–214. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2010.06.154
- 123. Draganovic, V. (2009). Towards sustainable fish feed production using novel protein sources. https://core.ac.uk/download/pdf/29218324.pdf
- 124. Barra, L., Chandrasekaran, R., Corato, F., Brunet, C. (2014). The challenge of ecophysiological biodiversity for biotechnological applications of marine microalgae. Marine Drugs, 12(3), 1641-1675. https://doi.org/10.3390/md12031641
- 125. Onorato, C., and Rösch, C. (2020). Comparative life cycle assessment of astaxanthin production with Haematococcus pluvialis in different photobioreactor technologies. Algal Research, 50, 102005. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.algal.2020.102005
- 126. Liu, F., Shi, H. Z., Guo, Q. S., Yu, Y. B., Wang, A. M., Lv, F., and Shen, W. B. (2016). Effects of astaxanthin and emodin on the growth, stress resistance and disease resistance of yellow catfish (Pelteobagrus fulvidraco). Fish and shellfish immunology, 51, 125–135. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fsi.2016.02.020
- 127. Lieke, T., Meinelt, T., Hoseinifar, S. H., Pan, B., Straus, D. L., and W. Steinberg, C. E. (2020). Sustainable aquaculture requires environmental-friendly treatment strategies for fish diseases. Reviews in Aquaculture, 12(2), 943-965. https://doi.org/10.1111/raq.12365
- 128. Connelly, R. (2013). Second-Generation Biofuel from High-Efficiency Algal-Derived Biocrude. Bioenergy Research: Advances and Applications, 153-170. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-444-59561-4.00010-3
- 129. Yarnold, J., Karan, H., Oey, M., and Hankamer, B. (2019). Microalgal Aquafeeds As Part of a Circular Bioeconomy. Trends in plant science, 24(10), 959–970. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tplants.2019.06.005
- Ruffell, S.E., Müller, K.M., and McConkey, B.J. (2015). Comparative assessment of microalgal fatty acids as topical antibiotics. Journal of Applied Phycology, 28, 1695 - 1704. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10811-015-0692-4
- 131. Qin, S., Lin, H., and Jiang, P. (2012). Advances in genetic engineering of marine algae. Biotechnology advances, 30(6), 1602–1613. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biotechadv.2012.05.004
- 132. Slocombe, S.P., and Benemann, J.R. (Eds.). (2016). Microalgal Production for Biomass and High-Value Products (1st ed.). CRC Press. https://doi.org/10.1201/b19464
- 133. Charoonnart, P., Purton, S., and Saksmerprome, V. (2018). Applications of Microalgal Biotechnology for Disease Control in Aquaculture. Biology, 7(2), 24. https://doi.org/10.3390/biology7020024

9 APPENDIX

9.1 Microalgae and Bacteria Interaction—Evidence for Division of Diligence in the Alga Microbiota

All supplemental tables can be accessed online via <u>https://doi.org/10.1128/spectrum.00633-22</u>

Supplemental FIGURES and TABLES

Supplemental FIGURE S1: Genome annotation and phylogenetic tree of *Dyadobacter* sp. HH091. A) circular graphical display of the distribution of the genome annotation of *Dyadobacter* sp. HH091. This includes, from outer to inner rings, the contigs, CDS on the forward strand, CDS on the reverse strand, RNA genes, CDS with homology to known antimicrobial resistance genes, CDS with homology to know virulence factors, GC content and GC skew. B) The colors of the CDS on the forward and reverse strand indicate the subsystem that these genes belong to (see Subsystems). C) The phylogenetic tree highlighting the position of *Dyadobacter* sp. HH091 relative to the type strains of other species within Bacteroidota. The phylogenetic tree was generated using the codon tree method within PATRIC, which used cross-genus families (PGFams) as homology groups ⁷³. 100 PGFams were found among these selected genomes using Codon Tree analysis, and the aligned proteins and coding DNA from single-copy genes were used for RAxML analysis. *Dyadobacter* sp. HH091 was included as an outgroup. FigTree was used for the tree visualization ⁷⁴.

Supplemental FIGURE S2: FACS analyses of *Scenedesmus quadricauda* MZCH 10104 in co-culture with the strain Dyadobacter sp. HH091. A) algae + bacteria at the starting point of experiment, 5.56% of bacteria (I),13.2% of lysed algal cells (II), 59.4% of algae (III); B) algae + bacteria over a time period of 13 days, 3.49% of bacteria (I), 18.8% of lysed algal cells (II) and, 70.8% of healthy microalgae (III); C) axenic culture of algae without HH091, 3.24% of bacteria (I), 27.4% of lysed algal cells (II) and 57.7% of algae cells (III). FACs analyses demonstrated the improved fitness of *S. quadricauda* co-cultured with HH091.

Supplemental TABLE S1: Overall numbers of sequences and contigs generated for Genome analyses of *Dyadobacter* sp. HH091.

Supplemental TABLE S2: Predicted *Dyadobacter* sp. HH091 glycosyl hydrolases.

Supplemental TABLE S3: Predicted *Dyadobacter* sp. HH091 glycosyl hydrolases involved in microalgae polysaccharides digestion.

Supplemental TABLE S4: Predicted Dyadobacter sp. HH091 polysaccharide lyases.

Supplemental TABLE S5: Predicted *Dyadobacter* sp. HH091 carbohydrate esterases involved in polysaccharide utilization.

Supplemental TABLE S6: Overall numbers of sequences and contigs generated for the transcriptome datasets.

Supplemental TABLE S7: Protein family comparison of possible competitive and plant-bacteria interaction pathways across the dominant members of microbiome (*Porphyrobacter, Variovorax* and *Dyadobacter*) of *S. quadricauda* MZCH 10104. Numbers of proteins are marked with the following colors: \blacksquare 0, \Box 1, \Box 2, and \blacksquare 3+.

1



FIGURE S1: Genome annotation and phylogenetic tree of Dyadobacter sp. HH091. A) circular graphical display of the distribution of the genome annotation of Dyadobacter sp. HH091. This includes, from outer to inner rings, the contigs, CDS on the forward strand, CDS on the reverse strand, RNA genes, CDS with homology to known antimicrobial resistance genes, CDS with homology to know virulence factors, GC content and GC skew. B) The colors of the CDS on the forward and reverse strand indicate the subsystem that these genes belong to (see Subsystems). C) The phylogenetic tree highlighting the position of Dyadobacter sp. HH091 relative to the type strains of other species within Bacteroidota. The phylogenetic tree was generated using the codon tree method within PATRIC, which used cross-genus families (PGFams) as homology groups ⁷³. 100 PGFams were found among these selected genomes using Codon Tree analysis, and the aligned proteins and coding DNA from single-copy genes were used for RAXML analysis. Dyadobacter sp. HH091 was included as an outgroup. FigTree was used for the tree visualization 7⁴.



FIGURE S2: FACS analyses of *Scenedesmus quadricauda* MZCH 10104 in co-culture with the strain *Dyadobacter* sp. HH091. A) algae + bacteria at the starting point of experiment, 5.56% of bacteria (I),13.2% of lysed algal cells (II), 59.4% of algae (III); B) algae + bacteria over a time period of 13 days, 3.49% of bacteria (I), 18.8% of lysed algal cells (II) and, 70.8% of healthy microalgae (III); C) axenic culture of algae without HH091, 3.24% of bacteria (I), 27.4% of lysed algal cells (II) and 57.7% of algae cells (III). FACs analyses demonstrated the improved fitness of *S. quadricauda* co-cultured with HH091.

	<i>Dyadobacter</i> sp. HH091
Contigs-assembly (Spades)	
No.	80
Total length (bp)	7,862,706
No. ≥ 1000 bp	66
N50 size (bp)	607,803
Largest (bp)	1,195,963
GC (%)	43.81
IMG ID genome statistic	
IMG ID	222279
Number of bases	7,837,776
GC count [%]	43.87
Number of protein coding genes	6,565
% of assembled protein coding genes	99.05

Supplemental TABLE S1: Overall numbers of sequences and contigs generated for Genome analyses of *Dyadobacter* sp. HH091.

glycosyl hydrolases ¹ .
HH091
<i>Oyadobacter</i> sp.
S2: Predicted I
TABLE
Supplemental

Pfam	Glycosyl hydrolase family	Number of genes
pfam00232	Glycosyl hydrolase family 1	2
pfam00703	Glycosyl hydrolases family 2 (beta-glucuronidase)	4
pfam00933	Glycosyl hydrolase family 3	N
pfam00759	Glycosyl hydrolase family 9	2
pfam00331	Glycosyl hydrolase family 10 (xylanase)	-
pfam00723	Glycosyl hydrolases family 15	-
pfam00722	Glycosyl hydrolases family 16	3
pfam00704	Glycosyl hydrolases family 18	-
pfam00728	Glycosyl hydrolase family 20	9
pfam01183	Glycosyl hydrolases family 25	4
pfam01183	Glycosyl hydrolases family 25 (1,4-beta-N-acetylmuramidase)	÷
pfam02156	Glycosyl hydrolase family 26 (mannan endo-1,4-beta-mannosidase)	3
pfam00295	Glycosyl hydrolases family 28	9
pfam02055	Glycosyl hydrolase family 30	÷
pfam17189	Glycosyl hydrolase family 30	2
pfam01055	Glycosyl hydrolases family 31	3
pfam08244	Glycosyl hydrolases family 32	4
pfam17167	Glycosyl hydrolase family 36	-
pfam01229	Glycosyl hydrolases family 39	4
pfam02449	Glycosyl hydrolase family 42 (Beta-galactosidase)	4
pfam08532	Glycosyl hydrolase family 42M (Beta-galactosidase trimerisation domain)	-
pfam04616	Glycosyl hydrolases family 43 (beta-galactosidase, beta-xylosidase, alpha-N-arabinofuranosidase)	ω
pfam12891	Glycoside hydrolase family 44	4
pfam03632	Glycosyl hydrolase family 65	4
pfam07477	Glycosyl hydrolase family 67	4
pfam02446	Glycosyl hydrolase family 77 (4-alpha-glucanotransferase)	4
pfam07470	Glycosyl Hydrolase Family 88	3

pfam07971	Glycosyl hydrolase family 92
pfam17132	Glycosyl hydrolase family 106 (alpha-L-rhamnosidase)
pfam07944	Glycosyl hydrolase family 127 (Beta-L-arabinofuranosidase)
pfam04041	Glycosyl hydrolase family 130 (beta-1,4-mannooligosaccharide phosphorylase)
Total	

¹ Predicted functions were assigned by routines used for updating the Carbohydrate Active Enzymes database (http://www.cazy.org/).

Gene ID	Predicted function ¹	IMG Product Name ²	Homologs ³	Predicted localization ⁴	Molecular mass (kDa) ⁵	Enzymatic and other domains ⁶
2842104189	Candidate cellulase	Aryl-phospho-beta-D- glucosidase BglC	<i>Chitinophaga niabensis</i> (71% identity)	Unknown	43.3	GH5
2842105209	Candidate cellulase	Endoglucanase	<i>Chitinophagaceae</i> <i>bacterium</i> BR5-29 (70% identity)	Unknown, non- Cytoplasmic	40.1	GH5
2842104157	related to cellulase	Endoglucanase	<i>Cytophagaceae bacterium</i> SJW1-29 (58% identity)	Unknown, non- Cytoplasmic	65.2	GH9
2842108135	related to chitinase	chitinase	<i>Chitinophagaceae</i> <i>bacterium</i> PMP191F (58% identity)	Cytoplasmic	43.2	GH18
2842105133	related to beta-N- acetylhexosaminidase	hypothetical protein	<i>Chitinophag</i> a sp. BN140078 (52% identity)	Unknown	98.6	GH20
2842107906	related to beta-N- acetylhexosaminidase	hexosaminidase	<i>Flavobacteriales bacterium</i> (50% identity)	Outer membrane (Beta-N- acetylhexosaminidase, Chitobiase)	95.5	GH20-СНВ_НЕХ
2842108966	related to beta-N- acetylhexosaminidase	hexosaminidase	Cytophagaceae bacterium (56% identity)	Periplasmic	61.0	GH20
2842106454	related to beta-N- acetylhexosaminidase	hypothetical protein	<i>Runella</i> sp. YX9 (63% identity)	Periplasmic	78.9	GH20
2842106655	related to beta-N- acetylhexosaminidase	hexosaminidase	<i>Cytophagaceae bacterium</i> SJW1-29 (63% identity)	Outer membrane	97.1	GH20-CHB_HEX
2842109900	related to beta-N- acetylhexosaminidase	hypothetical protein	<i>Chitinophaga</i> sp. XS-30 (62% identity)	Periplasmic	84.7	GH20
2842105702	candidate beta- glucanase	beta-glucanase	<i>Dyadobacter soli</i> (70% identity)	Extracellular	32.17	GH16
2842104231	Candidate beta- xylosidase	beta-xylosidase	<i>Cytophagaceae bacterium</i> SAT51 (78.60% identity)	Unknown, non- Cytoplasmic	36.79	GH43
2842108192	Related to alpha-D- xyloside xylohydrolase	alpha-D-xyloside xylohydrolase	<i>Chitinophagaceae</i> <i>bacterium</i> PMP191F (68% identity)	Unknown	81.41	GH31

Supplemental TABLE S3: Predicted Dyadobacter sp. HH091 glycosyl hydrolases involved in microalgae polysaccharides digestion¹.

30% to 70% amino acid identity with a protein domain with a known function resulted in "related to" status; and less than 30% amino acid identity with a protein domain with a known function resulted in "distantly related to" status. Because the threshold of similarity that correlates with a change of substrate specificity is typically, 70% or greater amino acid identity with a protein domain with a biochemically determined function at the time of analysis resulted in "candidate" status; variable from one glycoside hydrolase family to another, the criteria were tightened or loosened appropriately for several families. All analyses were conducted ¹ Predicted functions were assigned by routines used for updating the Carbohydrate Active Enzymes database (http://www.cazy.org/) using the following criteria: domain by domain to avoid problems arising from the modular structure of many of the proteins. ² The Integrated Microbial Genomes (IMG) Product Name.

³ Homologs were identified by a BlastP search with the Swiss-Prot database.

⁴ Localization was predicted using the default settings of PSORTb (Gardy et al., 2005). Predicted lipoproteins were identified using LipoP.

⁵ Predicted molecular mass of the primary product of translation, including any predicted signal peptide.

⁶ CHB_HEX, carbohydrate binding domain represents the N-terminal domain in chitobiases and beta-hexosaminidases. It is composed of a beta sandwich structure that is similar in structure to the cellulose binding domain of cellulase from Cellulomonas fimi. (Tews et al., 1996). GH, glycoside hydrolase as assigned ov CAZY (the numbers indicate families).

Gene ID	Predicted function ¹	IMG Product Name ²	Homologs ³	Predicted localization ⁴	Molecular mass (kDa) ₅	Enzymatic and other domains ⁶
2842104046	Candidate pectin or pectate lyases	polygalacturonase	Chitinophaga niabensis (71% identity)	Unknown, Cytoplasmic	73105.54	PL, PG
2842105135	Related to pectin or pectate lyases	polygalacturonase	Chitinophagaceae bacterium (63% identity)	Extracellular	55711.69	PL, PG, GH28
2842105517	Related to pectin or pectate lyases	polygalacturonase	Flavobacterium reichenbachii (39% identity)	Extracellular	52862.19	PL, PG, GH28
2842107938	Related to pectin or pectate lyases	polygalacturonase	Bacteroides cellulosilyticus (42% identity)	Cytoplasmic	44247.94	PL, PG, GH28
2842108446	Candidate pectin or pectate lyases	polygalacturonase	Cytophagaceae bacterium SJW1-29 (74% identity)	Extracellular	49580.00	PL, PG, GH28
2842105518	Related to pectin or pectate lyases	polygalacturonase	<i>Chitinophagaceae bacterium</i> BR5-29 (38% identity)	Extracellular	55889.57	PI, PG, GH28
2842109095	Related to pectin or pectate lyases	hypothetical protein	Pedobacter sp. OK628 (32% identity)	Extracellular	67179.60	PL, GH28
2842108200	Exo-poly-alpha-D- galacturonosidase	DNA sulfur modification protein DndE	Cytophagales bacterium (60% identity)	Extracellular	85717.11	PL, GH28, GDSL_2
2842108975	Related to Pectin Iyase-like	hypothetical protein	Alcanivorax sp. (42% identity)	Unknown, Non-Cytoplasmic	51861.62	Ы
		and the second				

Supplemental TABLE S4: Predicted Dyadobacter sp. HH091 polysaccharide lyases¹.

¹ Predicted functions as assigned by routines used for updating the Carbohydrate-Active Enzymes database (http://www.cazy.org/CAZY/) using the criteria indicated in Table 1

² Localization predicted using the default settings of PSORTb (Gardy, J. L., et al. 2005. Bioinformatics 21:617-623).

³ Predicted molecular mass of primary product of translation, including any predicted signal peptide.

polysaccharide lyase (number indicates family) as assigned by CAZY. GDSL-like Lipase, (GDSL esterases and lipases are hydrolytic enzymes with multifunctional properties [1]. This new subclass of lipolytic enzymes possesses a distinct GDSL sequence motif different from the GxSxG motif found in many lipases [2]. Members include; Aeromonas hydrophila lipase, Vibrio mimicus arylesterase, Vibrio parahaemolyticus thermolabile haemolysin, rabbit phospholipase (AdRab-B), and ⁴ Modular structure is indicated by abbreviations: GH, glycoside hydrolase as assigned by CAZY (the numbers indicate families) (http://www.cazy.org/CAZY/). PL: Brassica napus anter-specific proline-rich protein.)

Gene ID	Predicted function ¹	IMG Product Name ²	Homologs ³	Predicted localization ⁴	Molecular mass (kDa) ₅	Enzymatic and other domains ⁶
2842104046	Candidate pectin or pectate lyases	polygalacturonase	Chitinophaga niabensis (71% identity)	Unknown, Cytoplasmic	73105.54	PL, PG
2842105135	Related to pectin or pectate lyases	polygalacturonase	Chitinophagaceae bacterium (63% identity)	Extracellular	55711.69	PL, PG, GH28
2842105517	Related to pectin or pectate lyases	polygalacturonase	Flavobacterium reichenbachii (39% identity)	Extracellular	52862.19	PL, PG, GH28
2842107938	Related to pectin or pectate lyases	polygalacturonase	Bacteroides cellulosilyticus (42% identity)	Cytoplasmic	44247.94	PL, PG, GH28
2842108446	Candidate pectin or pectate lyases	polygalacturonase	Cytophagaceae bacterium SJW1-29 (74% identity)	Extracellular	49580.00	PL, PG, GH28
2842105518	Related to pectin or pectate lyases	polygalacturonase	<i>Chitinophagaceae bacterium</i> BR5-29 (38% identity)	Extracellular	55889.57	PI, PG, GH28
2842109095	Related to pectin or pectate lyases	hypothetical protein	Pedobacter sp. OK628 (32% identity)	Extracellular	67179.60	PL, GH28
2842108200	Exo-poly-alpha-D- galacturonosidase	DNA sulfur modification protein DndE	Cytophagales bacterium (60% identity)	Extracellular	85717.11	PL, GH28, GDSL_2
2842108975	Related to Pectin Iyase-like	hypothetical protein	Alcanivorax sp. (42% identity)	Unknown, Non-Cytoplasmic	51861.62	Ы
Decelication from		control for the second	the Octhobiodicto Active Even			inc the cuitorie

Supplemental TABLE S4: Predicted Dyadobacter sp. HH091 polysaccharide lyases¹.

¹ Predicted functions as assigned by routines used for updating the Carbohydrate-Active Enzymes database (http://www.cazy.org/CAZY/) using the criteria indicated in Table 1

² Localization predicted using the default settings of PSORTb (Gardy, J. L., et al. 2005. Bioinformatics 21:617-623).

³ Predicted molecular mass of primary product of translation, including any predicted signal peptide.

polysaccharide lyase (number indicates family) as assigned by CAZY. GDSL-like Lipase, (GDSL esterases and lipases are hydrolytic enzymes with multifunctional properties [1]. This new subclass of lipolytic enzymes possesses a distinct GDSL sequence motif different from the GxSxG motif found in many lipases [2]. Members include; Aeromonas hydrophila lipase, Vibrio mimicus arylesterase, Vibrio parahaemolyticus thermolabile haemolysin, rabbit phospholipase (AdRab-B), and ⁴ Modular structure is indicated by abbreviations: GH, glycoside hydrolase as assigned by CAZY (the numbers indicate families) (http://www.cazy.org/CAZY/). PL: Brassica napus anter-specific proline-rich protein.)

Gene ID	Predicted function ¹	IMG Product Name ²	Homologs ³	Predicted localization ⁴	Molecular mass (kDa) ⁵
2842104000	Related to polysaccharide deacetylase	peptidoglycan/xylan/chitin deacetylase (PgdA/CDA1 family)	Flavobacterium álbum (54% identity)	Cytoplasmic	25806.77
2842105287	Related to polysaccharide deacetylase	peptidoglycan/xylan/chitin deacetylase (PgdA/CDA1 family)	Flavobacteriales bacterium (46.88% identity)	Cytoplasmic	28782.40
2842105600	Related to polysaccharide deacetylase	peptidoglycan/xylan/chitin deacetylase (PgdA/CDA1 family)	Flavobacterium kingsejongi (66.30% identity)	Unknown (This protein may have multiple localization sites.)	31934.59
2842106253	Candidate polysaccharide deacetylase	peptidoglycan/xylan/chitin deacetylase (PgdA/CDA1 family)	<i>Cytophagaceae bacterium</i> SCN 52-12 (61.96% identity)	Unknown	44623.98
2842108758	Related to polysaccharide deacetylase	peptidoglycan/xylan/chitin deacetylase (PgdA/CDA1 family)	<i>Cytophagaceae bacterium</i> SJW1-29 (48.85% identity)	Cytoplasmic	32059.73
2842106071	Candidate polysaccharide deacetylase	Hypothetical protein	<i>Siphonobacter</i> sp. BAB-5404 (62% identity)	Cytoplasmic	30585.36
2842104846	Candidate acetylxylan esterase	cephalosporin-C deacetylase-like acetyl esterase	Cytophagaceae bacterium SJW1-29 (73.49%)	Unknown	48188.31
2842107040	Candidate acetylxylan esterase	hypothetical protein	Cytophagaceae bacterium CAR-16 (64.36%)	Cytoplasmic	42412.16

Supplemental TABLE S5: Predicted Dyadobacter sp. HH091 carbohydrate esterases involved in polysaccharide utilization¹.

30% to 70% amino acid identity with a protein domain with a known function resulted in "related to" status; and less than 30% amino acid identity with a protein domain with a known function resulted in "distantly related to" status. All analyses were conducted domain by domain to avoid problems arising from the modular typically, 70% or greater amino acid identity with a protein domain with a biochemically determined function at the time of analysis resulted in "candidate" status; ¹ Predicted functions were assigned by routines used for updating the Carbohydrate Active Enzymes database (http://www.cazy.org/) using the following criteria: structure of many of the proteins.

² The Integrated Microbial Genomes (IMG) Product Name

³ Homologs were identified by a BlastP search with the Swiss-Prot database.

⁴ Localization was predicted using the default settings of PSORTb (Gardy et al., 2005).

⁵ Predicted molecular mass of the primary product of translation, including any predicted signal peptide.

	Bacteria- exponential	Bacteria- stationery	Eukaryotic- exponential	Eukaryotic- stationery
	pnase	pnase	pnase	pnase
Reads Illumina (filtered)				
Total no.	79,956,806	98,243,390	73,776,383	76,211,700
Average length (bp)	73	74	168	177
Duplicates (%)	79.0	75.9	90.1	86.0
Fails (%)	45	36	18	18
GC (%)	51	56	56	57
Contigs-assembly (CoMW)				
No.	13,259	22,651	39,255	51,222
Total length (bp)	14,577,971	27,842,014	57,814,484	80,131,706
No. ≥ 1000 bp	4,427	8,553	22,528	30,347
N50 size (bp)	1,211	1,453	1,829	1,979
Largest (bp)	16,877	20,249	11,273	16,587
GC (%)	55.67	57.75	56.95	57.24

Supplemental TABLE S6: Overall numbers of sequences and contigs generated for the transcriptome datasets.



Variovorax sp. URHB0020 Variovorax sp. CF313 Variovorax sp. 770b2 OLIS suxobered xerovoineV Variovorax paradoxus EPS Variovorax paradoxus B4 Dyadobacter tibetensis Y620-1 Dyadobacter sp. HH091 * Dyadobacter crusticola DSM 16708 Dyadobacter beijingensis strain CGMCO 1.6375 Dyadobacter alkalitolerans DSM 23607 Porphyrobacter sp. HL-46 Porphyrobacter sp. AAP82 Porphyrobacter sp. AAP60 Porphyrobacter cryptus DSM 12079

> T2SS, T4SS secretin RcpA/CpaC, associated with Flp pilus assembly T2SS, T4SS ATPase TadZ/CpaE, associated with Flp pilus assembly T2SS, T4SS protein TadC, associated with Flp pilus assembly T2SS, T4SS protein TadC, associated with Flp pilus assembly F4SS component, VirD4

T2SS, T4SS ATP hydrolase TadA/VirB11/CpaF, TadA subfamily

T1SS membrane fusion protein, HIyD family

Secretion systems

T1SS

T1SS ATPase, LssB family LapB

[2SS, T4SS

T1SS ATPase

Protein translocase subunit SecA

T5SS

Supplemental TABLE S7: Protein family comparison of possible competitive and plant-bacteria interaction pathways across the dominant members of microbiome (Porphyrobacter, Variovorax and Dyadobacter) of S. quadricauda MZCH 10104. Numbers of proteins are marked with the following colors: 🔳 0, 🗔 1, 🛄 2, and 🥅 3+.

gliding motility-associated ABC transporter ATP-binding protein, GldA Inner membrane protein translocase and chaperone YidC T6SS forkhead associated domain protein, Impl/VasC T6SS protein serine/threonine phosphatase, PppA I6SS-associated peptidoglycan hydrolase, TagX T6SS peptidoglycan-binding component, TagN Protein translocase membrane subunit SecG T6SS Serine/threonine protein kinase, PpkA T6SS baseplate protein J-like component T6SS outer membrane component, TssL Signal recognition particle receptor FtsY T6SS lysozyme-like component, TssE Signal recognition particle protein Ffh T6SS AAA+ chaperone, ClpV (TssH) gliding motility-related protein, GldD gliding motility-related protein, GldB gliding motility-related protein, GldE gliding motility-related protein, GldC T6SS associated component, TagF **[6SS associated component, TagJ** Protein translocase subunit SecDF Protein translocase subunit SecE Protein translocase subunit SecY Protein translocase subunit YajC T6SS secretion lipoprotein, TssJ T6SS component FIG00414986 **T6SS PAAR-repeat protein** T6SS component, TssM T6SS component, TssF T6SS component, TssC T6SS component, TssG **T6SS component, TssB** T6SS component, TssA **F6SS component, TssK** T6SS component, Hcp T6SS T9SS



gliding motility-associated ABC transporter permease protein, GldF gliding motility-associated ABC transporter substrate-binding protein, GldG gliding motility-related protein, GldH gliding motility-related protein, GldN gliding motility-related protein, GldN and/or GldO gliding motility-related protein, SprA gliding motility-related protein, SprB gliding motility-related protein, SprB gliding motility-related protein, SprB gliding motility-related protein, SprB gliding motility-related protein, SprE gliding motility-related protein, SprE

Response and transcriptional regulators

Two-component transcriptional response regulator, LuxR family Acyl-homoserine lactone-binding transcriptional activator, LuxR family Two-component transcriptional response regulator, LuxR family, but with unusual receiver domain Transcriptional regulator, LuxR family

Two-component transcriptional response regulator, NarL/FixJ family

Polysaccharides degradation/modification

GH beta-galactosidase, GH2, GH1, GH35, GH39, GH42 alpha-L-arabinofuranosidase, GH2, GH39, GH62 beta-mannosidase, GH2 beta-glucosidase, GH2, GH1, GH30, GH39 beta-glucosidase, GH2, GH1, GH30, GH39 beta-glycosyl hydrolase, GH3 mannan endo-1,4-beta-mannosidase, GH5, GH26 beta-1,4-glucanase (cellulase), GH9, GH6, GH7, GH8, GH45 endo-1,4-beta-mannosidase, GH30 xylanase, GH11 alpha-amylase, GH10, GH8, GH30 xylanase, GH11 alpha-amylase, GH13 malto-oligosyltrehalose synthase , GH13 Chitinase, GH18, GH19 N-acetyl-beta-hexosaminidase, GH20, GH84 beta-N-acetylglucosaminidase, GH20







RNA polymerase sigma-70 factor

Sigma-70 factor

lvzozvme M1 (1.4-beta-N-acetvlmuramidase). GH25. GH18
alpha-galactosidase, GH31, GH27
cyclic beta-1,2-glucan synthase, GH32, GH16
UDP-N-acetylgalactosaminyltransferase, GH32, GH16
levanase, GH32
beta-glucanase precursor, GH32, GH6, GH7
alpha-1,3-N-acetylgalactosamine transferase, GH32, GH16
N-acetylglucosaminyltransferase, GH32, GH16
alpha-D-GlcNAc alpha-1,2-L-rhamnosyltransferase, GH32, GH16
Endo-beta-1,3-1,4 glucanase, GH32, GH7, GH17, GH26
xylose isomerase, GH43
alpha-L-arabinofuranosidase, GH43, GH39, GH62
arabinan endo-1,5-alpha-L-arabinosidase, GH43
xylan 1,4-beta-xylosidase, GH43, GH1, GH30, GH39
beta-agarase, GH43
dextrin alpha-1,6-maltotetraose-hydrolase, GH48
alpha-L-rhamnosidase, GH78
alpha-L-fucosidase, GH95, GH29
UDP-glucose 6-dehydrogenase, GH4
chitinase, GH18
mannan endo-1,4-beta-mannosidase, GH26
polygalacturonase , pectin lyase, GH28
glycosyl hydrolase, GH30
alpha-glucosidase , GH31, GH4, GH63, GH76
sialidase, GH33
alpha-galactosidase, GH36
maltose phosphorylase, GH65
xylan alpha-1,2-glucuronosidase, GH67
alpha-1,6-mannanase, GH76
glycosyl hydrolase, GH88
alpha-1,2-mannosidase, GH92
glycoside hydrolase family, GH127
4-O-beta-D-mannosyl-D-glucose phosphorylase, GH130
maltodextrin glucosidase, GH4, GH76
xyloglucan-specific endo-beta-1,4-glucanase, GH44
glucoamylase, GH15
glucan 1,4-alpha-glucosidase, GH15

									Ì		
(EC 3.2.1.17)	(EC 2.4.1) (EC 2.4.1) (EC 2.4.1) (EC 3.2.1.65) (EC 3.2.1.73)	(EC 2.4.1) (EC 2.4.1) (EC 2.4.1) (EC 3.2.1.73)	(EC 5.3.1.5) (EC 3.2.1.55)	(EC 3.2.1.37) (EC 3.2.1.81) (EC 3.2.1.196)	(EC 3.2.1.40) (EC 3.2.1.51)	(EC 1.1.1.22)	(EC 3.2.1.15)	(EC 3.2.1.20) (EC 3.2.1.18)		(EC 2.4.1.281) (EC 3.2.1.20)	(EC 3.2.1.151) (EC 3.2.1.3) (EC 3.2.1.3)

trehalase, GH15, GH37 beta-porphyranase, GH16 alpha-galactosidase, GH31 alpha-xylosidase, GH31 1,4-alpha-glucan branching enzyme, GH13 4-alpha-glucanotransferase (amylomaltase), GH57, GH77, GH13 xylan alpha-1,2-glucuronosidase, GH67 alpha-N-acetylglucosaminidase, GH89 Maltose phosphorylase, GH65 4-O-beta-D-mannosyl-D-glucose phosphorylase, GH130

UDP-N-acetylglucosamine--N-acetylmuramyl-(pentapeptide) pyrophosphorylalpha-D-GlcNAc alpha-1,2-L-rhamnosyltransferase, GT1, GT2, GT4, GT5 ipid carrier : UDP-N-acetylgalactosaminyltransferase, GT1, GT2, GT5 JDP-N-acetylglucosamine:L-malate glycosyltransferase, GT41 alpha-1,3-N-acetylgalactosamine transferase PgIA, GT4, GT5 Glycogen synthase, ADP-glucose transglucosylase, GT5 Biofilm PGA synthesis N-glycosyltransferase PgaC, GT2 N-acetylglucosaminyltransferase, GT1, GT2, GT4, GT5 undecaprenol N-acetylglucosamine transferase, GT28 cyclic beta-1,2-glucan synthase, GT2, GT4, GT5 Dolichol-phosphate mannosyltransferase, GT2 1,2-diacylglycerol 3-glucosyltransferase, GT28 rehalose-6-phosphate phosphatase, GT20 Penicillin-insensitive transglycosylase, GT4 a-glycosyltransferase-related protein, GT4 Cyclic beta-1,2-glucan synthase, GT84 -ipid-A-disaccharide synthase, GT19 alpha-1,2-fucosyltransferase, GT11 Similar to glycogen synthase, GT5 Similar to glycogen synthase, GT3 Glycogen phosphorylase, GT35 glycosyltransferase YkoT, GT2 b-glycosyltransferase, GT2 glycosyltransferase, GT1 Cellulose synthase, GT2 Б

l	.2.1.28)	.2.1.178)	.2.1.22)	.2.1.177)	.4.1.18)	.4.1.25)	.2.1.131)	.2.1.50)	.4.1.8)	.4.1.281)
	(EC 3	(EC 3	(EC 3	(EC 3	(EC 2	(EC 2	(EC 3	(EC 3	(EC 2	(EC 2

(EC 2.4.1)	(EC 2.4.1)	(EC 3.1.3.15)	(EC 2.4.1) (EC 2.4.1)	(EC 2.4.1.1) (EC 2.4.2)	(EC 2.4.1.21) (EC 2.4.1.21)	(EC 2.4.1.182 (EC 2.4.1.21)	(EC 2.4.1.227 (EC 2.4)	(EC 2.4.1.157 (EC 2.4.1.12)	(EC 2.4.1) (EC 2.4.1.83)

Multimodular transpeptidase-transglycosylase, GT51 Membrane carboxypeptidase (penicillin-binding protein), GT51

ы С

carbohydrate esterase, CE1 indoleacetamide hydrolase, CE4 polysaccharide deacetylase, CE4

Ч

alginate lyase precursor, PL7 Pectate lyase, PL9

Peptidases

Peptidase M23, membrane proteins related to metalloendopeptidases Peptidase S49, signal peptide peptidase SppA (protease 4) Peptidase M28, leucine aminopeptidase-related protein Pepdidase M14, zinc carboxypeptidase domain protein Peptidase M14, zinc-dependent carboxypeptidase Peptidase S9, prolyl oligopeptidase family protein Peptidase S10, carboxypeptidase-related protein Peptidase M19, Zn-dependent dipeptidase Peptidase S9, dipeptidyl anminopeptidase Peptidase M28, aminopeptidase CC_2544 Peptidase T2, isoaspartyl aminopeptidase Peptidase S9, alanyl dipeptidyl peptidase Peptidase S9, dipeptidyl peptidase IV Peptidase M24, Xaa-Pro dipeptidase Peptidase C82, L,D-transpeptidase Peptidase S26, signal peptidase I Peptidase M16, zinc protease Peptidase M23/M37 Peptidase B M17 Peptidase M16 Peptidase M13 Peptidase M48 Peptidase M20 Peptidase S24



Peptidase S41, C-terminal processing peptidase, tail-specific protease Peptidase M14, N-terminal Zinc-dependent carboxypeptidase Peptidase M1, membrane alanine aminopeptidase N Peptidase M3, oligoendopeptidase F-like protein Peptidase M15, D-alanyl-D-alanine dipeptidase Peptidase M28, glutamate carboxypeptidase II Peptidase M17, cytosol aminopeptidase PepA Peptidase M1, Zn-dependent aminopeptidase Peptidase M14, carboxypeptidase A precursor Peptidase M1, aminopeptidase N-like protein Peptidase M10A/M12B, matrixin/adamalysin Peptidase M20B, tripeptide aminopeptidase Peptidase S8/S53, subtilisin/kexin/sedolisin Peptidase M24B, Xaa-Pro aminopeptidase Peptidase A8, lipoprotein signal peptidase Peptidase S9, X-Pro dipeptidyl-peptidase Peptidase M28, putative aminopeptidase Peptidase M28, putative aminopeptidase Peptidase M1, putative aminopeptidase Peptidase M49, dipeptidyl-peptidase III Peptidase Y M28, aminopeptidase Y Peptidase S9, prolyl endopeptidase Peptidase M28, aminopeptidase Y Peptidase M13, metallopeptidase peptidase M19, renal dipeptidase Peptidase M28, aminopeptidase Peptidase M28, aminopeptidase Peptidase M1, aminopeptidase Peptidase M23/M37 Peptidase M23B Peptidase M13 Peptidase M16 Peptidase M16 Peptidase M28 Peptidase M61 Peptidase C39 Peptidase M1



Peptidase M48, uncharacterized integral membrane endopeptidase Bmul_2226 Peptidase M20, metal-dependent amidase/aminoacylase/carboxypeptidase Peptidase T1, ATP-dependent protease HsIVU (ClpYQ), peptidase subunit Peptidase M56, peptidoglycan D,D-transpeptidase MrdA Peptidase S66, muramoyltetrapeptide carboxypeptidase Peptidase A24, type IV prepilin peptidase TadV/CpaA Peptidase M1, membrane alanine aminopeptidase N Peptidase A24, leader peptidase (Prepilin peptidase) Peptidase C15, pyrrolidone-carboxylate peptidase Peptidase M19, putative periplasmic dipeptidase Peptidase M3, dipeptidyl carboxypeptidase Dcp Peptidase M1, Zn-dependent aminopeptidase Peptidase M20, glutamate carboxypeptidase Peptidase M24, methionine aminopeptidase Peptidase C40, murein-DD-endopeptidase Peptidase S9, dipeptidyl aminopeptidase Peptidase S1 and S6, chymotrypsin/Hap Peptidase S33, proline iminopeptidase Peptidase S58, D-aminopeptidase Peptidase M19, renal dipeptidase Peptidase M48, Ste24p precursor Peptidase M20D, amidohydrolase Peptidase M3, oligopeptidase A Peptidase M1, aminopeptidase Peptidase M20, peptidase Peptidase M20/M25/M40 Peptidase M48, Ste24p Peptidase M23/M37 Peptidase M14 Peptidase M23 Peptidase M50 Peptidase M28 Peptidase M50 Peptidase M20 Peptidase S15 Peptidase S41 Peptidase S9



Peptidase C39, ABC-type bacteriocin/lantibiotic exporters, contain an N-terminal double-Peptidase M23, membrane proteins related to metalloendopeptidases Peptidase M55, D-aminopeptidase dipeptide-binding protein DppA Peptidase S11, D-alanyl-D-alanine carboxypeptidase Peptidase T3, gamma-glutamyltranspeptidase Peptidase C39, bacteriocin resistance protein Peptidase C14, caspase catalytic subunit p20 Peptidase S33, proline iminopeptidase Peptidase S33, proline iminopeptidase Peptidase S01A, lysyl endopeptidase Endonucleases and exonucleases Peptidase C82, L,D-transpeptidase glycine peptidase domain Peptidase M48, Ste24p Peptidase M24

IncQ plasmid conjugative transfer DNA nicking endonuclease TraR Ribonuclease J (endonuclease and 5' exonuclease) Single-stranded-DNA-specific exonuclease RecJ Endonuclease/exonuclease/phosphatase Type III restriction system endonuclease Endonuclease containing a URI domain mRNA 3-end processing exonuclease probable DNA repair exonuclease Type II restriction endonuclease HNH endonuclease Exonuclease SbcC Exonuclease SbcD 3'-5' exonuclease Endonuclease V Endonuclease III endonuclease

CRISPR-associated RecB family exonuclease Cas4

CRISPR-associated endonuclease Cas9

tRNA 3 endonuclease

Endonuclease NmeDIP

DNA repair exonuclease family protein YhaO




Heme synthesis

Uroporphyrinogen-III synthase, HemD Coproporphyrinogen III oxidase, aerobic (EC 1.3.3.3), CPOX, HemF Coproporphyrinogen III oxidase, oxygen-independent Porphobilinogen synthase, HemB GlutamyI-tRNA synthetase, GltX

Protoporphyrinogen IX oxidase, novel form, HemJ Ferrochelatase, protoheme ferro-lyase, HemH Heme A synthase, cytochrome oxidase biogenesis protein, Cox15-CtaA Glutamate-1-semialdehyde 2,1-aminomutase, HemL

Glutamyl-tRNA reductase, HemA

g

6-phosphogluconolactonase dienelactone hydrolase gluconolactonase metal-dependent hydrolase NUDIX hydrolase acyl-homoserine lactone acylase PvdQ (EC 3.5.1.-), quorum-quenching

QS

Zn-dependent hydrolase of the beta-lactamase fold-like protein

N-acyl-L-homoserine lactone synthase, Luxl family Dialkylrecorsinol condensing enzyme, DarA 3-oxoacyl-[acyl-carrier-protein] synthase III, DarB

Vitamins biosynthesis

Thiamine biosynthesis, B1 2-iminoacetate synthase, ThiH Hydroxyethylthiazole kinase Thiamin pyrophosphokinase Thiamine-monophosphate synthase Thiamine-monophosphate kinase Thiazole synthase, ThiGH Phosphomethylpyrimidine synthase, ThiC Sulfur carrier protein, ThiS





Riboflavin/FAD biosynthesis, B2

6,7-dimethyl-8-ribityllumazine synthase, riboflavin synthase beta chain GTP cyclohydrolase II Pyrimidine reducta

Riboflavin synthas FMN adenylyltran

Pantothenate/Co.

Folate biosynthesis, B9 Pyridoxamine 5'-pl 7-keto-8-aminopel 3-oxoacyl-[acyl-ca 3-oxoacyl-[acyl-ca 3-oxoacyl-[acyl-ca Biotin synthase, Bi Biotin-protein ligas Aspartate 1-decarl Pantothenate kina Pyridoxal 5'-phos Pyridoxine 5'-phos 4-hydroxythreonin Adenosylmethionii Dethiobiotin synthe malonyl-CoA O-m beta-hydroxyacyl-(enoyl-[acyl-carrier Ketopantoate redu Dephospho-CoA k Ketopantoate hydi Panthothenate syr Phosphopantethei Phosphoserine an **Biotin biosynthe** 8-amino-7-oxonon

ase, riboliavin piosyntriesis sferase / Riboflavin kinase
se eubacterial/eukaryotic
A biosynthesis, B5
boxylase
uctase
kinase
roxymethyltransferase
nthetase
ase type III, CoaX-like
ine adenylyltransferase
sphate, B6
hosphate oxidase
sphate synthase
ie-4-phosphate dehydrogenase
ninotransferase
sis, B7
ne-8-amino-7-oxononanoate aminotransferase, BioA
etase, BioD
largonate synthetase or related enzyme, BioF
ethyltransferase, BioC
arrier-protein] synthase I, FabB
arrier-protein] synthase II, FabF
arrier protein] reductase, FabG
(acyl-carrier-protein) dehydratase, FabZ
· protein] reductase I, Fabl
ioB
se. BirA2
nanoate synthase



(EC 1.1.1.262) (EC 2.6.1.52) (EC 2.6.99.2) (EC 1.4.3.5)





2-amino-4-hydroxy-6-hydroxymethyldihydropteridine pyrophosphokinase

Dihydroneopterin aldolase

Dihydrofolate reductase

Dihydropteridine reductase
FMN reductase (NADPH)
Cobalamine/B12 biosynthesis
Cobalamin synthase, CobS
alpha ribazole-5'-P phosphatase in cobalamin synthesis, CobC
nicotinate-nucleotide dimethylbenzimidazole-P phophoribosyl transferase, CobT
adenosylcobinamide kinase/adenosylcobinamide-phosphate guanylyltransferase, CobU
synthesis of vitamin B12 adenosyl cobalamide precursor, CobD

cob(I)alamin and cobinamide adenolsyltransferase, BtuR, CobA, CobO

Aerobic cobaltochelatase, CobN

precorrin-2 dehydrogenase / sirohydrochlorin ferrochelatase, CysG synthesis of vitamin B12 adenosyl cobalamide precursor, CbiP precorrin-8X/cobalt-precorrin-8 methylmutase, CbiC, CobH precorrin-4/cobalt-precorrin-4 C11-methyltransferase, CbiF cobalt-precorrin-6B (C15)-methyltransferase, CbiT, CobL cobalt-precorrin-5B (C1)-methyltransferase, CbiD cobyrinic acid a, c-diamide synthase, CbiA, CobB cobalt-precorrin-3 C(17)-methyltransferase, CbiH cobalt-precorrin-7 (C5)-methyltransferase, CbiE cobyrinic acid a, c-diamide synthase, CobB sirohydrochlorin cobaltochelatase, CbiK cobalt-precorrin 5A hydrolase, CbiG Aerobic cobaltochelatase, CobS Aerobic cobaltochelatase, CobT

Histidine biosynthesis

precorrin-2/cobalt-factor-2 C20-methyltransferase, CbiL

Phosphoribosylformimino-5-aminoimidazole carboxamide ribotide isomerase, HisA Imidazole glycerol phosphate synthase amidotransferase, HisH ATP phosphoribosyltransferase regulatory subunit, HisG Phosphoribosyl-ATP pyrophosphatase, Hisl2 Ribose-phosphate pyrophosphokinase, PrsA Phosphoribosyl-AMP cyclohydrolase, Hisl1 ATP phosphoribosyltransferase, HisGs ATP phosphoribosyltransferase, HisGI Hydrolase, HAD superfamily

(EC 2.7.8.26)

(EC 6.6.1.2) 6.3.5.9,11) ы

(EC 6.6.1.2) (EC 6.6.1.2)





Histidinol dehydrogenase, HisD Histidinol-phosphatase, HisB1

Bacteriochlorophyll synthesis and phototropic activity

-ight-independent protochlorophyllide reductase iron-sulfur ATP-binding protein, ChlL Protein BchJ, involved in reduction of C-8 vinyl of divinyl protochlorophyllide Protein BchJ, involved in reduction of C-8 vinyl of divinyl protochlorophyllide 2-desacetyl-2-hydroxyethyl bacteriochlorophyllide A dehydrogenase, BchC Mg-protoporphyrin IX monomethyl ester oxidative cyclase (anaerobic) Mg protoporphyrin IX monomethyl ester oxidative cyclase (aerobic) Light-independent protochlorophyllide reductase subunit B Light-independent protochlorophyllide reductase subunit N Photosynthetic complex assembly protein RPC_1320 Divinyl protochlorophyllide a 8-vinyl-reductase 2-vinyl bacteriochlorophyllide hydratase, BchF Photosynthetic reaction center M subunit Photosynthetic reaction center H subunit Photosynthetic reaction center L subunit Chlorophyllide reductase subunit, BchX Chlorophyllide reductase subunit, BchY Chlorophyllide reductase subunit, BchZ Light-harvesting LHI, alpha subunit Bacteriochlorophyll synthase

Phenylalanine, tyrosine and tryptophane biosynthesis

2-keto-3-deoxy-D-arabino-heptulosonate-7-phosphate synthase I alpha, AroGA 2-keto-3-deoxy-D-arabino-heptulosonate-7-phosphate synthase I beta, AroG1

3-dehydroquinate synthase, AroB 3-dehydroquinate dehydratase, AroD

Shikimate 5-dehydrogenase I alpha, AroE

Shikimate kinase I, AroK

3-phosphoshikimate 1-carboxyvinyltransferase, AroA

Chorismate synthase, AroC

Chorismate mutase, PheA

Prephenate dehydratase, PheA2

Cyclohexadienyl dehydrogenase, TyrC





Prephenate and/or arogenate dehydrogenase, TyrA Para-aminobenzoate synthase, TrpE Anthranilate phosphoribosyltransferase, TrpD Phosphoribosylanthranilate isomerase, TrpF Indole-3-glycerol phosphate synthase, TrpC Tryptophan synthase alpha chain, TrpA Tryptophan synthase beta chain, TrpB

Cysteine and methionine biosynthesis

serine acetyltransferase cysteine synthase cystathionine gamma-lyase cystathionine beta-synthase cystathionine beta-synthase Sadenosylhomocysteine nucleosidase SAM-dependent methyltransferase Sadenosylmethionine synthetase homoserine O-acetyltransferase homoserine dehydrogenase O-succinylhomoserine sulfhydrylase aspartate-semialdehyde dehydrogenase 5-methyltetrahydrofolate--homocysteine methyltransferase

Indole-3-acetic acid biosynthesis

5-methyltetrahydropteroyltriglutamate--homocysteine methyltransferase

indolepyruvate ferredoxin oxidoreductase indoleacetamide hydrolase , lamA, lamB nitrilase, NitA cobalt-containing nitrile hydratase tryptophan 2-monooxygenase, laaM

ROS tolerance

Superoxide dismutase [Cu-Zn] precursor Superoxide dismutase [Fe] Superoxide dismutase [Mn] Rhodanese-related sulfurtransferase Catalase-peroxidase



(EC 2.3.1.30) (EC 2.5.1.47) (EC 4.4.1.1) (EC 4.2.1.22) (EC 3.2.2.9)	(EC 2.5.1.6) (EC 2.3.1.31) (EC 1.1.1.3) (EC 1.1.1.3) (EC 1.2.1.11) (EC 2.5.1.48) (EC 2.2.1.11) (EC 2.7.2.4) (EC 2.1.1.13)

-	1,7)	84)	
C 3.5.1.	C 3.5.5.	C 4.2.1.	



NTP pyrophosphohydrolases including oxidative damage repair enzymes

Cell wall-associated hydrolases (invasion-associated proteins)

Leucine-rich repeat proteins



9.2 Interplay between the microalga *Micrasterias radians* and its symbiont *Dyadobacter* sp. HH091

All supplemental tables can be accessed online via <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2022.1006609</u>

Supplemental TABLE S1: Overall numbers of sequences generated for the transcriptome datasets.

Reads Illumina (filtered)

Total no.	43,164,382
Average length (bp)	151
Duplicates (%)	65.8
GC (%)	46

1

TABLE S3: Predicted gene clusters for flexirubin biosynthesis in *Dyadobacter* sp. HH091. Domain guided annotation is based on conserved domains detected by STRING analysis of *Dyadobacter* sp. HH091 primary sequences against the genome of *Flavobacterium* spp (IMG 2511231122, IMG 644736369).

Gene ID	Gene Product Name	Pfam/Families	Gene	Organism	Identity (%)	AA Length
2842105285	3-hydroxyacyl-[acyl-carrier- protein] dehydratase	pfam07977-FabA; COG0764===3- hydroxymyristoyl/3-hydroxydecanoyl- (acyl carrier protein) dehydratase	FCOL_11760, FabA/FabZ	Flavobacterium columnare (strain ATCC 49512 / CIP 103533 / TG 44/87)	36	119
2842105287	peptidoglycan/xylan/chitin deacetylase (PgdA/CDA1 family), flxP	pfam01522 - Polysacc_deac_1; COG0726 - Peptidoglycan/xylan/chitin deacetylase, PgdA/CDA1 family	Fjoh_1086, flxP	Flavobacterium johnsoniae UW101	31	256
2842105288	hypothetical protein	pfam13723 – Ketoacyl-synt_2	Fjoh_1087	Flavobacterium johnsoniae UW101	31	321
2842105289	3-oxoacyl-[acyl-carrier- protein] synthase-1	pfam02801===Ketoacyl- synt_C<<>>pfam00109===ketoacyl- synt; COG0304===3-oxoacyl-(acyl- carrier-protein) synthase	Fjoh_1088	Flavobacterium johnsoniae UW101	52	393
2842105291	acyl carrier protein	pfam00550===PP-binding; COG0236===Acyl carrier protein	Fjoh_1089	Flavobacterium johnsoniae UW101	57	85
2842105292	hypothetical protein		Fjoh_1090	Flavobacterium johnsoniae UW101	31	204
2842105293	3-oxoacyl-[acyl-carrier- protein] synthase-1	pfam00109===ketoacyl- synt<<>>pfam02801===Ketoacyl- synt_C; COG0304==3-oxoacyl- (acyl-carrier-protein) synthase	Fjoh_1093	Flavobacterium johnsoniae UW101	96 6	358
2842105294	acyl-CoA thioester hydrolase	pfam13279===4HBT_2; COG0824===Acyl-CoA thioesterase FadM	Fjoh_1094	Flavobacterium johnsoniae UW101	40	139
2842105295	predicted hotdog family 3- hydroxylacyl-ACP dehydratase	COG4706===Predicted 3- hydroxylacyl-ACP dehydratase, HotDog domain	Fjoh_1101	Flavobacterium johnsoniae UW101	28	138

288	88	141	406	243	509	1277	509	410	355
39	47	36	64	65	52	28	44	47	34
Flavobacterium johnsoniae UW101	Flavobacterium johnsoniae UW101	Flavobacterium johnsoniae UW101	Flavobacterium johnsoniae UW101	Flavobacterium johnsoniae UW101	Flavobacterium johnsoniae UW101	Flavobacterium johnsoniae UW101	Flavobacterium johnsoniae UW101	Flavobacterium johnsoniae UW101	Flavobacterium johnsoniae UW101
Fjoh_1104	Fjoh_1105	Fjoh_0270	Fjoh_1106	Fjoh_1107, flxB	Fjoh_1109, flxA	Fjoh_1078, flxU	Fjoh_1077, flxV	Fjoh_1110, flxK	Fjoh_1087
pfam03279===Lip_A_acyltrans; COG4261===Predicted acyltransferase, LPLAT superfamily	pfam00550===PP-binding; COG0236===Acyl carrier protein	pfam01641===SeIR; COG0229===Peptide methionine sulfoxide reductase MsrB	pfam00109===ketoacyl- synt<<>>pfam02801===Ketoacyl- synt_C; COG0304===3-oxoacyl- (acyl-carrier-protein) synthase	pfam13561===adh_short_C2; COG1028===NAD(P)-dependent dehydrogenase, short-chain alcohol dehydrogenase family	pfam00221===Lyase_aromatic; COG2986===Histidine ammonia- lyase	pfam03176===MMPL<<>>pfam1384 7===Methyltransf_31<<>>pfam01553 ===Acyltransferase; COG0204===1- acyl-sn-glycerol-3-phosphate acyltransferase<<>>COG4258===Pr edicted exporter	pfam13450===NAD_binding_8; COG1233===Phytoene dehydrogenase-related protein	pfam01494===FAD_binding_3; COG0644===Dehydrogenase (flavoprotein)	pfam13723===Ketoacyl-synt_2; COG0304===3-oxoacyl-(acyl-carrier- protein) synthase
predicted LPLAT superfamily acyltransferase	acyl carrier protein	methionine-R-sulfoxide reductase	3-oxoacyl-[acyl-carrier- protein] synthase-1	3-oxoacyl-[acyl-carrier protein] reductase (short- chain dehydrogenase); flxB	histidine ammonia-lyase; flxA	1-acyl-sn-glycerol-3- phosphate acyltransferase; flxU	all-trans-retinol 13,14- reductase; flxV	flavin-dependent dehydrogenase; flxK	3-oxoacyl-(acyl-carrier- protein) synthase
2842105296	2842105297	2842105299	2842105302	2842105303	2842105304	2842105305	2842105306	2842105307	2842105308

399	88	425	249	343	132	380	303	
45	48	32	52	48	53	50	39	
Flavobacterium johnsoniae UW101	Flavobacterium johnsoniae UW101	Flavobacterium johnsoniae UW101	Flavobacterium johnsoniae UW101	Flavobacterium johnsoniae UW101	Flavobacterium johnsoniae UW101	Flavobacterium johnsoniae UW101	Flavobacterium johnsoniae UW101	Flavobacterium johnsoniae UW101
Fjoh_1088	Fjoh_1089	Fjoh_1095, darJ	Fjoh_1096, darl	Fjoh_1097, darH	Fjoh_1098	darB	darA	fabZ
pfam02801===Ketoacyl- synt_C<<>>pfam00109===ketoacyl- synt; COG0304===3-oxoacyl-(acyl- carrier-protein) synthase	pfam00550===PP-binding; COG0236===Acyl carrier protein	pfam12698===ABC2_membrane_3; COG0842===ABC-type multidrug transport system, permease component	pfam00005===ABC_tran; COG1131===ABC-type multidrug transport system, ATPase component	pfam16169===DUF4872<<>>pfam14 399===BtrH_N		pfam08541===ACP_syn_III_C; COG0332===3-oxoacyl-[acyl-carrier- protein] synthase III		pfam03331 - LpxC pfam07977 – FabA; COG0774 - UDP- 3-O-acyl-N-acetylglucosamine deacetylase COG0764 - 3-hydroxymyristoyl/3- hydroxydecanoyl-(acyl carrier protein) dehydratase
3-oxoacyl-(acyl-carrier- protein) synthase	acyl carrier protein	ABC-2 type transport system permease protein; darJ	ABC-2 type transport system ATP-binding protein; darl	hypothetical protein (BtrH); darH	hypothetical protein	3-oxoacyl-[acyl-carrier- protein] synthase-3; darB	hypothetical protein; darA	UDP-3-O-[3- hydroxymyristoyl] N- acetylglucosamine deacetylase/3-hydroxyacyl- [acyl-carrier-protein] dehydratase; FabZ
2842105340	2842105341	2842105342	2842105343	2842105344	2842105345	2842105346	2842105347	2842108407

TABLE S4: Predicted components of the type IX protein secretion system (T9SS) in *Dyadobacter* sp. HH091. Domain guided annotation is based on conserved domains detected by STRING analysis of *Dyadobacter* sp. HH091 primary sequences against the genome of *Flavobacterium* spp (IMG 644736369, IMG 640753027, IMG 2731957834).

	Gene Product Name	Pfam/Families	Gene	Organism	Identity (%)	AA Length
GldA; G associa transpo protein	iliding motility- ted ABC rter ATP-binding	TIGR03522;	Fjoh_1516, GldA	Flavobacterium johnsoniae UW101	62	235
GIdB; assoc	gliding motility- iated protein	TIGR03514	Fjoh_1793, GldB	Flavobacterium johnsoniae UW101	27	347
GIdC; assoc	gliding motility- iated protein	TIGR03515; pfam19937 - GldC-like	Fjoh_1794, GldC	Flavobacterium johnsoniae UW101	42	113
GldD; assoc	gliding motility- siated protein	TIGR03512	Fjoh_1540, GldD	Flavobacterium johnsoniae UW101	36	198
GIdE asso	; gliding motility- ciated protein	TIGR03520;	Fjoh_1539, GIdE	Flavobacterium johnsoniae UW101	36	443
GIdF assc trans prote	:; Gliding motility- iciated ABC sporter permease	pfam12679 - ABC2_membrane_2	Fjoh_2722, GldF	Flavobacterium johnsoniae UW101	49	242
Gld(puta subs com	3; gliding-associated tive ABC transporter strate-binding ponent	TIGR03521;	Fjoh_2721, GldG	Flavobacterium johnsoniae UW101	35	552
GldF asso	H; gliding motility- ociated lipoprotein	TIGR03511; pfam14109 - GldH_lipo	Fjoh_0890, GldH	Flavobacterium johnsoniae UW101	25	161
Gldl asso	; gliding motility- ociated protein	pfam00254 - FKBP_C	Fjoh_2369, Gldl	Flavobacterium johnsoniae UW101	24	256
Gld, asse	J; gliding motility- ociated protein	TIGR03530; pfam03781 - FGE-sulfatase	Fjoh_1557, GldJ	Flavobacterium johnsoniae UW101	42	417
Gld	<; gliding motility- ociated lipoprotein	TIGR03529; pfam03781 - FGE-sulfatase	Fjoh_1853, GldK	Flavobacterium johnsoniae UW101	35.2	357
Gldl asse	-; gliding motility- ociated protein	TIGR03513	Fjoh_1854, GldL	Flavobacterium johnsoniae UW101	35.2	270
Gldl asse	M; gliding motility- ociated protein	TIGR03517;	Fjoh_1855; GldM	Flavobacterium johnsoniae UW101	23	530
Gld ass	N; gliding motility ociated protein	TIGR03523; pfam19841 – GldN	Fjoh_1856; GldN	Flavobacterium johnsoniae UW101	41	342
type Porl	IX secretion system 2/SprF family nbrane protein	TIGR03519;	FP0017; PorP/SprF	Flavobacterium psychrophilum (strain ATCC 49511 / DSM 21280 / CIP 103535 / JIP02/86)	23	342
type PorF men	IX secretion system 2/SprF family hbrane protein	TIGR03519;	FP0017; PorP/SprF	Flavobacterium psychrophilum (strain ATCC 49511 / DSM 21280 / CIP 103535 / JIP02/86)	19	336

2842108613	SprB	TIGR04131;	FP0016, sprB	Flavobacterium psychrophilum (strain ATCC 49511 / DSM 21280 / CIP 103535 / JIP02/86)	35	683
2842109195	SprB	TIGR04131; pfam13585 - CHU_C; pfam18911 - PKD_4	FP0016, sprB	Flavobacterium psychrophilum (strain ATCC 49511 / DSM 21280 / CIP 103535 / JIP02/86)	34	961
2842106852	RemA	TIGR04183; pfam19081; lg-like domain CHU_C associated; pfam18962 Secretion system C-terminal sorting domain	RCH33_2786; remA	Flavobacterium daejeonense RCH33		1369
2842105604	SprE; tetratricopeptide (TPR) repeat protein	COG0457 - Tetratricopeptide (TPR) repeat; pfam13174 - TPR_6	Fjoh_1051; sprE	Flavobacterium johnsoniae UW101	23	726
2842106491	SprA; cell surface protein	TIGR04189; pfam14349 - SprA_N	FP2121, sprA	Flavobacterium psychrophilum (strain ATCC 49511 / DSM 21280 / CIP 103535 / JIP02/86)	32	2408
2842106773	PorU	pfam01364 - Peptidase_C25	FP1388, porU	Flavobacterium psychrophilum (strain ATCC 49511 / DSM 21280 / CIP 103535 / JIP02/86)	26	1129
2842106772	PorV	pfam19572 - PorV	Fjoh_1555; porV	Flavobacterium johnsoniae UW101	33	385

10 ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

"Cuando una persona desea realmente algo, el Universo entero conspira para que pueda realizar su sueño. "— Paulo Coelho, El alquimista

"And, when you want something, all the universe conspires in helping you to achieve it. "— Paulo Coelho, The Alchemist

"Wenn deine Entschlossenheit stark genug ist, wird sich das Universum verschwören, um deinen Traum Wirklichkeit werden zu lassen. "— Paulo Coelho, Der Alchimist

"Когда человек действительно хочет чего-то, вся Вселенная вступает в сговор, чтобы помочь этому человеку осуществить свою мечту. "— Пауло Коэльо, Алхимик



Yekaterina Astafyeva

Hamburg 2023